
Executive Committee Meeting of the 
UWF Foundation, Inc. Board of Directors 

November 16, 2021 from 3:30 to 5:00 p.m. 
UWF Historic Trust - Bowden Building Large Classroom 

Hybrid meeting - Zoom link provided 
Agenda 

 
 

I. Opening Remarks / Announcements    Jason Crawford 
 

II. Officer Reports 
a. Call to order / Agenda     Jason Crawford 
b. Roll Call / Quorum / Approval of Minutes*   Megan Fry 

 
III. Information Reports 

a. Advancement Report     Vice President Howard Reddy 
b. CFO Report       CFO Daniel Lucas  

 
IV. Committee Reports 

a. Investment       James Hosman 
i. Performance Report 

ii. Statement Policy & Investment Objectives Review*  
iii. Endowment Allocations & Admin Fees Policy Review* 

o Spending Allocation Rate Review* 
iv. Earnings and Expenses Comparison 
v. Other Investment Assets 

vi. Subcommittee Updates 
vii. Committee Actions, if any* 

b. Audit / Budget      Rodney Sutton 
i. Budget and Financial Reports 

ii. Audit Update 
iii. Annual Internal Controls & Fraud Responsibilities Review 
iv. Committee Actions, if any* 

c. Nominating       Gail Dorsey 
i. Board Assessment Document Review 

ii. Board Appointment/Reappointments for 2022-23 
iii. Committee Actions, if any* 

      
V. Other Business       Jason Crawford 

a. Corporate Resolution for PIMCO Short-term Fund* 
b. UWF Upcoming Events / Calendar 

    
VI. Closing remarks from the Chair     Jason Crawford 

 
VII. Adjourn 

 
* Denotes possible action items. RSVP to Geri Battist, gbattist@uwf.edu or the calendar invitation. 

mailto:gbattist@uwf.edu
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UWF FOUNDATION, INC. 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING 

Zoom Meeting  
August 31, 2021 @ 3:30 p.m.  

 
Board Members Present: Chair Jason Crawford, Dick Baker, Gail Dorsey, Megan Fry, James 
Hosman, Nicole Stacey and Rodney Sutton  
 
Board Members Absent: President Saunders 
Staff Present: Howard Reddy, Dan Lucas, E. Jan Butts, Claire Stewart, Mikey LeFevre, Geri Battist 
 
This meeting was conducted electronically via Zoom pursuant to Executive Orders 20-52 and 20-
69 signed by Governor DeSantis and the guidance provided by legal counsel. Based on our current 
knowledge of the COVID-19 pandemic and prudent precautions, the meeting was conducted in a 
way to provide maximum amount of protection to our board members, staff, and the public. 
Public access to this meeting was available by contacting Geri Battist (gbattist@uwf.edu) (850) 
474-3306 to request the Zoom link. 
 
Call to Order: Board Chair Jason Crawford called the meeting to order at 3:31 p.m. Due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the meeting was conducted via Zoom. Chair Crawford was excited to get 
things going again and the board is already making great strides. Chair Crawford recognized John 
Gormley for serving two years as the Foundation Board of Directors Secretary. He then welcomed 
and recognized Board Director Megan Fry who will now be serving in the secretary officer 
position. Secretary Fry directed staff to confirm virtual attendance and that a virtual quorum was 
present.   
 
Minutes: Secretary Fry called for Chair Crawford to make the motion to verify that the committee 
members had reviewed the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, May 20, 2021, and that no 
changes were required. The motion was moved by Chair Crawford. Committee member Dick 
Baker made the motion to accept the minutes as presented; the motion was seconded by 
committee member James Hosman; hearing no objections or changes needed, the motion 
carried with all voting in favor. 
 
University Update: President Martha Saunders was not present to provide University updates 
and highlights as she was attending the Board of Governors Session at Florida International 
University in Miami. The president announced today a partnership between the University of 
West Florida and Miami Dade College that aims to expand cybersecurity workforce development 
in Florida, signing a memorandum of understanding on Tuesday, Aug. 31, 2021, at MDC Wolfson 
Campus in downtown Miami. 
 
Advancement Report: Vice President Howard Reddy provided University Advancement 
highlights: 
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• A quick recap of how we closed FY21 total gifts received: $5,301,877, which includes new 
cash gifts, new pledges and planned gifts. We received 58 new major gifts ($10,000 and 
up). 

• The highest number of Alumni donors in UWF history at 5.25%; Voluntary Support of 
Education reporting help put this number in context by providing where UWF stands with 
other in-state peer institutions: University of North Florida – 2%, Florida Gulf Coast 
University – 1.5%, Florida Atlantic University – 3.3%, FIU – 4.2%, University of Central 
Florida – 5.8%, University of Florida – 10.8%, Florida State University – 13.3%. 
Reaching the 5.25% puts UWF in the top tier among similar out-of-state institutions: 
University of West Georgia– 1.2%, Valdosta State University – 1.8%, East Tennessee State 
University – 3.0% and Georgia Southern University – 1.6%. We are an aspirant for many 
of our out-of-state peers as they look at what we were able to achieve with our alumni 
giving. The results were due to the ingenuity and innovation of our small but mighty team 
that made this engagement happen, different strategies and tactics used during the 
pandemic year.  

• Total Annual Fund FY21: $1,906,112, which represents 7,894 gifts, up 1,480 from FY20. 
• Accomplished 100% Board giving 
• FY22 year-to-date total gifts received which includes new cash gifts, new pledges and 

planned gifts: $1,237,904. For the Annual Fund FY22 YTD, we are trailing slightly behind 
where we were last year by about $5,000. 

• New major gifts received: $814,000 came in from the Marion B. Totten Trust to the UWF 
Historic Trust; a big thank you to Rodney Sutton and his family for committing $75,000 to 
the Athletics Sports Medicine Center; $50,000 commitment from Fiesta Five Flags 
Foundation to UWF Historic Trust; $40,000 gift from Dr. Bill Pickens, a long term supporter 
of the College of Education and Professional Studies; $25,000 gift from Florida Board of 
Governors Helios Education Foundation to support first-generation scholarships;   
$25,000 from The Chemours Company to support CEDB; and $10,000 from Escambia 
Community Clinics to support Achieve Healthy Escarosa. 

• Faculty & Staff Goal – Last year, we did not make the goal of 50% faculty and staff giving 
participation; we will continue with that same goal of 50% for this year. 

• We increased our Nautilus Level goals from 350 for last year to 370 for this year. 
• New Major Gifts goal: raised the goal from 25 for last year to 30 for this year. 
• Foundation Board Giving YTD: 61% - we will keep working on that to try to reach 100% 

before the full board meeting on Wednesday, Sept. 15, 2021. Major gifts officers are 
working with their board member assignments to achieve this goal. 

 
Comment from Chair Crawford – Chair Crawford shared a document he received from Brett Berg 
containing a list of Athletics naming opportunities for the Darrell Gooden Center. He encouraged 
the board to think about some companies and organizations that would be a good fit for the 
different giving levels and naming opportunities to get their names on offices and spaces.  
 
CFO Report: Chief Financial Officer Dan Lucas provided a brief update on Moody’s annual 
surveillance of the University’s credit rating. The Moody’s surveillance call included many of the 
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University’s administration, finance and housing staff. Moody’s did reaffirm our issue rating. We 
still have some continued work on that rating until the end of the year with additional aspirants, 
internal disclosures and work with the department of bond finance. The Foundation also worked 
hard to get some HEERF Funds of $1.8M for Housing. The Foundation continues to work through 
our annual external audit.  A recent press release informed the public of the embezzlement at 
USF’s Medical Foundation; therefore, all Florida State of the University Direct Support 
Organizations (DSO’s) will receive an extra internal control audit in the spring at our cost. We do 
not expect any issues with this audit and it is just another audit we will need to complete. We 
continued to work through the investment advisor RFP by holding a subcommittee meeting this 
last month. Another meeting will be scheduled in the next month to continue the process 
towards developing the RFP, the attributes list, and firms we may want to consider looking at 
that fit our criteria. 
 
Committee Reports: 
 
Investment Committee and Foundation Student Fellow Update:  
Investment committee chair James Hosman provided an update from the investment 
committee. The Foundation investment pool as of Wednesday, June 30, 2021, is $122,325,145, 
an all-time high for us. We are above that now into the next quarter.  At the beginning of the 
fiscal year, we just barely crept over the $100M and now we are over the $122M threshold, a 
significant increase.  We remain within policy range within all our different asset categories. We 
are close to the bottom range on fixed assets with 10.64%, and we have a policy range on that 
between 10 and 25%. The Foundation may want to either adjust policy soon, or potentially 
increase allocation to get that up above should we decide it is necessary. Page 39 of the Second 
Quarter Financial Report contains our performance comparison portfolio against several 
different time frames: Qtr. to date, YTD, 1 year, 3 years, 5 years and 10 years.  
 
The Investment Committee welcomed two new members to the committee: Kathy Sandstrom, 
a new board member, who has an investment background and will be a great addition to the 
committee; and, current board member John Peacock has moved over from the Audit Budget 
Committee. The committee also welcomed two new Student Foundation Fellows to the 
program: Arturo Bello and Hunter Hill. James Hosman thanked Dan Lucas and Dr. Scott Krieger 
for their help to get us to the point where we could interview finalists and select the two new 
student fellows. Dan will be working a lot with Hunter and Arturo as we move forward. James 
Hosman is assigned as Arturo Bello’s Executive Mentor through the College of Business 
Mentor/Mentee Program. The committee also had some discussions revolving around the 
markets. Highpoints: Growth outperformed Value, Small and Large Cap Stocks were the leading 
areas in our portfolio; both generated over 44% returns over the past 12 months, which is a 
large contributor to the increase that we’ve seen in our portfolio. Small- and large-cap equities 
have really been a big benefit for us.   
 
An update was provided to the committee on the RFP subcommittee search for a new 
Investment Advisor. The committee agreed that it is beneficial for us to look and see what 
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other options are out there. The subcommittee completed a SWOT analysis to determine the 
important attributes to the board - what we would like to see in an investment advisor. The 
NACUBO Study is another resource to consider for firms serving peer institutions. We are on 
track to get the RFP out by the end of the year, get the bids in, review and evaluate the bids, 
and then make a board decision by the June board meeting at the end of the fiscal year. 
The Investment Committee did not have any action items to vote on at this meeting, other than 
the approval of the minutes. This concludes the Chair’s report for Investment Committee. 
 
Audit/Budget Committee: Chair Rodney Sutton provided a brief update from the Audit Budget 
Committee meeting.  The committee had a lot of good news, discussion and no actionable items. 
The committee received a presentation from Saltmarsh, Cleaveland & Gund on the Audit that is 
currently being drafted. There are some minor changes from last year that they reviewed with 
regards to recategorizing assets, how insurance will be looked at and such. We expect the draft 
to come out soon, however, the timing will be tight before the full board meeting on Wednesday, 
Sept. 15, 2021. The committee is hoping to review and send any questions to Dan prior to the full 
board meeting. Saltmarsh auditors will present the Audited Draft Financials at the next board 
meeting.  

Housing: 1,455 beds (99%) occupied in Housing versus 80% last year. We have recovered in terms 
of occupancy from the pandemic. Director Leigh Prouty provided an overview of Summer 2021 
occupancy improved over last year. Currently, there are only two students who reported positive 
with COVID-19 and are in isolation off campus. Overall great numbers in occupancy for Fall 2021, 
therefore, we are reporting to be a “revenue-maker” at the start of this fiscal year. Chair Sutton 
mentioned the $1.8M in HEERF federal funds identified by UWF Foundation Assistant Director 
Candice Lane (other eligible income). Chair Sutton asked Dan to provide a better explanation of 
how these funds were obtained. Dan Lucas explained that Foundation and Housing determined 
eligibility for HEERF Funds for lost revenue, and by using variance analysis from prior years, the 
Foundation was able to make a case. We had all-time high contracts prior to COVID-19 where 
contractors reached out to us and said that they were canceling due to COVID-19, thus providing 
documentation to show that we had canceled contracts that were in place, and with proper 
analysis, we were able to determine $1.8M eligible in funds. This documentation was presented 
to the University CFO, and then to the President for approval. The auditors also spent a lot of 
time working on it, all within the last three weeks. Candice was very instrumental in calculating 
it multiple ways and working with Housing to get the documentation for the numbers to present 
to the auditors. She has an auditing background experience and was able to do this duty for the 
Foundation.  As a result, Housing received $1.8M to shore up our reserves. 

To review our status over the last three years regarding reserve funds, in 2018, we were at about 
$6.1M reserves, then dipped down to $4.8M (2019) and $5.4M (2020). We are now back in the 
$6M range again in our reserves this year in part due to the $1.8M funds from the federal 
government, but also in part due to an insurance settlement for Hurricane Sally housing damages 
that is going to notice about $1.1M. All good news on this end, and we are rolling into the fall 
feeling good about our standings. 
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Other Business:  
 
ACTION ITEM: Corporate Resolutions Truist Bank and Charles Schwab Bank 
The Foundation requested permission from the Foundation Board to open two corporate 
accounts to move donor estate funds, one with Truist Bank and one with Charles Schwab Bank. 
The chair asked for a motion to open the two accounts. Rodney Sutton made the motion and 
James Hosman seconded the motion. With no opposition, the motion carried all in favor. 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
Sept. 4 – First away football game is still scheduled against McNeese State University at Lake 
Charles, Louisiana despite the impact from Hurricane Ida. 
Sept. 11 – First home football game at Pen Air Field. 
Sept. 25 – UWF football vs University of Fort Lauderdale at 6 p.m. at the Blue Wahoos stadium. 
Sept. 30 – State of the University Address with President Saunders in the Mainstage Theatre at 
the Center for Fine and Performing Arts.  
Oct. 15 – Alumni Homecoming breakfast at the Pensacola Museum of Art and will be accepting 
Argo Pantry donations. 
Oct. 16 – Alumni Homecoming football tailgate from 3 to 5:30 p.m. at Maritime Park outside the 
Blue Wahoos Stadium. 
 
Chair Crawford sees two themes for the Foundation Board during this fiscal year: Fundraising for 
the Darrell Gooden Center and Investment Advisor Search. He asked the board to be thinking of 
ways to be impactful with regards to the fundraising between now and the end of the year. The 
RFP Subcommittee and Investment Committee will be addressing the Investment Advisor Search 
to bring the finalists before the board for determination by end of the fiscal year, June 2022. In 
closing, the chair asked for feedback from the Executive Committee members regarding 
engagement, fundraising, or anything else for the good of the order, as we approach the 
Wednesday, Sept. 15, 2021, full board meeting. 
 
Comment 1 – Great idea to match board members up with major gift officers. A recent coffee 
meeting with Development Officer produced a solidification of a connection the member has 
make for a while for the benefit of the Foundation.  
 
Comment 2 – Recently met with Development Officer and looking forward to a future meeting 
to review engagement efforts with other donor prospects. Member encouraged others to take 
advantage of using football as a platform to engage donors. Member wants to make sure that 
the colleges and other programs do not get neglected in the fundraising efforts. There may be 
people in the community who may not be athletic donors who would be interested in 
contributing to programs outside athletics. 
 
Comment 3 – Suggested 30-second commercials promoting the Gooden fundraising campaign 
played during halftime at football games played at the Blue Wahoos stadium. This idea provides 
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an opportunity to get the message out to a large community of people. VP Reddy agreed this idea 
is a great opportunity and will follow up. 
 
Comment 4 – Mentioned the athletics naming opportunities list and was unaware how many 
opportunities are available for contributors. It would be a good idea to keep this list, and others 
like it, in front of all the board members when engaging with other community members and/or 
business associates and contacts, looking for a good fit.  Additionally, there are other 
opportunities aside from athletics needing contributions such as the military related programs. 
It is important for the board members to know and understand what the other needs are and 
stay informed by the Advancement staff. 
 
Comment 5 – Excited to be a part of the Foundation board and sitting with the major gift officers. 
Thinks there are a lot of UWF alumni in the Pensacola area that we are not aware of and haven’t 
contacted. When is it appropriate to have the harder conversation for the bigger ask? Maybe the 
time is now. The member agrees it is beyond athletics; there are so many more opportunities for 
contributing at UWF. 
 
Comment 6 – His feedback was reflected in everyone else’s comments. 
 
Comment 7 – UWF football home games may be a good opportunity to give a special gift (specific 
amount) for a specific item featured at that game. A staff member replied that Athletics 
fundraising is already working on a special commemorative pin for the Gooden Center that can 
only be received by contributing to the Gooden Center Campaign. Athletics is also working on a 
challenge coin for the first home game and more details are to come soon on the initiative. 
Athletics continues to work on commemorative transactional giving ideas. 
 
Chair Crawford thanked the members for sharing and mentioned he will share a new idea for 
making announcements of board members making new pledges and/or commitments at the next 
board meeting. He encouraged members to look externally to find donors in the community. 
 
Adjournment: There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 4:24 p.m.  
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I.  INTRODUCTION 

 

The purpose of these assets is to further the over all mission of the University of West Florida.  

This Investment Policy Statement establishes a clear understanding between the Investment 

Committee of the University of West Florida Foundation, Inc., the Investment Management 

Consultant and the Investment Managers as to the investment objectives and policies applicable 

to the foundation’s investment portfolio. This Investment Policy Statement will: 

 

• establish reasonable expectations, objectives and guidelines in the investment of 

the assets; 

• set forth an investment structure detailing permitted asset classes and expected 

allocation among asset classes; 

• encourage effective communication between the Investment Consultant, the 

Investment Manager(s) and the Investment Committee; 

• create the framework for a well-diversified asset mix that can be expected to 

generate acceptable long-term returns at a level of risk suitable for these assets. 

 

It shall serve the Investment Manager(s) as the principal source for developing an appropriate strategy.  

In addition, it shall serve as the basis for performance evaluation.  Any changes in this Investment 

Policy Statement will be in writing and will be communicated to the Investment Managers. 

 

II. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE 

 

The objectives of the assets are the enhancement of capital and real purchasing power while 

limiting exposure to risk of loss.  Real purchasing power or real rate of return will be defined as 

returns in excess of inflation as defined by Consumer Price Index. 

 

At a minimum, long-term rates of return should be equal to an amount sufficient to maintain the 

purchasing power of these assets and provide necessary capital to fund the foundation’s allocation 

policy.  Maintaining the real purchasing power of the Endowment, the portfolio’s return would 

need to be equal to or greater than the instituted spending policy plus the current rate of inflation.  

As such, the desired minimum rate of return is equal to the Consumer Price Index (CPI) plus 400 

basis points (4%) on an annualized basis.    

 

The spending from an endowment should be established with consideration to today’s 

beneficiaries in addition to future beneficiaries.  Neither generation should receive a greater benefit 

from the endowment at the expense of the other.   

 

Details regarding the foundation’s spending and allocation policy are found in a separate document 

outside this investment policy statement titled “Endowment Allocations and Administrative Fees 

Policy”. 

 

In light of this return requirement, the portfolio should be constructed using a total return approach 

with a significant portion of the funds invested to seek growth of principal over time. The assets 
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are to be invested for the long term, and a higher short-term volatility in these assets is to be 

expected and accepted.  

 
 

III. TIME HORIZON 

 

The time horizon for these assets is perpetual.  For strategic planning purposes, a minimum of five 

years will be considered for decision-making purposes. Capital values do fluctuate over shorter 

periods and the Investment Committee recognizes that the possibility of capital loss does exist.  

However, historical asset class return data suggest that the risk of principal loss over a holding 

period of at least three to five years can be minimized with the long-term investment mix employed 

under this Investment Policy Statement. 

 
 

IV.  RISK TOLERANCE 

 

The Investment Committee recognizes prudent investing requires taking reasonable risks in order 

to raise the likelihood of achieving the targeted investment returns.  Research has demonstrated 

that portfolio risk is best minimized through diversification of assets.  The portfolio of funds will 

be structured to maintain prudent levels of diversification.  In terms of relative risk, the volatility 

of the portfolio should be in line with general market conditions. 

 

The Investment Committee recognizes that over the long term, the risk of owning equities has 

been, and should continue to be rewarded with a somewhat greater return than that available from 

fixed income investments.  The role of fixed income investments is to reduce the volatility of the 

overall portfolio while providing a predictable stream of income.   

 

V.  PROCEDURES 

 

The Investment Committee is charged with the oversight of the investment of the endowed, restricted, 

unrestricted and operating assets of the University of West Florida. 

 

The roles of the Investment Committee, the Investment Consultant, and the Investment 

Manager(s) with regard to the assets are delineated as follows. 

 

The Investment Committee, with active assistance and recommendations from the 

Investment Consultant, shall have responsibility for the following: 

 

 Establishing overall financial objectives and setting investment policy; 

 Setting parameters for asset allocation; 

 Establishing a process and criteria for the selection and termination of 

investment program managers, custodians 

 Selecting a qualified investment management consultant 

 Selecting qualified investment manager(s); 

 Selecting a qualified custodian; 

 Monitoring investment results quarterly to assure that objectives are being 
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met and that policy and guidelines are being followed; 

 Communication on a structured and ongoing basis with those persons responsible 

for investment results. 

 

The Investment Consultant will be proactive in advising and making recommendations to 

the Investment Committee regarding: 

 

 Investment Policy 

 Asset Allocation 

 Manager Selection 

 Performance Evaluation 

 Other Investment Matters  

 

The Investment Manager(s) will be responsible for the following: 

 

 Determining investment strategy; 

 Implementing security selection and timing within policy guideline 

limitations. 

 

VI.  ASSET ALLOCATION AND STYLE DIVERSIFICATION 

 

Research suggests that the decision to allocate total assets among various asset classes will far 

outweigh security selection and other decisions that impact portfolio performance.  The Investment 

Committee recognizes the strategic importance of asset allocation and style diversification in the 

investment performance of the assets over long periods of time.  Domestic and international 

equities both large and small capitalization, fixed income, cash equivalent securities, real estate 

and hedge fund exposure in the form of diversified fund of hedge funds have been determined to 

be acceptable vehicles for these assets.  Additional asset classes and style strategies may be 

incorporated into the investment philosophy in the future.  

 

A. Summary of Asset Allocation Guidelines: 

 

After reviewing the long-term performance and risk characteristics of various asset classes, the 

following asset allocation strategy is incorporated to achieve the objectives of these assets: 
 

 

Asset Category Minimum Target Maximum 

    

Cash 0.00% 0.00% 10.00% 

Fixed Income 10.00% 15.00% 25.00% 

     Core Fixed Income* 0.00% 6.25% 12.50% 

     Global Diversified Fixed Income 0.00% 3.125% 7.5% 

     Short Duration High Yield 0.00% 3.125% 7.5% 

     Short Duration  0.00% 2.50% 10.00% 

Equity 45.00%  60.00 70.00% 
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     Large Cap 20.00% 22.50% 30.00% 

     Small Cap 7.50% 10.00% 15.00% 

     International 10.00% 15.00% 20.00% 

     Emerging Markets 2.50% 5.00% 7.50% 

     International Small Cap 2.50% 7.50% 10.00% 

     MLP and MLP related 0.00% 0.00% 10.00% 

Alternative Assets 10.00% 25.00 25.00% 

  Real Estate (Private and/or Public) 0.00% 7.50% 15.00% 

  Fund of Hedge Funds / Specialty Strategies 0.00% 5.00% 10.00% 

  Private Equity 0.00% 7.50% 10.00% 

  Private Credit 0.00% 5.00% 10.00% 
*The core allocation within fixed income allows for up to 15% exposure to high yield securities 

 

A small allocation of the Large Cap Equity and Core Fixed Income portions of the portfolio may 

be managed by the Argo Investment Program, a student-run investment fund. Both mandates will 

operate under the guidelines set forth in their own separate investment policy statements. 

 

There is no set minimum cash requirement; however adequate liquidity should be maintained.  It 

is intended that Investment Managers will be given ample notice for any withdrawals to reduce 

the probability of adversely affected the portfolio.  Additionally, any withdrawals will be funded 

on a pro-rata basis to ensure that the asset allocation after the withdrawals is within the investment 

guidelines as listed above. 
 

B.  Rebalancing Procedures 

 

From time to time, market conditions may cause the investment in various asset classes to vary 

from the established allocation.  At least on an annual basis, the Investment Committee and their 

Investment Consultant will review both the specific asset allocation (equity versus fixed) and the 

style targets for possible rebalancing back to the target allocation, to ensure consistency with the 

asset allocation guidelines established by this investment policy.  If the actual weighting goes 

above / below the maximum / minimum weighting intra-year, rebalancing may be recommended. 

 

VII.  SELECTION AND RETENTION CRITERION FOR INVESTMENTS 

 

A. Investment Management 

 

Investment Manager(s) (including mutual funds) shall be chosen using the following criteria:  

 

• The investment style and discipline of the proposed manager; 

• The size of the organization as measured by the amount of assets under management 

with respect to the investment style under consideration; 

• Experience of the organization as measured by the tenure of the professionals with 

respect to the investment style under consideration; 
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• Past performance, considered relative to other investments having the same investment 

objective. Consideration shall be given to both performance rankings over various time 

frames and consistency of performance 

• The historical volatility and down-side risk of each proposed investment 

• How well each proposed investment complements other assets in the portfolio 

 

B. Individual Securities 

 

The Investment Committee desires to permit investment managers flexibility to maximize 

investment opportunities.  However, it is cognizant of its responsibility to practice prudent 

management in order to conserve and protect the assets and to prevent exposure to undue risk.  

Exceptions to the guidelines stated below may be made upon special written approval of the 

Investment Committee and shall be subject to annual review.   
 

The Investment Committee foresees the possibility of using mutual funds / collective trust funds / 

limited partnerships in the form of fund of hedge funds and understands that they would not have 

any control over the management of such funds with regard to guidelines and restrictions.  

However, when possible, they intend to utilize funds that generally comply with the investment 

guidelines stated in this Investment Policy Statement. 

 

i.)  Equity Holdings: 

 

Security Types: 

 

Equity securities shall consist of common stocks and equivalents (ADRs, issues convertible into 

common stock, etc.), and Master Limited Partnerships (MLPs).  Issues traded on the New York 

Stock, Over the Counter, and regional and foreign exchanges are appropriate.  There are no specific 

constraints as to earnings record and dividend policy.  For Investment Managers who manage 

international developed market equity portfolios, up to 25% of the market value of the portfolio 

may be invested in emerging markets. 

 

Diversification:  

 

No more than ten percent (10%) of the market value of the equity portfolio shall be in one issue.  

(If more than one investment manager manages equities, this restriction shall apply separately to 

each equity portfolio.)   

 

Quality:  

 

There are no qualitative guidelines with regard to equity ratings, etc., except that prudent standards 

should be developed and maintained by the investment manager(s). 

 

No more than the greater of thirty-five percent (35%) or two times the sector weighting in the 

appropriate index can be invested in any one sector. 

 

Restrictions: 
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Investment in the following requires written documentation and approval by the Investment 

Committee: 

 

 Derivative investments (futures or option contracts) for speculative purposes (as opposed 

to protection of asset value: Covered call writing is permissible) 

 Direct ownership of letter stock 

 Restricted stock 

 Venture capital 

 Short sales 

 Margin purchases or borrowing money 

 Stock loans 

 

ii.)  Fixed Income Holdings: 

 

Security Types:  

 

Investment in obligations of the U.S. Government, including Treasury Inflation-Protected 

Securities (TIPS), U.S. Government Agencies, U.S. Corporate entities, Mortgage Backed 

Securities (MBS), Preferred Stock, Collateralized Mortgage Obligations, Asset Backed Securities, 

Taxable Municipal securities, Commercial Mortgage Backed securities (CMBS), non-US 

sovereign debt obligations (including bonds issued in local currencies), debt issued by corporations 

domiciled outside the US, REIT debt and dollar denominated foreign bonds is permitted unless 

otherwise prohibited by investment restrictions. 

 

Diversification: 

 

With the exception of U.S. Treasury and Agency obligations, no more than two percent (2%) of 

the fixed income portfolio at market shall be invested in a single issue or corporate entity.  If more 

than one investment manager manages fixed income, these restrictions apply separately to each 

portfolio. 

 

Maturity: 

 

The Investment Managers shall have responsibility for setting the appropriate maturity schedule 

for their portion of the assets based on the fund's investment objectives, risk profile and stated 

mandate (i.e. low duration, core, etc.)  Based on current and expected market conditions, the 

Investment Manager should determine the structure that will yield optimal performance.    

 

Quality:  

 

a. Core Fixed Income 

Each debt instrument selected for investment shall be subjected to credit analysis by the 

Investment Manager prior to inclusion in the portfolio.  The minimum acceptable quality is 

investment grade at the time of purchase by Moody's Investor Service (Baa) or Standard and 
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Poor's (BBB) with the exception of up to 15% of the fixed income portfolio which can be 

invested in below investment grade securities.  The weighted average quality of the core fixed 

income allocation shall be A or better.  If the rating agencies have split ratings on an issue, the 

higher rating will apply in determining compliance with these guidelines. 

 

In the event that an issue is downgraded below investment grade, the Investment Manager will 

review the situation with the Investment Committee and Investment Consultant and discuss 

the rationalization for holding the security and explanation for a course of action.   

 

b. Global  Diversified  Fixed Income 

Each debt instrument selected for investment shall be subjected to credit analysis by the 

Investment Manager prior to inclusion in the portfolio. Up to 35% of the global diversified 

fixed income portfolio can be invested in below investment grade securities.  

 

c. Short Duration High Yield Fixed Income 

Each debt instrument selected for investment shall be subjected to credit analysis by the 

Investment Manager prior to inclusion in the portfolio.  The weighted average quality of the 

short duration high yield allocation shall be BB or better. 

 

Restrictions:  

 

Investment in the following is prohibited without written permission: 

 

 Private Placements (However, private placement medium term notes and securities issued 

under SEC Rule 144A are permitted) 

 Municipal or other tax exempt securities 

 Margin purchases or borrowing money to effect leverage into the portfolio 

 Inverse floater, interest only and principal only mortgage structures 

 

iii.) Alternative Investments: 

 

Real Estate – The Investment Committee may time to time elect to purchase real estate assets if it 

is determined that such purchases are intended to be, but not guaranteed to be, in the best interest 

of the Foundation and the University community as the primary beneficiary over the long term.  

Such assets will be valued at the lesser of purchase price or fair market value and should at no time 

comprise more than 15% of the total market value of the Foundation’s assets.  There are no specific 

guidelines regarding the characteristics necessary for purchase; however, the Investment 

Committee should work closely with the Executive Committee in making any acquisitions, 

evaluating the status of the property with respect to environmental issues, assessing the impact of 

any contingent liabilities, determining the impact of holding costs and financing options. 

 

In the event that a real estate asset is sold, the Foundation may provide financing, which will be 

held as an asset of the overall fund.  These notes will be monitored in terms of balance, principal 

repayment and interest payments to reflect the income generated on the overall fund. 
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Real estate investments may include both private and public real estate and may be in the form of 

limited partnerships and real estate investment trusts.  

 

Hedge Funds – Fund of Hedge Funds will be held in the forms of professionally managed pooled 

limited partnership investments offered by professional investment managers with proven records 

of superior performance over time.  

 

Fund of Hedge Funds are subject to the same due diligence process as traditional investments, 

however due to their unique nature, additional criteria is to be considered.  Additional criteria 

include, but are not limited to: 

 

• Transparency of the underlying hedge funds and to some degree their individual positions; 

• Liquidity terms of the fund of funds to include lock-up period and frequency of 

withdrawals; 

• No significant degree of leverage utilized at the limited partnership level; 

• Financial commitment of the General Partner in the fund; 

• Length of actual performance track record (no back tested results); 

• Sufficient documentation for due diligence, on-going monitoring and financial controls. 

 

Specialty Strategies - Given the investor suitability or high investment minimums associated with 

certain private partnerships, liquid alternative vehicles (Specialty Strategies) may be employed to 

earn risk adjusted returns comparable to hedge funds.  These vehicles may include a combination 

of individual hedge fund partnerships with liberal liquidity terms (i.e. no lock-up and monthly 

liquidity) and mutual funds under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 that employ non-traditional 

strategies.  Strategies utilized by these vehicles may include, but are not limited to:  long/short 

equity, equity market neutral, merger arbitrage, convertible arbitrage, credit opportunities, 

commodities, currencies, volatility, absolute return oriented, tactical asset allocation and 

alternative beta. 

 

Private Equity/Private Credit – Investments in non-public equities and/or private credit strategies 

is permissible in the form of limited partnerships by professional investment managers with proven 

track records of solid performance over time. The Investment Committee will consider certain 

criteria including, but not limited to, the following in its evaluation of a fund: 

• Experience, qualifications, and responsibilities of the General Partner; 

• Past investment results of the General Partner; 

• Financial commitment of the General Partner in the fund; 

• Special expertise of the General Partner in targeted areas of investment; 

• Diversification by geography, industry orientation, funding stage, vintage year, and size; 

• Sufficient documentation for due diligence, on-going monitoring and financial controls. 

 

Joint Ventures:  If the Foundation's equity interest in a joint venture is so small that it is more in 

the nature of an investment interest rather than an active participation, it is not necessary to have 

initiation and veto powers, although it should nevertheless seek to protect its charitable interests 

to the extent possible.  While there is no specific IRS benchmark for evaluating when an interest 

is small enough to constitute only an investment interest, an equity interest in a joint venture of 



 

 

 9 

less than 20% can generally be properly characterized as an investment rather than active 

participation.  Such joint ventures should be considered on a case-by-case basis. 

 

VIII. PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES 

 

The overall fund performance will be reviewed on a quarterly basis, with long term emphasis 

placed on results achieved over a three to five year period.  Objectives will be reviewed annually 

and adjusted, if necessary, after consultation with the Investment Committee, Investment 

Consultant and Investment Managers. 

 

A. Total Fund: 

 

Overall fund performance will be compared to the performance of a similarly structured balanced 

index in line with the target allocation in each strategy. This custom index will be comprised of 

the S&P 500 Index (or Russell 1000 Index), Russell 2000 Index, MSCI All Country World Index 

(ACWI) ex US, MSCI ACWI ex US Small Cap, MSCI Emerging Markets Index, Bloomberg U.S. 

Aggregate Bond Index, Citi World Government Bond Index, BofAML High Yield BB 1-3 yr 

Index, Citi 3 Month Treasury Bill, 50% Alerian MLP / 50% ML High Yield,  and Citigroup One-

Month Treasury Bill Index and/or other appropriate indices. The Fund should at least equal the 

performance of the custom balanced index.  

 

The volatility of investment returns, as measured by the standard deviation of quarterly returns, 

should be comparable to that of the custom index.  Volatility greater than the benchmark is 

acceptable so long as returns are commensurate. 

 

B. Equity Segment: 

 

The performance of the domestic large cap equity portion is expected to meet or exceed the 

performance of S&P 500 Composite Index or the S&P 500/Citigroup Growth/Value Index/Russell 

1000 Growth/Value, depending on the manager's investment style.   

 

The returns of the large capitalization equity portion should rank in the top thirty-three percent 

(33%) of a nationally recognized evaluation service's universe for comparable funds and 

investment styles over rolling three to five year time periods. 

 

The performance of the small capitalization equity portion should meet or exceed the performance 

of the Russell 2000 Small Stock Index or the Russell 2000 Value / Growth Index, depending on 

the manager's investment style.   

 

The returns of the small capitalization equity portion should rank in the top thirty-three percent 

(33%) of a universe for comparable funds over a rolling three to five year time periods. 

 

The performance of the international developed markets equity portion should meet or exceed the 

performance of the Morgan Stanley Capital International's All Country World (ACWI) ex US 

Index or another appropriate index.  
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The returns of the international developed markets equity portion should rank in the top thirty-

three percent (33%) of a universe for comparable funds over a rolling three to five year time 

periods. 

The performance of the emerging markets equity portion should meet or exceed the performance 

of the Morgan Stanley Capital International's Emerging Markets Index.  

 

The returns of the emerging markets equity portion should rank in the top thirty-three percent 

(33%) of a universe for comparable funds over a rolling three to five year time periods. 

 

The International Small Cap equity portion of the portfolio is expected to exceed the performance 

of the MSCI All Country World (ACWI) ex US Small Cap Index. The returns should rank in the 

top thirty-third percent (33%) of a universe for comparable funds over a rolling three to five year 

time periods. 

 

The MLP portion of the portfolio is expected to produce returns similar to a blended index 

consisting of 50% Alerian MLP and 50% ML High Yield while exhibiting less volatility.  

Therefore, risk adjusted returns will be evaluated. 

 

The volatility of investment returns, as measured by the standard deviation of quarterly returns, 

should be comparable to that of the segment’s appropriate index.  Volatility greater than the 

benchmark is acceptable so long as returns are commensurate. 

 

C. Fixed Income Segment: 

 

The performance of the core fixed income portion is expected to meet or exceed the performance 

of the Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond index or other appropriate index or mix of indices, which 

reflect the fixed income portion of the portfolio.   

 

The performance of the global fixed income portion is expected to meet or exceed the performance 

of the Citi World Government Bond index or other appropriate index or mix of indices, which 

reflect the fixed income portion of the portfolio.   

 

The performance of the short duration high yield portion is expected to meet or exceed the 

performance of the BofAML High Yield BB 1-3 year index or other appropriate index or mix of 

indices, which reflect the fixed income portion of the portfolio.   

 

The returns of the fixed income portion should rank in the top forty percent (40%) of a universe 

for comparable fixed income funds over a three to five year time period. 

 

The performance of the low duration fixed income portion is expected to meet or exceed the 

performance of the Merrill Lynch 1 – 3 Year Treasury index, Citigroup 3 Month Treasury Bill 

index or other appropriate index or mix of indices, which reflect the fixed income portion of the 

portfolio.   
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The cash equivalent investment performance results will be compared against the yield on one 

month Treasury Bill securities, MFR All Taxable Money Market index, and are expected to exceed 

the annualized rate of the Consumer Price Index (CPI). 
 

The volatility of investment returns, as measured by the standard deviation of quarterly returns, 

should be comparable to that of the segment’s appropriate index.  Volatility greater than the 

benchmark is acceptable so long as returns are commensurate. 

 

D. Alternative Investments: 

 

The Investment Committee recognizes that benchmarks for alternative investments, more 

specifically fund of hedge funds, are relatively new in their creation and there is no perfect 

benchmark in existence for these types of investments.  Hedge fund indexes are created from hedge 

fund databases.  There is no complete database because inclusion in these databases is voluntary 

and they are subject to survivorship bias.  Additionally, each hedge fund, including fund of funds, 

has diverse investment objectives and characteristics making like comparisons difficult.  

 

To aid in the on-going evaluation of the alternative investment portion of the portfolio, Fund of 

Hedge Funds investments will be compared to the following benchmarks: 

 

 The appropriate HFRI Fund of Funds Index 

 Other benchmark designated by fund of funds manager and agreed upon by 

the Investment Consultant and the Investment Committee 

 

The performance of the Specialty Strategies portion of the portfolio will be compared to the 

following benchmarks: 

 

 Appropriate HFRI Fund of Funds Index 

 Other benchmark agreed upon by Committee and Consultant 

 

While emphasis will be placed on the performance of the Specialty Strategies portion as a whole, 

the Investment Consultant will be responsible for monitoring the underlying funds comprising the 

Specialty Strategies portion to insure they are meeting their individual objectives. 

 

Real estate investments are expected to meet or exceed the performance of the NCREIF Property 

Index (private), NAREIT Index (public) or other appropriate index which reflects the real estate 

portion of the portfolio.  

 

The Investment Committee recognizes private equity and private credit returns are not meaningful 

in the early years of investment and that the evaluation of this type of investments should be 

considered over the long-term; a ten year time horizon.  To aid in the on-going evaluation of private 

equity and private credit investments, they will be compared to the Thompson VentureXpert 

Private Equity Index or other appropriate index. 

 

IX.  CONTROL PROCEDURES 
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A.  Review and Evaluation of Investment Objectives: 

 

The achievement of investment objectives will be reviewed on an annual basis by the Investment 

Committee. This review will focus on the continued feasibility of achieving the objectives and the 

continued appropriateness of the investment policy statement.  It is not expected that the 

investment policy statement will change frequently.  In particular, short-term changes in the 

financial markets should not require an adjustment in the investment policy statement. 

 

B. Review and Evaluation of Investment Manager(s): 

 

The Investment Committee will meet at least annually with the Investment Manager(s) or their 

representative(s).  Additionally, with or without the Investment Manager(s), the Investment 

Committee will review investment results quarterly. 

 

These reviews will focus on: 

 

 The Investment Managers' adherence to the policy guidelines; 

 Comparison of the Investment Managers' results to the objectives established for each 

Investment Manager; 

 Comparison of the Investment Managers' results against universe of comparable funds 

investment styles; 

 Opportunities available in both the equity and bond markets; and, 

 Material changes in the Investment Managers' organizations, such as philosophical or 

personnel changes. 

 

The Investment Committee may discharge or replace an Investment Manager at any time it deems 

such action necessary and appropriate. 

 

Guidelines for evaluation, retention, and replacement of Investment Managers will be as follows: 

 

 Establish appropriate benchmark/index to which to compare Investment Managers’ 

performance. 

 Establish performance target:  To outperform benchmark/index and to achieve investment 

returns: 

 in the top thirty-third percentile (33%) of peer universe groups for equities 

over a three to five year period 

 in the top fortieth percentile (40%) of peer universe groups for fixed income 

over a three to five year period 

 Monitor Investment Managers’ performance on a quarterly basis and 

compare to selected index and peers with similar styles and objectives. 

 

An Investment Manager will be rated in a “Favorable Status” if they are delivering favorable 

performance and there are no outstanding organizational issues. 
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An Investment Manager will be in a “Caution Status” if: 

 

 For Equities: 

 Investment Manager’s three year performance is below the 50th percentile 

of their peer universe, or they are trailing the style benchmark, or 

 Investment Manager’s five plus year performance is below the 33rd 

percentile of their peer universe, or they are trailing the style benchmark 

 

 For Fixed Income: 

 Investment Manager’s three year performance is below the 50th percentile 

of their peer universe, or they are trailing the style benchmark, or 

 Investment Manager’s five plus year performance is below the 40th 

percentile of their peer universe, or they are trailing the style benchmark. 

• For Alternative Investments  

Fund of Hedge Funds 

 Investment Manager’s one year performance is negative, failing to 

preserve capital, or 

 Investment Manager’s three year performance is below any of the indexes 

as listed below and in the Investment Consultant’s opinion, represents sub 

par results, or 

o For Fund of Hedge Funds 

▪ The appropriate HFRI Fund of Funds Index 

▪ Other benchmark designated by the fund manager and agreed upon 

by the Investment Consultant and Investment Committee 

 Investment Committee has concerns resulting from the review of on-going 

documentation. 

 

Specialty Strategies 

While emphasis will be placed on the performance of the Specialty Strategies portion 

as a whole, the underlying funds comprising the Specialty Strategies portion will also 

be compared to their individual stated objectives.  An underlying Specialty Strategies 

fund may be placed on caution status if the Investment Consultant determines that the 

fund is not achieving its stated objective. 

 

Real Estate, Private Equity and Private Credit 

Since these types of investments are illiquid and long-term in nature, there are no 

specific performance criteria for watch status.  A manager managing these types of 

investments may be put on watch status if in the Investment Committee or Consultant’s 

opinion the watch status is warranted. 

 

An Investment Manager will also be considered on “Caution Status” if there is a material change 

in the ownership structure of their organization, or there is a departure of key investment 

professionals. 
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ADDENDUM 

 

Deposit and Investment Risks 

 

As a component unit of the University of West Florida, the University of West Florida Foundation, 

Inc. (the Foundation) is required under GASB 40 to make certain disclosures related to deposit 

and investment risk. Deposit and investment resources of the Foundation represent significant 

resources necessary for the delivery of educational services and programs. Financial statement 

users should know that risks are inherent in all deposits and investments and this element of risk 

could affect the Foundation’s ability to provide resources and impact services. 

 

By nature of its function, the Foundation’s risk exposure is significantly greater than the deposit 

and investment risks of the University of West Florida. In general, the common deposit and 

investment risks are related to credit risk, concentration of credit risk, interest rate risk, and foreign 

currency risk.  

 

Deposit and Investment Policy:  The Foundation has deposit and investment policies related to 

each of these risks. The policy states that the Investment Committee of the Board of Directors will 

meet no less than quarterly to review investment performance with our investment consultant.  The 

policy provides guidelines for the evaluation, retention, and replacement of individual investment 

managers, establishes appropriate benchmarks/indices used to evaluate each investment managers’ 

performance, and establishes performance asset allocation targets and investment quality 

measures. 

 

Risk Categories 

 

Credit risk:  The custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a 

depository financial institution, the Foundation would not be able to recover deposits or would not 

be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  Therefore, 

the Foundation shall monitor deposits on account so as to avoid deposits that are not covered by 

depository insurance or are uncollateralized.  In compliance with GASB and FASB standards, to 

the extent required, the Foundation will disclose in its annual financial statements the credit quality 

ratings of any external investment pools, money market funds, bond mutual funds, and other 

pooled investments of fixed-income securities in which they invest. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Foundation, with the assistance of its investment advisor, shall 

implement policies and procedures to ensure adequate portfolio diversification. It is the 

Foundation’s policy that, with the exception of U.S. Treasury and Agency obligations, no more 

than two percent (2%) of the fixed income portfolio at market shall be invested in a single issue or 

corporate entity.  If more than one investment manager manages fixed income, these restrictions 

apply separately to each portfolio. Furthermore, the Foundation and its investment advisor monitor 

the asset allocation to ensure investments are within established targets for quality and investment 

balances remain within the established target range for each asset category. 

 

Interest Rate Risk: As an element of interest rate risk, GASB requires disclosures of investments 

that have fair values that are highly sensitive to changes in interest rates. The allocation of the 
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Foundation’s portfolio in Fixed Income investments susceptible to interest rate risk will be 

monitored not to exceed established targets in the approved investment policy. In cooperation with 

the investment advisor and the investment manager of the Fixed Income investments, the interest 

rate risk information will be organized by investment type and amount using one of the following 

methods: 

 

a. Segmented time distribution 

b. Specific identification 

c. Weighted average maturity 

d. Duration 

e. Simulation model. 

 

Foreign Currency Risk: The Foundation is required to disclose any investment denominated in a 

foreign currency.  The Foundation has limited its exposure to foreign currency risk by limiting the 

asset allocation in international investments in accordance with the established targets in the 

approved investment policy. 
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I.  ENDOWMENT ALLOCATION POLICY 
 
 
General Purpose: 
The University of West Florida Foundation Investment Committee manages the endowment allocation 
rate annually to ensure intergenerational equity in applying funds for the donors’ intended purpose.  
 
Endowment Allocation:  
The allocation rate is calculated on a three-year average of the market value of the endowments as of June 
30. Spending is awarded for endowments (>$25k) after a one year waiting period.  Donors are 
encouraged to provide separate funding if spending (i.e. a named scholarship award) is desired prior to the 
end of the waiting period.  For the FY17-18 academic year, the approved spending rate is four percent 
(4%).   
 
Underwater Endowments:  
The University of West Florida Foundation strives to balance the donor’s desire to fund current program, 
faculty, and scholarship needs with the commitment to preserve over time the donor’s gifts to the 
endowment corpus. Furthermore, the Foundation takes seriously its responsibility to provide prudent 
fiduciary management, oversight of the endowments, and intergenerational equity. However, the 
Foundation is aware that despite utilizing a well diversified investment portfolio strategy and the best 
good faith efforts of its Board members there will be times when the fair market value of an endowment 
may fall below the endowment corpus value creating underwater endowments.  In the event an 
endowment falls underwater, the Foundation will use a 25% step down allocation method to slow the 
allocation from the endowment.  For each 10% an endowment is underwater, the endowment allocation 
(exclusive of the operating allocation) will be reduced by 25%.  For example, an endowment 9% 
underwater would receive 75% of its endowment allocation as calculated using the formula above and an 
endowment 14% underwater would receive 50% of its endowment allocation as calculated using the 
formula above, and so forth. Any endowment more than 30% underwater will receive no endowment 
allocation. The intent of this policy is to attempt to continue to provide allocation to support the 
scholarships, programs, and faculty as designated by the donor and within the limits of Florida laws, 
while also allowing the endowment to recover more quickly from economic downturns. 
 
 
 
 
II. ADMINISTRATIVE FEES 
 
 
General Purpose: 
The Foundation strives to utilize an equitable fee structure to fund the cost of operations.  Administrative 
fees are used to fund the tasks associated with pursuing, managing and investing the various types of 
funds held by the Foundation.  These fees are essential support necessary to The University of West 
Florida Foundation’s overall operation.  The fee structure and rates are reviewed annually by The 
University of West Florida Foundation Investment Committee.  
 

• Management Fees Charged to the Endowments (Operating Budget):  



Because of the long range nature of the invested assets of the endowments, the Foundation 
assesses a management fee on market value of all endowments. This fee is used for overseeing 
the endowment’s share of the invested assets and operations of the Foundation. 

 
Generally, two percent (2%) of a three-year average of the market value of the investment 
portfolio will be used to fund the operating budget.  To accommodate both the needs of the 
university and keeping with the goal of managing the endowment portfolio for the long term the 
Board of Directors has fixed the amount at a rate of 1.75%.   

 
• Administrative Fees on Courtelis Funds: 

The Foundation adheres to Florida State Statute 1013.79 “University Facility Enhancement 
Challenge Grant Program” for The Courtelis Matching State Program.  Per the Statute, the 
Foundation is obligated to preserve the original gift and invest the gift in such a way as to assure 
that the original gift is intact.  This fee policy is established to insure compliance with Florida 
Statue. 

 
While the Foundation actively solicits and manages Courtelis gifts, these accounts will be 
charged one quarter of one percent of market value each quarter. The fee will be paid from  
invested earnings not to exceed the appreciation. 

 
• Administrative Fees on Housing Revenue: 

A set percentage fee will be assessed on annual total revenue.  The fee will cover Housing’s share 
of costs associated with insurance, software maintenance, audit fees and staff support. 

 
• Administrative Fees on Non Endowed Gifts and Revenue:  

A one-time fee is applied to all gifts and other revenue to non endowed accounts and assessed at 
month-end.  An exception is made for gifts from non-profit foundations that explicitly state in 
their bylaws or written policies that they do not pay administrative fees.  This fee is used to 
support transactional activities and cost of operations associated with non endowed gifts.  
 
 

 
Gift Type           Fee Method 2019 – 2020 Rate 
Endowment   3 year Average Balance 1.75% 
Courtelis .25% per quarter 1% 
Housing Based on Annual Total Revenue 1.25% 
Non-Endowed Per gift or other revenue 3.0% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The University of West Florida Foundation, Inc.
Earnings vs Expenses Obligated

As of September 30, 2021
 

Investment Earnings 9/30/2021 To Date
Interest Income 40,391.54$            40,391.54$                          
Dividend Income 140,567.92            140,567.92                          
Realized Gain/Loss 682,361.73            682,361.73                          
Unrealized Gain/Loss 346,800.28            346,800.28                          
Rental Income ‐                           ‐                                        
Other Charges & Fees (2,250.61)               (2,250.61)                             
Investment Fees (54,687.43)             (54,687.43)                          
Consultant Fees (27,790.64)             (27,790.64)                          

Total 1,125,392.79$      1,125,392.79$                    

Expenses Obligated

Spending Rate     @ 4.00%
FY 21/22

Spending Rate     @ 
4.00%

FY 20/21

Spending Rate     @ 
4.00%

FY 19/20

Spending Rate     @ 
4.00%

FY 18/19

Spending Rate     @ 
4.00%

FY 17/18
Investment Earnings  $                    1,125,392.79   $  27,976,251.13   $      (379,389.03)  $     3,422,523.82   $     6,829,701.07 

Dept. Allocated Spending  2,962,597.25                       2,833,960.70        2,730,281.77        2,606,226.38        2,451,182.84       
Operating Budget 1,630,148.00                       1,592,632.00        1,507,752.00        1,366,719.00        1,333,148.00       
Non‐Endowed Budget  789,000.00                           726,000.00            626,000.00            591,000.00            511,000.00           

Total Committed Expenses 5,381,745.25                       5,152,592.70        4,864,033.77        4,563,945.38        4,295,330.84       

Income Versus Expenses (4,256,352.46)$                   22,823,658.43$    (5,243,422.80)$     (1,141,421.56)$     2,534,370.23$     



Other UWF Foundation Assets

Charitable Gift Annuity

Definition:  A charitable gift annuity enables you to transfer cash or marketable securities to the charitable  
organization issuing the gift annuity in exchange for a current income tax deduction and the organization's
promise to make fixed annual payments to you for life.  Annuity payments can begin immediately or can be
deferred to some future date.

9/30/2021

Cornerstone 3,255,339.82$     

Annuitant 2 13,846.22$           

Annuitant 3 3,069,185.69$     

Annuitant 4 172,307.91$        

9/30/2021

Commitment Age
Annuitant 2 7,611.82$              ** 91 @ 06.30.21

Annuitant 3 1,842,653.13$      ** 81 @ 06.30.21

Annuitant 4 110,999.59$         ** 79‐85 @ 06.30.21

 **6.30.21 FASB Balances adjusted for Annuity Payments; alignment of calculation done by Cornerstone
     fiscal year end.

Insurance
Insurance Commitments as of 6/30/2021 ***

Face Value Cash Value Interest Credit Cost Per Year

Insurant 1 100,000$               52,312.82$          $2,502.89 870.80$              

Insurant 3 175,000$               13,824.70$          503.81$               20,000.00$         

Insurant 4 50,000$                  16,032.62$          258.97$               967.40$              

Insurant 5 1,000,000$            241,866.30$       7,191.79$            65,000.00$         

***Numbers represent 6.30.21 balances as information is only supplied at year end from insurance
      companies.

Current Assets held by the UWF Foundation as of 

Annuity Commitments as of



University of West Florida Foundation
Income Statement

Housing Budget to Actual for the UWF Foundation Board

Actual Budget Variance Amt. Variance % Actual to Date Budget to Date Variance Amt. Variance % Budget
 9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  6/30/2022 Notes

Revenues
     97-42113 INTEREST INCOME - HOUSING $62.45 $225.00 ($162.55) (72.24%) $62.45 $225.00 ($162.55) (72.24%) $1,000.00 1
     97-42114 INTEREST INCOME - SPIA $6,200.58 $19,600.00 ($13,399.42) (68.36%) $6,200.58 $19,600.00 ($13,399.42) (68.36%) $120,000.00 2
     97-42400 UNREALIZED GAIN/LOSS $53,750.79 $0.00 $53,750.79 0.00% $53,750.79 $0.00 $53,750.79 0.00% $0.00
     97-43012 RENTAL INCOME - HOUSING $4,126,780.18 $3,525,000.00 $601,780.18 17.07% $4,126,780.18 $3,525,000.00 $601,780.18 17.07% $9,537,220.01
     97-44000 CONCESSIONS REVENUE $4,894.60 $2,400.00 $2,494.60 103.94% $4,894.60 $2,400.00 $2,494.60 103.94% $47,000.00
     97-45000 OTHER INCOME - HOUSING $74,381.80 $14,000.00 $60,381.80 431.30% $74,381.80 $14,000.00 $60,381.80 431.30% $140,000.00
Total Revenues $4,266,070.40 $3,561,225.00 $704,845.40 19.79% $4,266,070.40 $3,561,225.00 $704,845.40 19.79% $9,845,220.01

Expenses
     97-51010 SALARIES - FACULTY & STAFF $173,783.35 $194,000.00 $20,216.65 10.42% $173,783.35 $194,000.00 $20,216.65 10.42% $894,828.00
     97-51137 OPS - STAFF $71,805.40 $115,000.00 $43,194.60 37.56% $71,805.40 $115,000.00 $43,194.60 37.56% $1,058,699.06
     97-52110 TRAVEL $0.00 $2,200.00 $2,200.00 100.00% $0.00 $2,200.00 $2,200.00 100.00% $4,640.00
     97-53150 CONCESSION EXP - HOUSING $14,045.52 $18,221.36 $4,175.84 22.92% $14,045.52 $18,221.36 $4,175.84 22.92% $51,350.00
     97-54100 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT $0.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 100.00% $0.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 100.00% $5,000.00
     97-54110 MEMBERSHIPS & DUES $1,367.00 $1,400.00 $33.00 2.36% $1,367.00 $1,400.00 $33.00 2.36% $1,400.00
     97-55100 RECRUITMENT - TRAVEL $0.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 0.00% $0.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 100.00% $3,500.00
     97-55110 RECRUITMENT - MEALS $0.00 $1,200.00 $1,200.00 0.00% $0.00 $1,200.00 $1,200.00 100.00% $2,000.00
     97-70100 OFFICE EXPENSES - COPYING $115.00 $719.82 $604.82 84.02% $115.00 $719.82 $604.82 84.02% $1,800.00
     97-70110 OFFICE EXPENSES - POSTAGE $27.60 $100.00 $72.40 72.40% $27.60 $100.00 $72.40 72.40% $400.00
     97-70120 OFFICE EXPENSES - PRINT/DUPL $166.15 $1,500.00 $1,333.85 88.92% $166.15 $1,500.00 $1,333.85 88.92% $5,000.00
     97-70130 OFFICE EXPENSES - MKTG COMM $1,992.31 $5,000.00 $3,007.69 60.15% $1,992.31 $5,000.00 $3,007.69 60.15% $15,000.00
     97-70140 OFFICE SUPPLIES $827.92 $1,900.00 $1,072.08 56.43% $827.92 $1,900.00 $1,072.08 56.43% $4,500.00
     97-70200 COMPUTER SUPPLIES $0.00 $500.00 $500.00 0.00% $0.00 $500.00 $500.00 100.00% $1,000.00
     97-70220 COMPUTER - SOFTWARE SUPPORT $7,079.88 $31,600.00 $24,520.12 77.60% $7,079.88 $31,600.00 $24,520.12 77.60% $34,520.00
     97-70240 COMPUTER - TRAINING $3,600.00 $0.00 ($3,600.00) 0.00% $3,600.00 $0.00 ($3,600.00) 0.00% $0.00 3
     97-70300 TELEPHONE $2,397.59 $2,820.00 $422.41 14.98% $2,397.59 $2,820.00 $422.41 14.98% $11,300.00
     97-71100 EQUIPMENT - GENERAL $19.20 $225.00 $205.80 91.47% $19.20 $225.00 $205.80 91.47% $750.00
     97-71200 EQUIPMENT - COMPUTER $0.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 0.00% $0.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 100.00% $8,000.00
     97-72100 CLEANING SERVICES $241,015.80 $175,000.00 ($66,015.80) (37.72%) $241,015.80 $175,000.00 ($66,015.80) (37.72%) $593,200.00 4
     97-72110 CLEANING SUPPLIES $4,141.78 $11,000.00 $6,858.22 62.35% $4,141.78 $11,000.00 $6,858.22 62.35% $30,000.00
     97-72200 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - MISCELLANEOUS $61,817.58 $13,000.00 ($48,817.58) (375.52%) $61,817.58 $13,000.00 ($48,817.58) (375.52%) $30,000.00 5
     97-72210 HSG REPAIR & MAINT.- TOOLS $270.41 $1,500.00 $1,229.59 81.97% $270.41 $1,500.00 $1,229.59 81.97% $2,500.00
     97-72215 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - LOCKS & KEYS $880.00 $2,500.00 $1,620.00 64.80% $880.00 $2,500.00 $1,620.00 64.80% $4,500.00
     97-72220 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - LANDSCAPING $18,617.99 $15,000.00 ($3,617.99) (24.12%) $18,617.99 $15,000.00 ($3,617.99) (24.12%) $15,000.00 6
     97-72225 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - PLUMBING $2,276.82 $1,000.00 ($1,276.82) (127.68%) $2,276.82 $1,000.00 ($1,276.82) (127.68%) $2,500.00 7
     97-72230 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - FIRE ALARM $13,168.23 $4,000.00 ($9,168.23) (229.21%) $13,168.23 $4,000.00 ($9,168.23) (229.21%) $7,500.00 7
     97-72235 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - AIR HANDLERS $11,652.01 $8,500.00 ($3,152.01) (37.08%) $11,652.01 $8,500.00 ($3,152.01) (37.08%) $15,000.00 7
     97-72240 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - ELEVATORS $46,454.20 $500.00 ($45,954.20) (9190.84%) $46,454.20 $500.00 ($45,954.20) (9190.84%) $1,000.00 7
     97-72245 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - ELECTRICAL & HVAC $1,733.88 $1,094.59 ($639.30) (58.41%) $1,733.88 $1,094.59 ($639.30) (58.41%) $5,000.00 7
     97-72250 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - PEST CONTROL $7,280.00 $2,123.72 ($5,156.28) (242.79%) $7,280.00 $2,123.72 ($5,156.28) (242.79%) $10,000.00 8
     97-72255 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - UNIFORMS $0.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 0.00% $0.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 100.00% $2,000.00
     97-72310 HOUSING - VEHICLE GAS $2,078.91 $2,410.96 $332.05 13.77% $2,078.91 $2,410.96 $332.05 13.77% $7,000.00
     97-72320 HOUSING - VEHICLE REPAIR & MAINT. $4,411.17 $3,075.85 ($1,335.32) (43.41%) $4,411.17 $3,075.85 ($1,335.32) (43.41%) $10,000.00 9
     97-72400 OPER EXP - HOUSING SUPPLIES $31,714.51 $31,455.14 ($259.37) (0.82%) $31,714.51 $31,455.14 ($259.37) (0.82%) $60,000.00
     97-72900 RENEWAL & REPLACEMENT $90,347.17 $125,000.00 $34,652.83 27.72% $90,347.17 $125,000.00 $34,652.83 27.72% $400,000.00
     97-72910 CONTINGENCY & IMPROVEMENT EXP $73,745.00 $300,000.00 $226,255.00 75.42% $73,745.00 $300,000.00 $226,255.00 75.42% $300,000.00
     97-73100 DEPREC/AMORT EXPENSE - OFFICE $1,492.74 $1,492.74 $0.00 0.00% $1,492.74 $1,492.74 $0.00 0.00% $5,174.01
     97-73205 DEPRECIATION EXP - VILLAGE WEST $101,349.15 $101,349.15 $0.00 0.00% $101,349.15 $101,349.15 $0.00 0.00% $405,396.58

Actual Budget Variance Amt. Variance % Actual to Date Budget to Date Variance Amt. Variance % Budget

Quarter Ending Year to Date

Quarter Ending Year to Date



 9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  9/30/2021  6/30/2022 Notes
     97-73210 DEPRECIATION EXP - VILLAGE EAST $146,109.31 $137,921.49 ($8,187.82) (5.94%) $146,109.31 $137,921.49 ($8,187.82) (5.94%) $551,685.94
     97-73215 DEPRECIATION EXP - ARGO HALL $57,879.88 $55,539.18 ($2,340.70) (4.21%) $57,879.88 $55,539.18 ($2,340.70) (4.21%) $222,156.76
     97-73220 DEPRECIATION EXP - MARTIN $77,894.63 $74,704.52 ($3,190.11) (4.27%) $77,894.63 $74,704.52 ($3,190.11) (4.27%) $296,711.15
     97-73225 DEPRECIATION EXP - PACE HALL $56,357.44 $53,853.75 ($2,503.69) (4.65%) $56,357.44 $53,853.75 ($2,503.69) (4.65%) $215,415.06
     97-73230 DEPRECIATION EXP - HERITAGE $120,931.42 $121,400.19 $468.77 0.39% $120,931.42 $121,400.19 $468.77 0.39% $485,600.82
     97-73235 DEPRECIATION EXP - PRESIDENTS $187,917.35 $189,203.58 $1,286.23 0.68% $187,917.35 $189,203.58 $1,286.23 0.68% $756,814.31
     97-74200 INTEREST EXPENSE - HOUSING ($126,307.86) ($126,307.35) $0.51 (0.00%) ($126,307.86) ($126,307.35) $0.51 (0.00%) $1,337,670.76
     97-74300 HOUSING - MISC. OPERATING ADMIN FEES $1,155.43 $2,265.06 $1,109.63 48.99% $1,155.43 $2,265.06 $1,109.63 48.99% $4,500.00
     97-74310 HOUSING - OTHER MISC. OPER EXP $29,772.90 $31,400.00 $1,627.10 5.18% $29,772.90 $31,400.00 $1,627.10 5.18% $35,200.00
     97-74315 HOUSING - MEAL PLANS $5,600.00 $6,500.00 $900.00 13.85% $5,600.00 $6,500.00 $900.00 13.85% $12,000.00
     97-75005 HOUSING UTILITIES - ELECTRICAL $243,736.34 $192,126.00 ($51,610.34) (26.86%) $243,736.34 $192,126.00 ($51,610.34) (26.86%) $710,000.00 10
     97-75010 HOUSING UTILITIES - GAS $4,525.39 $3,504.80 ($1,020.59) (29.12%) $4,525.39 $3,504.80 ($1,020.59) (29.12%) $26,000.00 11
     97-75015 HOUSING UTILITIES - SEWER $28,787.38 $26,910.00 ($1,877.38) (6.98%) $28,787.38 $26,910.00 ($1,877.38) (6.98%) $135,000.00
     97-75020 HOUSING UTILITIES - WATER $757.18 $775.20 $18.02 2.32% $757.18 $775.20 $18.02 2.32% $4,800.00
     97-75025 HOUSING UTILITIES - GARBAGE $15,936.14 $13,500.00 ($2,436.14) (18.05%) $15,936.14 $13,500.00 ($2,436.14) (18.05%) $58,000.00 12
     97-75030 HOUSING UTILITIES - CABLE $92,966.64 $92,966.64 $0.00 0.00% $92,966.64 $92,966.64 $0.00 0.00% $375,959.16
     97-75100 HOUSING - INSURANCE $0.00 $9,600.00 $9,600.00 100.00% $0.00 $9,600.00 $9,600.00 100.00% $11,600.00
     97-75110 INSURANCE - BOND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $90,000.00
     97-75115 INSURANCE - AUTOMOBILE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $20,000.00
     97-75120 INSURANCE - PROPERTY $79,017.53 $83,000.00 $3,982.47 4.80% $79,017.53 $83,000.00 $3,982.47 4.80% $83,000.00
     97-75200 BOND EXPENSES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $15,000.00
     97-76060 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $22,750.00
     97-76110 BANK SERVICE CHARGES $1,462.31 $1,400.00 ($62.31) (4.45%) $1,462.31 $1,400.00 ($62.31) (4.45%) $4,250.00
     97-76115 ADMINISTRATIVE FEE - SPIA $672.81 $1,077.84 $405.03 37.58% $672.81 $1,077.84 $405.03 37.58% $8,500.00
     97-76117 ADMINISTRATIVE FEE - HSG $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00% $123,065.25
Total Expenses $2,016,846.49 $2,159,729.23 $142,882.74 6.62% $2,016,846.49 $2,159,729.23 $142,882.74 6.62% $9,615,136.86

Notes:
1 INTEREST INCOME - HOUSING Interest paid on funds in account were less than estimated.
2 INTEREST INCOME - SPIA Funds were retained in Banner and Synovus while studying alternate investment options.
3 COMPUTER - TRAINING RMS update required unanticipated training.
4 CLEANING SERVICES Short turn around period between summer and fall semesters required overtime pay for workers.  Fewer maintenance staff required outsourcing for some routine maintenance requirements.
5 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - MISCELLANEOUS Yearly power wash included extensive clean of buildings in preparation for Fall move-in. This was not originally included in the budget.
6 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - LANDSCAPING Landscaping included flower beds in front of all residence halls in preparation for Fall move-in. Flower beds were in need of attention due to prior year budget constraints.
7 VARIOUS Deliberate effort to move costs to expense lines instead of Renewal and Replacement or Contingency and Improvement reserves.
8 HSG REPAIR & MAINT. - PEST CONTROL Exterior power spray of all buildings in preparation for Fall move-in.
9 HOUSING - VEHICLE REPAIR & MAINT. Unexpected vehicle repair. This cost is expected to be within budget by the end of the year.

10 HOUSING UTILITIES - ELECTRICAL Rate increase higher than what was estimated in budget.
11 HOUSING UTILITIES - GAS Gas costs higher than anticipated.
12 HOUSING UTILITIES - GARBAGE Garbage costs higher than anticipated.



Prepared by: _________________________________
Reviewed by: _________________________________

6/30/2022 Notes:
Housing Income per Housing Statement of 
Revenue and Expenses 10,550,065.41      
Refunds -                       
Housing Expense per Housing Statement of 
Revenue and Expenses (9,460,769.41)       Total Revenue 10,550,065.41  
  Adjusted Net Income (Loss) 1,089,296.00        

DEPRECIATION EXP--TRUCK 5,174.01
Add: DEPRECIATION EXP--VILLAGE WEST 405,396.58      
  Interest Expense 1,337,669.21        DEPRECIATION EXP--VILLAGE EAST 598,135.21      
  Amortization Expense -                       DEPRECIATION EXP--SOUTHSIDE -                   
  Depreciation Expense 3,035,371.11        DEPRECIATION EXP--MARTIN 315,542.78      
  Contingency and Improvement 73,745.00             DEPRECIATION EXP--ARGO 236,070.34      
  Renewals & Replacements 365,347.17           DEPRECIATION EXP-- PACE 230,192.17      
  Adjusted Net Revenue 5,901,428.49        DEPRECIATION EXP-- HERITAGE 485,790.16      

DEPRECIATION EXP-- PRESIDENTS 759,069.86      
Debt Service 2020-2021 Loss on Imparement -                   
  2005 Bond Principal -                       
  2005 Bond Interest OPERATING EXPENSES-PAYROLL 1,890,115.81   
  Rev of prior year acrual (115,764.30)         INTEREST EXPENSE - HOUSING 1,337,669.21   
   Interest Payable 106,435.66           AMORTIZATION EXPENSE - HOUSING -                   
  2009 Bond Principal -                       OPERATING EXPENSES- R&M 1,320,256.56   
  2009 Bond Interest -                       OPERATING EXPENSES-Admin & Gen 319,653.60      
  2010/2015 Bond Interest -                       OPERATING EXPENSES- Utilities 1,366,685.59   
  2010/2015 Bond Principal -                       OPERATING EXPENSES- Insurance 191,017.53      
  2011 Bond Interest -                       OPERATING EXPENSES- Other
  2011 Bond Principal -                       CONSTRUCTION EXP -                   
  2015 Bond Interest -                       
  2015 Bond Principal -                       Total Expenditure 9,460,769.41   
  2016A Bond Interest 937,731.26           Net Income 1,089,296.00   
  2016A Bond Principal 1,325,000.00        
  2016B Bond Interest 147,743.76           
  2016B Bond Principal 705,000.00           
  2016C Bond Interest 303,696.56           
  2016C Bond Principal 848,587.00           
Less Capitalized Interest -                       
    Total Debt Service 2020-2021 4,258,429.94        

Net Revenue 5,901,428.49        
Total Debt Service 4,258,429.94        
Debt Coverage Ratio# 1.386                   

#Debt Coverage Ratio is stated at 1.20 per 
bond documents.  

Bond Convenant Calcuation



Actual 
Other Program Student HSG  Expenses  Budget 

Scholarship  Services System Fundraising General & Admin 9/30/2021 9/30/2021 Variance % Unspent
     Operating Budget

               Advancement Services $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $46.27 $46.27 $6,825.00 $6,778.73 99.32%

               Alumni Relations $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $17,301.52 $17,301.52 $29,662.47 $12,360.95 41.67%

               Board of Directors $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $13,645.70 $13,645.70 $18,649.98 $5,004.28 26.83%

               Development $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $159,290.04 $0.00 $159,290.04 $159,588.00 $297.96 0.19%

               Foundation $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $107,605.40 $107,605.40 $144,585.00 $36,979.60 25.58%

          Total Adv. Division Lines $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $159,290.04 $138,598.89 $297,888.93 $359,310.45 $61,421.52 17.09%

               Executive $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $53,934.87 $53,934.87 $57,551.49 $3,616.62 6.28%

          Total $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $53,934.87 $53,934.87 $57,551.49 $3,616.62 6.28%

     Total of Operating Budget $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $159,290.04 $192,533.76 $351,823.80 $416,861.94 $65,038.14 19.85%

     Non‐Endowed Budget

               Non‐Endowed Budget $0.00 $111,116.82 $0.00 $2,500.00 $31,171.89 $144,788.71 $224,750.01 $79,961.30 35.58%

     Total Non‐Endowed Budget $0.00 $111,116.82 $0.00 $2,500.00 $31,171.89 $144,788.71 $224,750.01 $79,961.30 35.58%

     Other Areas

               Administrative Fee $0.00 $78,492.32 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $78,492.32 $115,000.00 $36,507.68 31.75%

               Housing $0.00 $0.00 $2,016,846.49 $0.00 $0.00 $2,016,846.49 $2,159,729.23 $142,882.74 6.62%

              Other University Accounts $795,371.38 $1,051,825.04 $0.00 $13,545.00 $4,907.39 $1,865,648.81 $1,865,648.81 $0.00 0.00%

          Total $795,371.38 $1,130,317.36 $2,016,846.49 $13,545.00 $4,907.39 $3,960,987.62 $4,140,378.04 $179,390.42 4.33%

     Total Other Areas $795,371.38 $1,130,317.36 $2,016,846.49 $13,545.00 $4,907.39 $3,960,987.62 $4,140,378.04 $179,390.42 4.33%

Grand Total $795,371.38 $1,241,434.18 $2,016,846.49 $175,335.04 $228,613.04 $4,457,600.13 $4,781,989.99 $324,389.86 6.78%

University of West Florida Foundation
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA

BUDGETED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES



Carried Forward Funds
2021 Carry Forward 234,865.86$            
Unspent Prior Year FY 20/21 147,717.77              
Total Carried Forward Budget 382,583.63              

Expensed During 21/22
SBS Promotional Solutions 4,308.14                  
Comm. Engagement 8,000.00                  

Total FY 21/22 Expenses to Date 12,308.14                

Net FY 21/22 Activity 370,275.49              

Net Carry Forward  FY 21/22 370,275.49$            

The University of West Florida Foundation, Inc.
Prior Years Unspent Budget Report

As of September 30, 2021

Unspent Division of Advancement Lines
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Internal Control: A Tool for the Audit Committee 
 
 

PURPOSE OF THIS TOOL: Internal control over financial reporting continues to be a major area of 

importance in the governance of an organization. This tool is intended to give audit committees basic 

information about internal control to understand what it is, what it is not, how it can be used most 

effectively in the organization, and the requirements of management with respect to the system of 

internal control over financial reporting. Note that the primary responsibility of the audit committee with 

respect to internal control is the system of internal control over financial reporting.  

Basics of Internal Control  

In 1992, the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)1 published a 
document called Internal Control—Integrated Framework,2 which defined ` as “a process, effected by an 
entity’s board of directors, management and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the achievement of objectives” in the following three categories:  

1. Effectiveness and efficiency of operations  

2. Reliability of financial reporting  

3. Compliance with applicable laws and regulations  

Internal control can be judged as effective in each of these categories if the board of directors and 
management have reasonable assurance that  

1. they understand the extent to which the organization’s operations objectives are being achieved.  

2. published financial statements are being prepared reliably.  

3. applicable laws and regulations are being complied with.  

The COSO framework consists of five interrelated components as follows:  

1. Control environment. Sometimes referred to as the “tone at the top” of the organization, meaning the 
integrity, ethical values, and competence of the organization’s people; management’s philosophy and 
operating style; the way management assigns authority and responsibility and organizes and develops 
its people; and the attention and direction provided by the board of directors. It is the foundation for all 
other components of internal control, providing discipline and structure. 

2. Risk assessment. The identification and analysis of relevant risks to achieve the objectives that form 
the basis to determine how risks should be managed. This component should address the risks, both 
internal and external, that must be assessed. Before conducting a risk assessment, objectives must be 
set and linked at different levels. 

                                                           
1 The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) consists of the AICPA, the 
Institute of Management Accountants, the Institute of Internal Auditors, Financial Executives International, and the 
American Accounting Association. 
2 The COSO publication Internal Control—Integrated Framework (product code no. 990012), may be purchased 
through the AICPA store at www.cpa2biz.com. The proceeds from the sale of the framework are used to support the 
continuing work of COSO. 
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3. Control activities. Policies and procedures that help ensure that management directives are carried 
out. Control activities occur throughout the organization at all levels in all functions. These include 
activities such as approvals, authorizations, verifications, reconciliations, reviews of operating 
performance, security of assets, and segregation of duties. 

4. Information and communication. Addresses the need in the organization to identify, capture, and 
communicate information to the right people to enable them to carry out their responsibilities. 
Information systems within the organization are key to this element of internal control. Internal 
information, as well as external events, activities, and conditions must be communicated to enable 
management to make informed business decisions and for external reporting purposes. 

5. Monitoring. The internal control system must be monitored by management and others in the 
organization. This is the framework element that is associated with the internal audit function in the 
organization, as well as other means of monitoring such as general management activities and 
supervisory activities. It is important that internal control deficiencies are reported upstream, and that 
serious deficiencies are reported to top management and the board of directors. 

These five components are linked together, thus forming an integrated system that can react dynamically 
to changing conditions. The internal control system is intertwined with the organization’s operating 
activities, and is most effective when controls are built into the organization’s infrastructure, becoming part 
of the very essence of the organization.  

Key Terms in Internal Control  

A few common internal control terms are described as follows:  

Significant deficiency. Defined by Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 115, Communicating 
Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit (AICPA, Professional Standards, vol. 1. AU sec. 
325), a significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  

Material weakness. Defined by SAS No. 115 as a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  

Compensating controls. Some organizations, by virtue of their size, are not able to implement basic 
controls such as segregation of duties. In these cases, it is important that management institute 
compensating controls to cover for the lack of a basic control, or if a basic control is not able to function for 
some period of time.  

What Internal Control Cannot Do  

As important as an internal control structure is to an organization, an effective system is not a guarantee 
that the organization will be successful. An effective internal control structure will keep the right people 
informed about the organization’s progress (or lack of progress) in achieving its objectives, but it cannot 
turn a poor manager into a good one. Internal control cannot ensure success, or even survival.  
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Internal control is not an absolute assurance to management and the board about the organization’s 
achievement of its objectives. It can only provide reasonable assurance due to limitations inherent in all 
internal control systems. For example, breakdowns in the internal control structure can occur due to simple 
error or mistake, as well as faulty judgments that could be made at any level of management. In addition, 
controls can be circumvented by collusion or by management override. Finally, the design of the internal 
control system is a function of the resources available, meaning that a cost-benefit analysis must be in the 
design of the system.  

Roles and Responsibilities  

Everyone in the organization has some role to play in the organization’s internal control system.  

CEO/president/executive director. The CEO has ultimate responsibility and “ownership” of the internal 
control system. The individual in this role sets the tone at the top that affects the integrity and ethics and 
other factors that create the positive control environment needed for the internal control system to thrive. 
Aside from setting the tone at the top, much of the day-to-day operation of the control system is delegated 
to other senior managers in the organization, under the leadership of the CEO.  

CFO/vice president of finance/director of finance. Much of the internal control structure flows through the 
accounting and finance area of the organization under the leadership of the CFO. In particular, controls 
over financial reporting fall within the domain of the CFO. The audit committee should use interactions with 
the CFO and others as a basis for their comfort level on the internal control over financial reporting.  

This is not intended to suggest that the CFO must provide the audit committee with a level of assurance 
regarding the system of internal control over financial reporting. Rather, through interactions with the CFO 
and others, the audit committee should get a gut feeling about the completeness, accuracy, validity, and 
maintenance of the system of internal control over financial reporting.  

Controller/director of accounting or finance. Much of the basics of the control system come under the 
domain of this position. It is key that the controller understands the need for the internal control system, is 
committed to the system, and communicates the importance of the system to all people in the accounting 
organization. Further, the controller must demonstrate respect for the system though his or her actions.  

Internal audit. A main role for the internal audit team is to evaluate the effectiveness of the internal control 
system and contribute to its ongoing effectiveness. With the internal audit team reporting directly to the 
audit committee of the board of directors or the most senior levels of management, or both, it is often this 
function that plays a significant role in monitoring the internal control system. It is important to note that 
many not-for-profits are not large enough to employ an internal audit team. Each organization should 
assess the need for this team in light of available resources.  

Board of directors/audit committee. A strong, active board is necessary. This is particularly important when 
the organization is controlled by an executive or management team with tight reins over the organization 
and the people within the organization. The board should recognize that its scope of oversight of the 
internal control system applies to all the three major areas of control: over operations, over compliance 
with laws and regulations, and over financial reporting. The audit committee is the board’s first line of 
defense with respect to the system of internal control over financial reporting.  
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All other personnel. The internal control system is only as effective as the employees throughout the 
organization that must comply with it. Employees throughout the organization should understand their role 
in internal control and the importance of supporting the system through their own actions and encouraging 
respect for the system by their colleagues throughout the organization.  

Compensating Controls  

It is important to realize that both the design and compliance with the internal control system is important. 
The audit committee should be tuned-in to the tone at the top of the organization as a first indicator of the 
functioning of the internal control system.  

In addition, audit committees should realize that the system of internal control should be scaled to the 
organization. Some organizations will be so small, for example, that they will not be able to have 
appropriate segregation of duties. The message here is that the lack of segregation of duties is not 
automatically a material weakness, or even a reportable condition, depending on the compensating 
controls that are in place.  

For example, suppose an organization’s accounting department is so small that it is not possible to 
segregate duties between the person who does the accounts payable and the person who reconciles the 
bank statements. In this case, that person is one and the same, so the implication is that there are no 
checks and balances on the accounts payable person, who could be writing checks to a personal account, 
then passing on them during the bank reconciliation process (that is, there is no one to raise the red flag 
that personal checks are being written on the organization account).  

Compensating controls could make up for this apparent breach in the internal control system. The following 
are some examples of compensating controls in this situation:  

1. All checks are hand signed by an officer of the organization, rather than using a signature plate that is 
in the control of the person that prepared the checks. 

2. The bank reconciliation may be reviewed by the preparer’s manager.  

3. A periodic report of all checks that are cleared at the bank could be prepared by the bank and 
forwarded to an officer of the organization for review. 

Audit committees should be aware of situations like this and be prepared to ask questions and evaluate the 
answers when an apparent breach in internal control is surfaced.  

Management Override of Controls  

Another area that an audit committee needs to focus on is the ability of management to override internal 
controls over financial reporting to perpetrate a fraud. Examples of techniques used by management in 
overriding internal controls over the financial reporting function include the following:  

 Back dating or forward dating documents to a different period  

 Making adjusting entries during the financial reporting closing process  

 Reclassifying items improperly between the statement of activity and the statement of financial 
condition  
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An audit committee has the responsibility to help prevent or deter a management override of controls. It is 
important for the audit committee to understand that a system exists to uncover an override, as well as 
follow-up to determine its appropriateness. Questions about management override, and the controls over 
management override, as well as audit steps to detect if a management override has occurred, should be 
addressed to the CEO, CFO, and external auditor during the respective executive (in-camera) sessions 
with the audit committee as noted elsewhere in this toolkit.  

Conclusion  

This tool was intended to provide a summary of what is meant by internal control. The concepts are not 
complex, but sometimes the application of internal control can be a challenge in an organization, 
depending on its size and culture. However, it is vitally important to design the system of internal control to 
achieve the objectives of (1) effectiveness and efficiency of operations, (2) reliability of financial reporting, 
and (3) compliance with applicable laws and regulations.  

Simply stated, a strong system of internal control (both in its design and compliance) is good business.  

Internal Control—A Tool for the Audit Committee  

The following tool, “Internal Control—A Tool for the Audit Committee,” contains questions modeled on 
those found in the COSO report, Internal Control—Integrated Framework.  



 

 

Internal Control—A Tool for the Audit Committee 
 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR USING THIS TOOL: This tool is created around the five interrelated 

components of an internal control structure. Within each component is a series of questions that the 

audit committee should focus on to assure itself that controls are in place and functioning. These 

questions should be discussed in an open forum with the individuals who have a basis for responding 

to the questions. The audit committee should ask for detailed answers and examples from the 

management team, including key members of the financial management team, internal auditors, and 

external auditors to assure itself that the system is operating as management represents. Evaluation of 

the internal control structure is not a one-time, but rather a continuous, activity for the audit 

committee—the audit committee should always have its eyes and ears open for potential weaknesses 

in internal control and should continuously probe the responsible parties regarding the operation of the 

system. These questions are written in a manner such that a “no response” indicates a weakness that 

must be addressed. 

 

   Not  
Control Environment—Tone at the Top Yes No Sure Comments 

Integrity and Ethical Values 

 1. Does the organization have a comprehensive 
code of conduct or other policies addressing 
acceptable business practice, conflicts of 
interest, and expected standards of ethical 
and moral behavior? 

X    

 

 2. Is the code distributed to all employees? X    

 3. Are all employees required to annually 
acknowledge that they have read,  
understood, and complied with the code? 

X    

 4. Does management demonstrate through 
actions its own commitment to the code of 
conduct? 

X    

 5. Are dealings with clients and other 
constituents, customers, suppliers, 
employees, and other parties based on 
honesty and fair business practices? 

X    

 6. Does management take appropriate action  
in response to violations of the code of 
conduct? 

X    
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   Not  
Control Environment—Tone at the Top Yes No Sure Comments 

Integrity and Ethical Values (cont.) 

 7. Is management explicitly prohibited from 
overriding established controls? What  
controls are in place to provide reasonable 
assurance that controls are not overridden  
by management? Are deviations from this 
policy investigated and documented?  
Are violations (if any) and the results of 
investigations brought to the attention of the 
audit committee? 

X   Management documents 
any minor exceptions 

to policies.   

 

 8. Is the organization proactive in reducing  
fraud opportunities by (1) identifying and 
measuring fraud risks, (2) taking steps to 
mitigate identified risks, (3) identifying a 
position within the organization to “own”  
the fraud prevention program, and (4) 
implementing and monitoring appropriate 
preventative and detective internal controls 
and other deterrent measures? 

X    

 9. Does the organization use an anonymous 
ethics and fraud hotline and, if so, are 
procedures in place to investigate and report 
results to the audit committee? (See also  
the tool “Sample Whistle-Blower Tracking 
Report,” in this toolkit.) 

X    

Commitment to Competence 

 1. Are the level of competence and the requisite 
knowledge and skills defined for each  
job in the accounting and internal audit 
departments? 

X    

 2. Does management make an effort to 
determine whether the accounting and 
internal audit departments have adequate 
knowledge and skills to do their jobs? 

X    

(continued) 



 

 

   Not  
Control Environment—Tone at the Top Yes No Sure Comments 

Board of Directors and/or Audit Committee 

 1. Are the audit committee’s responsibilities 
defined in a charter? If so, is the charter 
updated annually and approved by the  
board of directors? (See also the tool “Audit 
Committee Charter Matrix,” in this toolkit.) 

X    

 2. Are audit committee members independent  
of the organization and of management?  
Do audit committee members have the 
knowledge, industry experience, and  
financial expertise to serve effectively in their 
role? 

X    

 3. Are a sufficient number of meetings held,  
and are the meetings of sufficient length  
and depth to cover the agenda and provide 
healthy discussion of issues? 

X    

 4. Does the audit committee constructively 
challenge management’s planned decisions, 
particularly in the area of financial reporting, 
and probe the evaluation of past results? 

X   Foundation and Housing 
budgets & financial 

reports are reviewed 
quarterly.  The 
Annual Budget, 

Audited Financial 
Statements, and 990 
are reviewed by the 

committee and 
presented & 

approved by the full 
Board each year. 

 5. Are regular meetings held between the  
audit committee and the CFO, the chief  
audit executive (internal audit), other key 
members of the financial management and 
reporting team, and the external auditors?  
Are executive sessions conducted on a 
regular basis? (See also the tool “Conducting 
an Audit Committee Executive Session: 
Guidelines and Questions,” in this toolkit.) 

X    

 6. Does the audit committee approve internal 
audit’s annual audit plan? 

X   BOT approves internal 
audits plan 

 7. Does the audit committee receive key 
information from management in sufficient 
time in advance of meetings to prepare for 
discussions at the meetings? 

X   Generally 7 – 10 days in 
advance. 



Internal Control: A Tool for the Audit Committee 

 89  
 
Copyright © 2010. AICPA Inc. All Rights Reserved. 
Permission is granted to download the tools and tailor or customize for internal use. 

   Not  
Control Environment—Tone at the Top Yes No Sure Comments 

Board of Directors and/or Audit Committee (cont.) 

 8. Does a process exist for informing audit 
committee members about significant  
issues on a timely basis and in a manner 
conducive to the audit committee having  
a full understanding of the issues and their 
implications? (See also the tool “Significant 
Issues, Estimates, and Judgments: 
Management’s Report to the Audit 
Committee” in this toolkit.)  

X    

 9. Is the audit committee informed about 
personnel turnover in key functions including 
the audit team (both internal and the  
external auditors), senior executives, and  
key personnel in the financial accounting  
and reporting teams? Are unusual employee 
turnover situations observed for patterns or 
other indicators of problems? 

X    

Management’s Philosophy and Operating Style 

 1. Is the accounting department viewed as a 
team of competent professionals bringing 
information, order, and controls to decision-
making? 

X    

 2. Is the selection of accounting practices  
made in the long-term best interest of the 
organization (as opposed to short-term 
benefits)? 

X    

 3. Are assets, including intellectual assets, 
protected from unauthorized access and  
use? 

X    

 4. Do managers respond appropriately to 
unfavorable signals and reports? 

X    

 5. Are estimates and budgets reasonable and 
achievable? 

X    

(continued) 



 

 

   Not  
Control Environment—Tone at the Top Yes No Sure Comments 

Organizational Structure 

 1. Is the organizational structure within the 
accounting function and the internal audit 
function appropriate for the size of the 
organization? 

X    

 2. Are key managers in the accounting and 
internal audit functions given adequate 
definition of their responsibilities? 

X    

 3. Do sufficient numbers of employees exist, 
particularly at the management levels in the 
accounting and internal audit functions, to 
allow those individuals to effectively carry out 
their responsibilities? 

X    

Assignment of Authority and Responsibility 

 1. Is the authority delegated appropriate for the 
responsibilities assigned? 

X    

 2. Are job descriptions in place for management 
and supervisory personnel in the accounting 
and internal audit functions? 

X    

 3. Do senior managers get involved as needed 
to provide direction, address issues, correct 
problems, and implement improvements? 

X    

Human Resources Policies and Practices 

 1. Are policies and procedures in place for 
hiring, training, promoting, and compensating 
employees in the accounting and internal 
audit functions? 

X   The Foundation follows 
UWF HR policies. 

 2. Do employees understand that sub-standard 
performance will result in remedial action? 

X    

 3. Is remedial or corrective action taken in 
response to departures from approved 
policies? 

X    

 4. Do employees understand the performance 
criteria necessary for promotions and salary 
increases? 

X    
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   Not  
Control Environment—Tone at the Top Yes No Sure Comments 

Risk Assessment 

 1. Has the organization conducted a systematic 
assessment of the risk of failure in its internal 
control environment and identified the likely 
areas of weakness? (See the “Enterprise Risk 
Management—The COSO Framework: A 
Primer and Tool for the Audit Committee” in 
this toolkit.) 

X    

 2. Does the organization consider risks from 
external sources such as creditor demands, 
economic conditions, regulation, or labor 
relations? 

X    

 3. Does the organization consider risks from 
internal sources such as cash management, 
investment management and documentation, 
information systems security, and backup 
systems? 

X    

 4. Is the risk of a misstatement of the financial 
statements considered, and are steps taken  
to mitigate that risk? 

X    

 5. If applicable, are the risks associated with 
foreign and offshore operations considered, 
including their impact on the financial 
reporting process? 

X    

Control Activities 

 1. Does the organization have a process in  
place to ensure that controls as described  
in its policy and procedures manuals  
are applied as they are meant to be  
applied? Do the policy and procedures 
manuals document all important policies  
and procedures? Are these policies and 
procedures reviewed and updated on a 
regular basis? If so, by whom? 

X   We have multiple policies 
and procedures.  
Processes are 

reviewed at least 
annually and the 

written procedures 
updated if necessary.  

Board policies are 
updated as required.  

 2. Do supervisory personnel review the 
functioning of controls? If so, how is that 
review conducted and how are the results 
used? Is appropriate and timely follow-up 
action taken on exceptions? 

X   Review is incorporated 
into controls and 
effectiveness is 
monitored on a 
continual basis.  

Function of controls 
also reviewed 

annually by auditors. 

(continued) 



 

 

   Not  
Control Environment—Tone at the Top Yes No Sure Comments 

Information and Communication 

 1. Is a process in place to collect information 
from external sources, such as industry, 
economic, and regulatory information, that 
could have an impact on the organization or 
the financial reporting process, or both? 

X   Management regularly 
receive & review 
publications from 

AICPA, CASE, IRS, 
etc., participate in list 

serves, attend 
various conferences 
(CASE, SUS FL Fnd) 

 2. Are milestones to achieve financial reporting 
objectives monitored to ensure that timing 
deadlines are met? 

X   Monitor FL BOG requests 
calendar, Foundation 
calendar, University 

deadlines, etc. 

 3. Is necessary operational and financial 
information communicated to the right  
people in the organization on a timely basis 
and in a format that facilitates its use, 
including new or changed policies and 
procedures? 

X    

 4. Is a process in place to respond to new 
information needs in the organization on a 
timely basis? 

X    

 5. Is a process in place to collect and document 
errors or complaints to analyze, determine 
cause, and prevent a problem from recurring 
in the future? 

X    

 6. Is a process established and communicated 
to officers, employees, and others, about  
how to communicate suspected instances  
of wrongdoing by the organization or 
employees of the organization? Further, does 
a process exist to ensure that anyone making 
such a report is protected from retaliation  
for making one? (See also the tool “Sample 
Whistle-Blower Tracking Report,” in this 
toolkit.) 

X   Employees are 
encouraged to bring 

problems to the 
attention of others.  

There is a link to the 
whistleblower site on 

the Foundation 
website. 

Monitoring 

 1. Do officers and employees understand  
their obligation to communicate observed 
weaknesses in design or compliance  
with the internal control structure of the 
organization to the appropriate supervisory  
or management personnel? 

X    
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   Not  
Control Environment—Tone at the Top Yes No Sure Comments 

Monitoring (cont.) 

 2. Are interactions with external stakeholders 
periodically evaluated to determine if  
they are indicative of a weakness in the 
internal control structure? (For example, 
consider the frequency of complaints  
about incorrect invoices, statements, and 
acknowledgments.) 

X    

 3. Is there follow-up on recommendations  
from the internal and external auditors for 
improvements to the internal control system? 

X    

 4. Are personnel required to sign off, indicating 
their performance of critical control activities 
such as performing reconciliations? 

X    

 5. Does the internal audit team have the right 
number of competent and experienced  
staff? Do they have access to the board  
of directors and audit committee? Is the 
reporting structure in place to ensure their 
objectivity and independence? Is the work  
of the internal audit team appropriate to the 
organization’s needs, and prioritized with the 
audit committee’s direction? 

X    
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Fraud and the Responsibilities of the Audit Committee: 
An Overview 

 
 

PURPOSE OF THIS TOOL: An audit committee should take an active role in the prevention and 

deterrence of fraud, as well as an effective ethics and compliance program. The audit committee should 

constantly challenge management and the auditors to ensure that the organization has appropriate 

antifraud programs and controls in place to identify potential fraud and ensure that investigations are 

undertaken if fraud is detected. The audit committee should take an interest in ensuring that appropriate 

action is taken against known perpetrators of fraud.  

This tool is intended to make audit committee members aware of their responsibilities as they undertake 

this important role. This tool highlights areas of activity that may require additional scrutiny by the audit 

committee. 

Fraud can be very costly to all types of organizations, including not-for-profit organizations. According to 
the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE), U.S. organizations lose an estimated 7 percent of 
annual revenues to fraud.1 Their research also indicates that there is anecdotal evidence that fraud at not-
for-profit organizations may be even higher. This is due to the fact that not-for-profit organizations are not 
implementing the most effective fraud controls, such as whistle-blower hotlines and management review of 
financial statements, and are focusing their resources on the least effective fraud controls.2 The cost of 
fraud not only includes the financial cost, but also costs such as damage to the organization’s reputation, 
potential loss of donors or other resource providers, loss of management and board expertise, and many 
other nonfinancial costs.  

Definition and Categories of Fraud  

An understanding of fraud is essential for the audit committee to carry out its responsibilities. The term 
fraud is defined in Black’s Law Dictionary (Sixth Edition, 1990) as  

An intentional perversion of truth for the purpose of inducing another in reliance upon it to part with some 
valuable thing belonging to him or to surrender a legal right. A false representation of a matter of fact, 
whether by words or by conduct, by false or misleading allegations, or by concealment of that which should 
have been disclosed, which deceives and is intended to deceive another so that he shall act upon it to his 

legal injury … A generic term, embracing all multifarious means which human ingenuity can devise, and 
which are resorted to by one individual to get advantage over another by false suggestions or by 
suppression of truth, and includes all surprise, trick, cunning, dissembling, and any unfair way by which 
another is cheated.  

 

                                                           
1 Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE), 2008 Report to the Nation on Occupational Fraud and Abuse, 
Austin, TX: ACFE, 2008, p 8. 
2 ACFE, 2008 Report to the Nation on Occupational Fraud and Abuse, Austin, TX: ACFE, 2008, p 40. 
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The ACFE defines occupational fraud as  

The use of one’s occupation for personal enrichment through deliberate misuse or misapplication of the 
employing organization’s resources or assets3 

The audit committee also needs to be aware that fraud affecting the organization often falls within one of 
the following three categories:  

 Management fraud, which involves senior management’s intentional misrepresentation of financial 
statements, or theft or improper use of an organization’s resources.  

 Employee fraud, which involves nonsenior employee theft or improper use of an organization’s 
resources.  

 External fraud, which involves theft or improper use of resources by people who are neither 
management, nor employees of the firm.  

This categorization of fraud is useful, but not absolute. Middle management employees may intentionally 
misrepresent financial statement transactions, for example, to improve their apparent performance, or 
outside individuals may collude with organization management or employees.  

Roles of the Audit Committee in the Prevention, Deterrence, Investigation, and Discovery 
or Detection of Fraud  

The members of the audit committee should understand their role of ensuring that the organization has 
antifraud programs and controls in place to help prevent fraud, and aid in its discovery if it does occur, to 
properly fulfill their fiduciary duties of the following:  

1. Monitoring the financial reporting process  

2. Monitoring the internal control system  

3. Overseeing the external audit and internal audit functions  

4. Reporting findings to the board of directors  

5. Monitoring and overseeing the whistle-blower policy and hotline  

Guidance to boards of directors and trustees, audit committees, and management to help prevent, deter, 
and detect fraud is contained in the AICPA’s Antifraud & Corporate Responsibility Resource Center 
available at www.aicpa.org/antifraud/homepage.htm. The information contained in the center can be 
viewed from different user perspectives for a personalized focus on the issues.  

Not-for-profit organizations can use the specific requirements for audit committees as outlined in the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Securities and Exchange Commission rules as a guide. The requirements can 
be obtained from the AICPA Web site at www.aicpa.org/sarbanes/index.asp.  

The audit committee should ensure that the organization has implemented an effective ethics and 
compliance program, and that it is periodically tested. Because the occurrence of significant frauds can 
frequently be attributed to an override of internal controls, the audit committee plays an important role to 
ensure that internal controls address the appropriate risk areas and are functioning as designed.  

                                                           
3 ACFE, 2008 Report to the Nation on Occupational Fraud and Abuse, Austin, TX: ACFE, 2008, p 6.  
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Internal auditors and external auditors can serve a vital role in aiding in fraud prevention and deterrence. 
Internal audit staff and external auditors that are experienced and trained in fraud prevention and 
deterrence can help to provide assurance that (1) risks are effectively identified and monitored, (2) 
organizational processes are effectively controlled and tested periodically, and (3) appropriate follow-up 
action is taken to address control weaknesses. The audit committee needs to ensure that internal and 
external auditors are carrying out their responsibilities in connection with potential fraud.  

Whistle-Blowers  

According to the ACFE, the most effective method for detection of fraud has historically been tips.4 In many 
cases, these tips are obtained through the use of whistle-blower policies and hotlines. Not-for-profit 
organizations must establish procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by 
the organization regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters; and the 
confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the organization of concerns regarding questionable 
accounting or auditing matters (see Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Title III, Section 301.) In many 
organizations, the audit committee is significantly involved monitoring the whistle-blower process. The audit 
committee chair or the entire committee may be involved in the primary investigation and review of the 
whistle-blower complaints and reporting. In addition, some organizations have designated the audit 
committee chair or an audit committee member as the individual who initially receives whistle-blower 
reports. See also the “Sample Whistle-Blower Tracking Report” in this toolkit.  

When Fraud Is Discovered  

Fraud can be discovered through many sources, namely, internal or external auditors, forensic accounting 
consultants, employees, vendors, and others. Establishing a confidential hotline can also be an important 
source of information leading to fraud discovery, as part of an organization’s overall ethics, compliance, 
and fraud prevention program. Although a confidential hotline is something that could be accomplished 
internally, a variety of outside service providers can be engaged to provide this service for the organization.  

If fraud or improprieties are asserted or discovered, the audit committee—through the external auditors, 
internal auditors, or forensic accounting consultants, as appropriate—should investigate, and, if necessary, 
retain legal counsel to assert claims on the organization’s behalf. Forensic accounting consultants, in 
particular, may be needed to provide the depth of skills necessary to conduct a fraud investigation and, if it 
is desirable, to get an external assessment.  

If fraud is discovered or there is a reasonable basis to believe that fraud may have occurred, the audit 
committee is responsible for ensuring that an investigation is undertaken. Criteria should be in place 
describing the audit committee’s level of involvement, based on the severity of the offense. Most audit 
committees will also want to obtain information about all violations of the law and the organization’s 
policies.  

Forensic accounting consultants can also frequently provide audit committees with other related advisory 
services, namely, (1) evaluations of controls designs and operating effectiveness through compliance 
verification, (2) creation of special investigations units , (3) incident management committees, (4) 
disclosure risk controls, (5) ethics hotlines, (6) code of conduct, and other antifraud measures.  

The audit committee can engage the audit firm to carry out a forensic or fraud investigation. If CPA forensic 
accountants are engaged by the organization’s general counsel, rather than the audit committee, they may 
potentially attain attorney-client privilege status, not otherwise available under normal circumstances.  

                                                           
4 ACFE, 2008 Report to the Nation on Occupational Fraud and Abuse, Austin, TX: ACFE, 2008, p 20. 



The AICPA Audit Committee Toolkit: Not-for-Profit Organizations 

 98 
 

Copyright © 2010. AICPA Inc. All Rights Reserved. 
Permission is granted to download the tools and tailor or customize for internal use. 

Expertise of Forensic Accounting Consultants  

In some situations, it may be necessary for an organization to look beyond the external audit team for 
expertise in the fraud area. In such cases, forensic accounting consultants can provide additional 
assurance or advanced expertise because they have special training and experience in fraud prevention, 
deterrence, investigation, and detection. Forensic accounting consultants may also provide fresh insights 
into the organization’s operations, control systems, and risks. The work of forensic accounting consultants 
may also provide comfort for the organization’s CEO and CFO. Forensic accounting consultants, however, 
cannot act as an insurer to prevent or detect fraud.  

Many forensic accountants have obtained specific training in the identification and detection of fraud and 
may have additional designations such as certified fraud examiner. More information about certified fraud 
examiners may be located at the Web site for the ACFE at www.acfe.com  

Conclusion  

The public is demanding greater vigilance from all parties involved in organizational governance, thus 
increasing the need to fight fraud. Audit committees are required to play a pivotal role in the prevention and 
deterrence of fraud, and to take appropriate action in the discovery of fraud. External public accountants, 
hired by audit committees, and internal auditors will continue to play an important part in the process. 
Forensic accounting consultants have emerged, however, as vital, newly recognized allies. Qualified 
forensic accounting consultants have the education, training, and experience to provide additional 
assistance to audit committees so they may better carry out their fiduciary responsibilities in the fight 
against fraud.  
 
 



 

 

To Management and the Board of Directors  
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
Pensacola, Florida 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”) 
for the year ended June 30, 2021.  Professional standards require that we provide you with information about 
our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards as well as 
certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such 
information in our letter to you dated April 19, 2021.  Professional standards also require that we communicate 
to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Matters 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The significant 
accounting policies used by the Foundation are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.  No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during the year ended 
June 30, 2021. We noted no transactions entered into by the Foundation during the year for which there is a lack 
of authoritative guidance or consensus.  All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on 
management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. 
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements 
and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  
The most sensitive estimates affecting the Foundation’s financial statements were: 
 

Management’s estimate of the fair value and collectability of promises to give is based on signed pledge 
cards, historical collection rates and an analysis of the collectability of individual promises.  Management’s 
periodic evaluation of this estimate and the underlying assumptions used are based on the Foundation’s 
experience, various known and inherent risks, and current economic conditions.   
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Management’s estimate of the fair value of investments is based on various methods, which include 
unadjusted quoted market prices, observable inputs based on both active and inactive markets, and 
unobservable inputs that are supported by little market activity.  Management’s periodic evaluation of this 
estimate is based on the Foundation’s experience, various known and inherent risks, and current economic 
conditions.   
 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users.  The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 
 

 The disclosure of long-term investments, related net return on investments, and fair value measurements 
in Note 2 to the financial statements.   
 

 The disclosure of endowment fund investment and spending policies under Florida UPMIFA in Note 9 
to the financial statements. 
 

 The disclosure regarding the impact of COVID-19 in Note 6 and 12 to the financial statements. 
 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.  
Appendix A summarizes uncorrected misstatements of the financial statements.  Management has determined 
that their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a 
whole.  In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by 
management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole.   
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the 
auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated October 7, 2021. 
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Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters, 
similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation involves application of an 
accounting principle to the Foundation’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion 
that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to 
check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such 
consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Foundation’s auditors.  However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which is required 
supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements.  Our procedures consisted of 
inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge 
we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We did not audit the RSI and do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
  
We were engaged to report on the following supplementary information, which accompanies the financial 
statements but are not RSI.  With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of 
management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the 
information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete 
in relation to our audit of the financial statements.  We compared and reconciled the supplementary information 
to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements 
themselves. 
 

a. Schedules of Student Housing System Revenues and Expenses 
b. Schedules of Net Position (Excluding the Student Housing System) 
c. Schedules of Functional Expenses       
d. Chairs Under Eminent Scholars Program - Schedule of Receipts, Expenses and Endowment Balances 
e. Major Gifts Program - Schedule of Receipts, Expenses and Endowment Balances 
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Restriction on Use 
 
This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Foundation’s audit committee, Board of 
Directors, and management, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
 
Pensacola, Florida 
October 7, 2021 
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APPENDIX A 
      

University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements 

As of and for the Year Ended June 30, 2021 
 
 

Proposed JE #  301       
Adjust SPIA beginning balances to fair market value. 

    
10-10104 CASH @ SPIA- FOUNDATION  51,441.00   
10-10300 CASH @ SPIA - COURTELIS  12,958.00   
97-10203 CASH @ SPIA - HOUSING RESERVE  154,823.00   
97-10205 CASH @ SPIA - HOUSING OPERATING  4,206.00   
28-42400 UNREALIZED GAIN/LOSS     64,399.00 
97-42400 Unrealized gain/loss     159,029.00 

Total   223,428.00  223,428.00 

      
Proposed JE #  302       
To true-up fair market value to 6/30/21 investment balance per account 
confirmations. 

10-14720 PORTFOLIO ADV V PRIV EQUITY 69,639.00 
10-14725 PORTFOLIO ADV VII PRIV EQUITY 140,273.00 
10-14730 PA DIRECT CREDIT OPPORTUNITIES FUND II  21,996.00   
10-14731 PA DIRECT CREDIT OPPORTUNITIES FUND III  67,573.00   
10-14735 PA SECONDARY FUND III (OFFSHORE), L.P.  441,198.00   
10-14740 PORTFOLIO ADV X PRIV EQUITY  444,956.00   
10-14745 PA SECONDARY FUND IV (OFFSHORE), L.P.  128,955.00   
10-14750 GOLUB CAPITAL PARTNERS  37,738.00   
29-42400 UNREALIZED GAIN/LOSS     1,352,328.00 

Total   1,352,328.00  1,352,328.00 

      
Proposed JE #  303       
To record the current year effect of prior year passed audit adjustment 
#302. 

    
28-34000 NET ASSETS - TEMP RESTRICTED 

OTHER  85,235.00   
29-42400 UNREALIZED GAIN/LOSS     85,235.00 

Total   85,235.00  85,235.00 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
Pensacola, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. (the 
“Foundation”) (a component unit of the University of West Florida), as of and for the years ended 
June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Foundation’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our 
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
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Board of Directors 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the Foundation as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the respective changes in financial 
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We 
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Foundation’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying supplementary information as listed 
in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial 
statements.  The Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance is included in the compliance section, 
as required by Chapter 10.650, Rules of Auditor General, and for purposes of additional analysis is not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. 
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Board of Directors 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
 
 
The Schedules of Student Housing System Revenues and Expenses, Net Position (Excluding the Student 
Housing System), Functional Expenses, Receipts, Expenses, and Endowment Balances for the Chairs Under 
Eminent Scholars Program, Major Gifts Program and Expenditures of State Financial Assistance are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our 
opinion, these schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as 
a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 7, 2021, on 
our consideration of the Foundation’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of 
that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation’s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Foundation’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
Pensacola, Florida 
October 7, 2021 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED  
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
Pensacola, Florida 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the University of West Florida 
Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”) (a component unit of the University of West Florida), as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Foundation’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 7, 2021.   
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Foundation’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Board of Directors 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have 
not been identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Foundation’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective 
of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Pensacola, Florida 
October 7, 2021 
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UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC. 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020 

(UNAUDITED) 
 
 
 
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) provides an overview of the financial position and 
activities of the University of West Florida Foundation, Inc (the “Foundation”) as of and for the years ended 
June 30, 2021 and 2020. 
 
The Foundation is presented as a discrete component unit of the University of West Florida (the “University” or 
“UWF”).  The Foundation’s mission is to exclusively support and enhance the University’s mission of teaching, 
research, and service as determined by the University of West Florida Board of Trustees (“BOT”). 
 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, as promulgated by the Government Accounting Standards Board 
(“GASB”).   
 
It is noteworthy that in the year ended June 30, 2019, a transition from Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”) standards was made to the GASB standards.  This was driven by a change in Florida Statute 
1004.28(3) which in part requires the approval of the Foundation’s board members by the BOT.  See the notes 
to the financial statements for a summary of the Foundation’s significant accounting policies. 
 
Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements - Management’s Discussion and Analysis – 
for Public Colleges and Universities, the Foundation’s basic financial statements include the statements of net 
position; the statements of revenue, expenses and changes in net position; the statements of cash flows, and 
other required supplemental information. 
 
The Statement of Net Position 
 
The statements of net position reflect the assets, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources of the Foundation 
and present the financial position of the Foundation at a specified time.  Assets less liabilities and deferred 
inflows equal net position, which is one indicator of the Foundation’s current financial condition.  The changes 
in net position that occur over time indicate improvement or deterioration in the Foundation’s financial 
condition.  Restricted net position is comprised of expendable and nonexpendable and consists of assets that 
have constraints placed upon their use either by external donors or creditors or through laws or regulations 
imposed through constitutional provisions or enabling legislature.  Nonexpendable assets represent endowment 
assets whose principal cannot be spent and are required by the donor to be held in perpetuity.  Net investment in 
capital assets includes net capital assets less outstanding bonds payable.  Unrestricted net position consists of 
net assets that do not meet the definition of restricted or net investment in capital assets. 
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UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC. 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020 

(UNAUDITED) 
 
 
 
The Statements of Net Position (Continued) 
 
The following is a summary of the Foundation’s statements of net position as of June 30, 2021 and the 
preceding years. 
 

A sset s:

Current as s e ts    $ 18,901,054         $ 8,690,974          $ 10,210,080         117.5% $ 7,728,986          $ 961,988              12.4%

No ncurrent a s s e ts 174,302,492      155,874,459      18,428,033        11.8% 158,145,918        (2,271,459)         -1.4%

To t al A sset s    $ 193,203,546      $ 164,565,433      $ 28,638,113         17.4% $ 165,874,904      $ (1,309,471)          -0.8%

Liab il it ies:

Current liabilities    $ 4,155,638           $ 3,763,835          $ 391,803              10.4% $ 3,357,778          $ 406,057             12.1%

No ncurrent liabilitie s     38,491,441         41,181,419           (2,689,978)        -6.5% 44,353,273       (3,171,854)          -7.2%

To ta l liabilities     42,647,079       44,945,254       (2,298,175)         -5.1% 47,711,051          (2,765,797)        -5.8%

D ef erred  Inf lows o f  R esources:

Split-inte res t agreements         1,904,789           1,409,663           495,126              35.1% 904,831              504,832             55.8%

N et  Posit io n:

Net inves tment in capita l a s s e ts        9,998,870          9,281,608           717,262              7.7% 9,719,281            (437,673)            -4.5%

Unres tric ted     3,663,551           1,826,071            1,837,480           100.6% 985,269             840,802             85.3%

Res tric ted -       

Expendable    68,588,137        43,589,586       24,998,551        57.3% 45,873,580       (2,283,994)        -5.0%

No nexpendable    66,401,120         63,513,251         2,887,869          4.5% 60,680,892       2,832,359          4.7%

To ta l ne t po s itio n    148,651,678       118,210,516         30,441,162         25.8% 117,259,022       951,494              0.8%

To t al Liab il i t ies, D ef erred      

Inf lo ws and  N et  Po sit ion      $ 193,203,546      $ 164,565,433      $ 28,638,113         17.4% $ 165,874,904      $ (1,309,471)          -0.8%

Do lla r P ercentage

2021 2020 Change Change

2020-20192021-2020

2019

Do lla r P ercentage

Change Change
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The Statements of Net Position (Continued) 
 
The Foundation’s assets totaled $193.2 million as of June 30, 2021.  Current assets contribute $18.9 million and 
consist primarily of funds available to meet current obligations.  Noncurrent assets contribute $174.3 million 
and consist primarily of investments expected to be held and net capital assets.  This balance reflects an increase 
of $28.6 million compared to June 30, 2020.  The total increase in assets is primarily related to an increase in 
cash and cash equivalents, return on investments (current and noncurrent), and Housing receivables.   
 
The Foundation’s liabilities total $42.7 million as of June 30, 2021.  This is composed of $4.2 million in current 
liabilities including accounts payable and accrued expenses along with current year debt service amounts.  Total 
noncurrent liabilities are $38.5 million which consists of long-term debt and other obligations extending out 
more than one year.  The amount of total liabilities reflects a decrease of $2.3 million related primarily to a 
paydown of bonds for student housing.  
 
Deferred inflows of resources of $1.9 million represent planned giving donations made under split interest 
agreements and will be available in future years, net of liabilities owed to other beneficiaries. 
 
Net position totals $148.7 million and is made up of $8.6 million of net investment in capital assets and $5.1 
million in unrestricted net assets.  It also includes $68.6 million in restricted expendable net assets and $66.4 
million in restricted nonexpendable net assets.  The total net position has increased by $30.4 million compared 
to prior year.  The primary contributor to this change was an increase of restricted expendable net assets by $25 
million.   
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The Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
 
Change in net position is based on the activity presented in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in 
net position.  The purpose of this statement is to present the revenues earned and the expenses incurred by the 
Foundation.  Revenue, expenses, and changes in net position of the Foundation for the years ended 
June 30, 2021 and 2020 are presented in the following table: 
 

Opera ting revenues     $ 42,683,596       $ 15,242,479        $ 27,441,117          180.0% $ 20,065,540 $ (4,823,061)         -24.0%

Opera ting expens es      18,076,763        18,628,082        (551,319)              -3.0% 19,235,850 (607,768)            -3.2%

Opera ting inco me (lo s s )         24,606,833       (3,385,603)        27,992,436       -826.8% 829,690 (4,215,293) -508.1%

No no perating revenues 3,027,795          1,491,625            1,536,170            100.0% -                       1,491,625            100.0%

Other changes  in ne t po s itio n      2,806,534          2,845,472          (38,938)              -1.4% 1,165,507 1,679,965           144.1%

Change  in net po s itio n          30,441,162         951,494              29,489,668       3099.3% 1,995,197            (1,043,703)         -52.3%

Net po s itio n, beginning o f year          118,210,516         117,259,022       951,494              0.8% 115,263,825 1,995,197            1.7%

Net po s itio n, end o f year       $ 148,651,678       $ 118,210,516         $ 30,441,162         25.8% $ 117,259,022       $ 951,494              0.8%

Do lla r P ercentage

2021 2020 Change Change 2019

Do llar

Change Change

P ercentage

2021-2020 2020-2019

 
 
Operating revenues total $42.7 million and are primarily composed of $27.6 million of net unrealized and 
realized gain (loss) on investments, $8.2 million related to the student housing system, and $5.1 million of 
contributions. 
 
Operating expenses total $18.1 million and are primarily composed of $9 million related to the student housing 
system, $4.8 million of services to the University, $1.6 million of scholarships to students, and $2 million in 
general and administrative expenses.  
 
Operating income is $24.6 million, nonoperating revenues are $3 million, and contributions to endowments are 
$2.8 million for fiscal year 2021.  As a result, net position increased by $30.4 million.   
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The Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Continued) 
 
Overall, financial position and operations were favorable with investments showing strong returns by 
approximately $29 million.  Total expenses were down about $441,000 at $18.1 million and revenues (operating 
and nonoperating) increased by $29 million.  The economic outlook looks to be somewhat improved with 
exceptionally low interest rates and a positive annual gross domestic product (“GDP”).  The 10-year treasury is 
yielding between 1%-1.5% and the expansion has been impacted by COVID-19 pandemic in the United States 
reflected in a GDP of about 6.5% in the second quarter of 2021. 
 
The Statements of Cash Flows 
 
The statement of cash flows is important to readers because it shows the Foundation’s ability to generate cash 
required for its operations and payment of obligations in a timely fashion.  It also provides information 
regarding decisions made by management as to the use of cash available.   
 
The statement of cash flows shows the cash provided by and used in operating, investing, capital and related 
financing activities, and noncapital activities.   
 

 Operating activities include funds received (i.e. private donors, student rents, interest and dividends) and 
payments (i.e. for programs, programmatic equipment, materials, and supplies) made for the Foundation 
and the University. 
 

 Investing activities represent funds used to purchase investments, proceeds from sales of investments, 
and the funds held for West Florida Historic Trust. 
 

 Capital and related financing activities include the purchase of property and equipment and the principal 
payments on the bonds, and insurance proceeds related to Housing.  
 

 Noncapital and related financing activities include funds received for endowments and university 
support for Housing’s lost revenue.  
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Economics Factors That Will Affect the Future 
 
The economic outlook of the Foundation is affected by several factors, including contributions, return on 
investments, continued COVID-19 pandemic uncertainty, and the State of Florida legislative changes.  Annual 
contributions and endowments have a direct impact on enhancing University programs.  With the exception of 
the COVID-19 uncertainty, the Foundation is not aware of currently known facts, decisions, or conditions that 
are expected to have a significant effect on the overall financial position or results of operations during the 2021 
fiscal year.   
 
Requests for Information 
 
Questions concerning information provided in the MD&A or requests for additional information should be 
addressed to the University of West Florida Foundation, 1000 University Parkway, Building 12, Pensacola, FL 
32514 or by calling (850) 474-3380. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
 



Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,409,254 $ 1,990,710
Contributions receivable, net                      823,396           454,886
Other receivables, net                 1,063,616        177,946           
Due from University     3,055,079        353,218
Prepaid expenses                     177,537           321,192           
Investments      9,372,172        5,393,022

Total current assets         18,901,054      8,690,974

Noncurrent Assets:

Restricted cash reserves               1,455,372 1,385,471
Contributions receivable, net                      3,143,886        3,773,646        
Investments      117,228,261    96,539,704
Capital assets, net      48,154,304 50,259,288
Assets held under split interest agreements                        3,955,132        3,559,423        
Other assets                   365,537 356,927

Total noncurrent assets         174,302,492    155,874,459

Total Assets                  $ 193,203,546    $ 164,565,433    

Current Liabilities:                     

Accounts payable and accrued expenses                    $ 1,277,051        $ 983,762
Bonds payable, net                 2,878,587        2,780,073

Total current liabilities                    4,155,638        3,763,835        

Noncurrent Liabilities:                     

Liabilities under split-interest agreements        1,934,571        2,033,988        
Due to West Florida Historic Trust       1,280,023        949,824
Bonds payable, net                 35,276,847      38,197,607

Total noncurrent liabilities                    38,491,441      41,181,419      

Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Split-interest agreements      1,904,789        1,409,663        

Net Position:                      

Net investment in capital assets      9,998,870        9,281,608        
Unrestricted           3,663,551        1,826,071        
Restricted -                       

Expendable                           68,588,137      43,589,586      
Nonexpendable          66,401,120      63,513,251      

Total net position       148,651,678    118,210,516    

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Net Position                      $ 193,203,546    $ 164,565,433    

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND NET POSITION

2021 2020

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC.

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020

ASSETS

A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA

The accompanying notes are an integral
 part of these financial statements.
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Operating Revenues:           
Contributions                 $ 5,094,906 $ 5,037,675
Interest and dividend income       965,056 1,501,450
Net unrealized and realized gain (loss) on investments       27,587,029       (437,898)        
Student housing system                   8,234,829 8,272,853
University support - non cash     722,752 770,611
Other operating revenues                         79,024 97,788

Total operating revenues          42,683,596       15,242,479     

Operating Expenses:                 
Scholarships       1,649,038 1,508,017
Other program services               4,826,229 5,304,458
Student housing system        9,033,469 9,332,891
Fundraising services               593,146 541,361
General and administrative      1,974,881 1,941,355

Total operating expenses            18,076,763       18,628,082     

Operating Income (Loss) 24,606,833       (3,385,603)     

Nonoperating Revenues:      
University support       1,876,379 1,491,625       
Insurance proceeds net of loss on disposal 1,151,416 -                 

Total nonoperating revenues 3,027,795 1,491,625       

Net Income (Loss) Before Other Changes in Net Position 27,634,628       (1,893,978)     

Other Changes in Net Position:
Endowed contributions           2,806,534 2,845,472

Change in Net Position      30,441,162       951,494          

Net Position, Beginning of Year 118,210,516     117,259,022

Net Position, End of Year            $ 148,651,678     $ 118,210,516   

2021 2020

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC.
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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Cash Flows From Operating Activities:               

Cash receipts from contributions               $ 5,356,156      $ 4,859,863      
Interest and dividends received       965,056         1,501,450      
Cash receipts from student housing system          8,234,829      8,272,853      
Cash receipts from other operating revenues                   363,600         189,406         
Cash paid for operating expenses                (14,887,267)   (14,482,180)   

Net cash provided by operating activities              32,374           341,392         

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:                  

Purchase of investment securities                         (34,545,943)   (13,801,767)   
Proceeds from sales of investment securities              37,465,265    13,534,891    
Due to West Florida Historic Trust      330,199         (223,683)        

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities       3,249,521      (490,559)        

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities:       

Acquisition of property and equipment               (1,509,346)     (14,001)          
Bond principal payments      (2,822,246)     (2,722,543)     
Insurance proceeds 731,608         -                 

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities                    (3,599,984)     (2,736,544)     

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:       

Endowment contributions                 2,806,534      2,845,472      
University support      -                 1,491,625      

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities       2,806,534      4,337,097      

Net Increase in Cash          2,488,445      1,451,386      

Cash, Beginning of Year              3,376,181 1,924,795      

Cash, End of Year               $ 5,864,626      $ 3,376,181      

Displayed As:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,409,254      $ 1,990,710      
Noncurrent restricted cash reserves               1,455,372      1,385,471      

$ 5,864,626      $ 3,376,181      

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC.

2021 2020

A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.
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Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net       
Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities:               
Operating income (loss)        $ 24,606,833    $ (3,385,603)     
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to                 

Net cash provided by operating activities - 
Net unrealized and realized (gain) loss on long-term investments     (27,587,029)   437,898         
Bad debt expense (recovery)                    (16,493)          29,506           
Loss on disposal of assets     -                 35                  
Change in fair value of -               

Contributions receivable              160,341         -                 
Cash surrender value of insurance policies                (8,610)            (9,450)            

Depreciation                 3,124,229 3,174,182
Change in operating assets and liabilities -                 

Contributions receivable              82,190           (187,847)        
Other receivables               59,451           38,216           
Due from University      (825,482)        33,931           
Prepaid expenses                     143,655         (95,831)          
Accounts payable and accrued expenses                    293,289         306,355         

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 32,374           $ 341,392         

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:               
Interest paid               $ 1,454,809 $ 1,558,544

2021 2020

(Continued)

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC.
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

-15-



 

-16- 
 

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC. 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020 

 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
  Reporting Entity: 

 
The University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”) was organized as a Florida not-for-
profit corporation in 1965 for the purpose of soliciting, receiving, and administering gifts and bequests of 
property and funds for scientific, educational, and charitable purposes, all for the advancement of the 
University of West Florida (the “University”) and its objectives.  The Foundation is a direct-support 
organization of the University, as provided for in Section 1004.28, Florida Statutes, and Rule 6C-9.011, 
Florida Administrative Code, and therefore is considered a component unit of the University. 
 
The Foundation is considered a discrete component unit of the University due to the University’s 
governance and budgetary oversight responsibility and due to the Foundation’s significant operational and 
financial relationship with the University. 
 
The Foundation owns the Student Housing System and is responsible for the management thereof, along 
with the associated revenues, expenses and debt related to the operation of these projects as further 
described in Note 11 to the financial statements.   
 

  Basis of Accounting: 
 
The Foundation follows standards of accounting and financial reporting that are generally accepted in the 
United States of America for governmental business-type activities.  The Foundation’s financial 
statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting, which recognizes revenue when earned and expenses as incurred. 
 

  Fund Accounting: 
 
To help ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources, the accounts of 
the Foundation are maintained in accordance with the principles of fund accounting.  This is the procedure 
by which resources for various purposes are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into funds 
established according to their nature and purpose.  Separate accounts are maintained for each fund in the 
general ledger.  For reporting purposes, these funds are combined into one column. 
 
The net position of the Foundation is reported in three categories as follows: 
 
Net Investment in Capital Assets - Represents funds that consist of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any revenue bonds that are attributable to and 
expended on the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets net of any related unspent debt 
proceeds. 
 



 

-17- 
 

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC. 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020 

 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
  Fund Accounting (Continued): 

 
Unrestricted - Represents funds that are available without restriction for carrying out the Foundation’s 
objectives. 
 
Restricted - Restricted net position represents net position that is restricted by constraints placed on the 
use of resources either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of 
other governments or imposed by law through enabling legislation.  Restricted funds include: 
 

Expendable: Represents funds that are subject to donor, grantor or other outside party restrictions to 
use for the benefit of various programs at the University and includes the expendable portion of 
endowment funds.  These programs include endowed chairs and professorships, research funding and 
student scholarships. 
 
Nonexpendable: Represents the nonexpendable portion (corpus) of endowment funds that are subject 
to donor, grantor, or other outside party restrictions for the benefit of various programs at the 
University.  These programs include endowed chairs, professorships, and student scholarships.  The 
corpus of the permanent endowments is retained and reported in nonexpendable endowments, while 
the net earnings or losses on endowment funds are included in expendable funds available for 
expenditure. 

 
As a general practice, the Foundation applies restricted resources when an expense relating to the purpose 
restriction imposed by the outside party is incurred before unrestricted resources are used. 
 

  Operating and Nonoperating Activities:  
 
Operating revenues and expenses represent ongoing activities of the Foundation, as well as ongoing 
activities that are in support of the University’s programs.  Operating activities relate to the Foundation’s 
principal function, which is to solicit, receive, hold, invest and administer charitable contributions for the 
benefit of the University.  Operating revenues also include rental revenue from student housing facilities.  
Nonoperating revenues include certain revenue sources that provide additional funding not included in 
operating revenues and include University related support and endowment contributions. 
 

  Cash and Cash Equivalents: 
 
The amount reported as cash and cash equivalents consists of cash on hand and cash in demand accounts.  
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
  Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued): 

 
For the purpose of reporting cash flows, the Foundation considers all highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.   
 
Noncurrent cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2021 and 2020, include cash that is restricted or is not 
expected to be used during the Foundation’s next fiscal year. 
 

  Restricted Cash Reserves: 
 
Restricted cash reserves represent funds held by bond trustees for construction of on-campus housing, debt 
service, and maintenance of reserves required under the bond indentures.   
 

  Investments: 
 
The Foundation has created various pools for the investment of funds on a consolidated basis.  All 
investments are reported at fair value.  Investments with maturities less than 12 months and investments 
placed with the State Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (“SPIA”) are classified as current 
investments. These current investments were created to provide liquidity and be a source of funds to meet 
planned or anticipated expenses for current operations. Investments classified as noncurrent primarily 
represent the corpus of donor restricted contributions and amounts subject to other internal designations 
by the Board of Directors and management as well as investments not expected to be used during the next 
fiscal year. 
 
Investments placed with SPIA include accounts for Foundation operations, as well as accounts restricted 
for housing operations. SPIA has established a minimum balance for each account.  Each SPIA participant 
is required to give six months’ notice for all withdrawals below the floor, which is calculated as sixty 
percent of the previous three months’ average daily balance.  
 
Investment income includes interest, dividends, realized and unrealized gains or losses.  
 

  Contributions Receivable: 
 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 33. Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange 
Transactions, all non-endowed pledges that have met all eligibility requirements that are verifiable, 
probable, and measurable are recorded at their estimated realizable value on a discounted basis. An 
allowance for uncollectible contribution receivables is estimated and recorded based on management’s 
judgment of the collectability in future years. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
  Capital Assets: 

 
Capital assets consists of office equipment, property held for lease, future use, or sale, and works of art.  
Purchased assets are recorded at cost, while donated assets are recorded at fair market value at the date of 
donation.  Where a contributed asset has an uncertain fair market value due to deed restrictions, the 
Foundation records no value for the property.  The Foundation has a capitalization threshold of $20,000.  
Depreciation is allocated over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets on a straight-line basis as 
follows: 
 

Property and improvements      
Equipment and software       

7 - 45
3 - 10

Years   

 
 
The Foundation capitalizes interest costs on borrowing incurred during the construction of qualifying 
assets.  The capitalized interest is amortized over the life of the borrowing.   
 

  Split-Interest Agreements: 
 
The Foundation serves as trustee for split-interest agreements classified as charitable gift annuities and 
charitable remainder unitrust.  Assets received under charitable gift annuities and charitable remainder 
unitrust are recorded at fair market value and the liabilities to make future payments under these 
agreements are recorded at present value, with the difference reported as deferred inflows of resources.  
These assets and liabilities are adjusted to reflect changes in their fair market value and present value.  The 
determination of the present value of liabilities under charitable gift annuities and charitable remainder 
unitrust are based on discount rates and mortality tables established by the Internal Revenue Code and 
Regulations.  The Foundation is a charitable recipient of a charitable lead trust.  Assets received under the 
charitable lead trust are recorded at fair market value, with changes recorded as deferred inflows of 
resources.  The determination of the future values is discounted in the same manner as contribution 
receivables based on the prevailing five-year Treasury constant maturities. 
 

  Deferred Inflows of Resources: 
 
The Foundation reports increases in net position that relate to future periods as deferred inflows of 
resources in a separate section of the statement of net position.  Deferred inflows of resources relate to 
split-interest agreements. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
  Revenue Recognition: 

 
Contributions of cash, investments securities or pledges receivable are recognized at fair value when all 
eligibility requirements have been met and are recognized when funds are received.  Property and 
equipment donated to the Foundation are recorded at their estimated values at the dates of donation.  
Donated services are not recognized by the Foundation.  Conditional promises to give are not recognized 
until the condition has been met.  Additions to endowments and other trusts are not recognized until the 
resources are received and all eligibility requirements have been met. 
 
Each state university board of trustees is authorized to permit the use of property, facilities, and personal 
services at any state university by any university direct support organization per Section 1004.28, Florida 
Statutes.  Administrative and fiscal services, office space, and other miscellaneous support services are 
provided to university direct support organizations by the University.  As discussed in Note 6, the 
Foundation records the University’s support as contributed services on the statement of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in net position.   
 

  Bond Discounts and Premiums: 
 
Bond discounts and premiums are amortized over the terms of the bonds using the straight-line method 
since the difference between this method and the effective interest method is not material to the financial 
statements.  Bond discounts and premiums are presented as an adjustment to the face amount of bonds 
payable.   
 

  Compensated Absences: 
 
Employees of the Foundation are entitled to paid vacation and sick days depending on job classification, 
length of service and other factors.  Upon termination of employment, an employee will be paid for 
accumulated annual leave.  In addition, an employee with ten or more years of service may be paid for a 
portion of their accumulated sick leave. 
 
At June 30, 2021 and 2020, accrued compensated absences totaling $548,535 and $416,531 were reported 
as a component of accrued expenses in the accompanying financial statements. 
 

  Other Program Services: 
 
Other program services consist of expenditures to support the objectives of the University and/or its 
various colleges and departments. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
  Income Taxes: 

 
The Foundation is a nonprofit organization exempt from federal income tax under Section 501 (c) (3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code.  However, income from certain investment activities not directly related to the 
Foundation’s tax-exempt purpose is subject to taxation as unrelated business income.   
 
In addition, the Foundation qualifies for the charitable contribution deduction under Section 
170(b)(1)(A)(vi) and has been classified as an organization other than a private foundation under 
Section 509(a)(1). 
 

  Use of Estimates: 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates that affect certain reported amounts and 
disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

  Retirement Plan and Other Post-Employment Healthcare Benefits: 
 
As discussed in more detail in Note 10, Foundation employees may elect to participate in the Florida 
Retirement System consisting of a defined benefit plan; the Deferred Retirement Option Program, an 
alternative method for retirement payment; and the Public Employee Optional Retirement Program, a 
defined contribution plan.  These plans have vesting and service requirements.  Certain eligible faculty 
and administrators may also elect to participate in the Optional Retirement Program, a defined 
contribution plan which provides full and immediate vesting of contributions.  Certain key University 
personnel participate in a money-purchase retirement savings plan with specific vesting schedules.   
 
As required by Section 112.0804, Florida Statutes, retirees and their eligible dependents are provided the 
same health care coverage as is offered to active employees at the same premium cost (borne by the 
retiree) applicable to active employees.  The University allows retirees to participate in the plan at reduced 
or blended group rates.   These rates may provide an implicit subsidy for retirees because, on an actuarial 
basis, their current and future claims are expected to result in higher costs to the plan on average than 
those of active employees.  
 
Since all employees who work for the Foundation are employees of the University, the liabilities for 
pensions and other post-employment benefits is reported by the University and not reflected on the 
Foundation’s financial statements. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
  Reclassifications: 

 
Certain accounts in the 2020 financial statements have been reclassified for comparative purposes to 
conform with the presentation in the 2021 financial statements.  SPIA funds presented as cash reserves 
and cash and cash equivalents in 2020 were reclassified to investments in 2021. 
 
 

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 

  Cash and Cash Equivalents: 
 
At June 30, 2021 and 2020, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents consisting of bank demand accounts 
were as follows:  
 

Foundation cash on deposit $ 3,942,058 $ 1,748,363
Housing cash on deposit 467,196 242,347

$ 4,409,254     $ 1,990,710    

20202021

 
 
At June 30, 2021 and 2020, restricted cash and cash equivalents were as follows:  
 

Pensacola Museum of Art $ 25,518          $ -               
Housing operating reserves 976,449        923,192       
Housing replacement reserves 453,350        456,836       
Housing bond service accounts       55                 5,443           

$ 1,455,372     $ 1,385,471    

2021 2020
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits: 

 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of a depository financial institution’s failure, 
the Foundation’s deposits may not be returned to it.  It is the Foundation’s policy to monitor deposits on 
account to avoid deposits that are not covered by depository insurance or are uncollateralized.  The 
Foundation’s cash balances held at financial institutions are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (“FDIC”) up to certain limits.  At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Foundation’s uninsured cash 
balance at financial institutions totaled approximately $697,000 and $524,000, respectively.   
 
Additional financial instruments that potentially subject the Foundation to custodial credit risk consist of 
cash deposits at brokerage firms.  These accounts are not insured by the FDIC.  At June 30, 2021 and 
2020, the Foundation maintained cash and cash equivalent balances at these institutions totaling 
approximately $5,026,000 and $2,331,000, respectively. 
 
Management monitors the soundness of the financial institutions and does not believe the Foundation is 
exposed to any significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents. 
 

  Investments: 
 
The Foundation has an investment policy which provides guidelines for the investments of Foundation 
assets.  The purpose of these assets is to further the overall mission of the University.  The objectives of 
the assets are the enhancement of capital and real purchasing power while limiting exposure to risk of 
loss.  Real purchasing power of real rate of return will be defined as returns in excess of inflation as 
defined by Consumer Price Index.  The investment policy provides information on authorized asset 
classes, target allocations and ranges of acceptable investment categories.   
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Investments (Continued): 

 
Investments are carried at fair value and consist of the following: 
 

June 30, 2021:
Certificates of deposit $ 511,408       $ 511,408        $ -               
Equity securities - 

Common stock and mutual funds 44,002,385  76,583,322   32,580,937  
Debt securities        20,343,376  21,504,895   1,161,519    
External investment pool -           

SPIA 6,466,210    6,362,752     (103,458)      
Alternative investments - 

Fund of fund hedge funds 6,660,500    8,953,462     2,292,962    
Private equity investments 7,978,966    8,371,283     392,317       
Real estate investment trust 3,981,961    4,313,311     331,350       

Total investments $ 89,944,806  $ 126,600,433 $ 36,655,627  

June 30, 2020:
Certificates of deposit $ 415,953       $ 415,953        $ -               
Equity securities - 

Common stock and mutual funds 50,351,522  60,545,211   10,193,689  
External investment pool -           

SPIA 7,677,940    7,677,940     -               
Debt securities     16,701,208  17,139,174   437,966       
Alternative investments - 

Fund of fund hedge funds 6,660,500    7,947,135     1,286,635    
Private equity investments 5,354,012    5,528,091     174,079       
Real estate investment trust 2,567,279    2,679,222     111,943       

Total investments $ 89,728,414  $ 101,932,726 $ 12,204,312  

Unrealized
Cost Fair Value Gain (Loss)

 
 
Wells Fargo is the custodian for the Foundation’s equity securities, debt securities and fund of fund hedge 
funds. 
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Investments (Continued): 

 
As further discussed in Note 6, on July 1, 2016, the Foundation entered into a cash and securities 
agreement with the Pensacola Museum of Art (“PMA”) for the furtherance of the PMA mission.  The 
Foundation acts as a manager of PMA’s certificates of deposit and mutual funds which are included in the 
Foundation’s investment balance.  These investments are kept separate from the Foundation’s investment 
pool.  Balances at June 30 were as follows:   
 

Certificates of deposit   $ 511,408 $ 415,953
Mutual funds     158,828 120,034

$ 670,236        $ 535,987       

2021 2020

 
 
At June 30, 2021 and 2020, housing maintained contingency and improvement reserves of $3,305,675 and 
$5,464,922, respectively.  
 
At June 30, 2021, and 2020, the fair market value of all endowed investments was at a level above the 
minimum required by donor stipulations, totaling $31,322,328 and $8,833,193, respectively.  There were 
no deficient individual donor-restricted endowment funds, where the fair value of the investments at 
June 30, 2021 and 2020, was less than the level required by the donor stipulations.  See Note 9 for further 
discussion of endowments. 
 
The net return on investments was as follows: 
 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 - 
Dividends and interest $ 2,376            $ 962,680       
Net realized gain on investments 8,319            3,401,358    
Unrealized gain on investments 1,182,343     22,995,009

Total return on investments $ 1,193,038     $ 27,359,047  

Year Ended June 30, 2020 - 
Dividends and interest $ 3,677            $ 1,497,773    
Net realized gain on investments 8,547            3,489,631
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 1,115,654     (5,051,730)   

Total return on investments $ 1,127,878     $ (64,326)        

Total
Unrestricted Expendable

Total
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Custodial Credit Risk - Investments: 

 
Custodial risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the 
Foundation will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in 
possession of an outside party.  It is the Foundation's policy to require that all securities be held by the 
Foundation's agent in the Foundation's name.  The Foundation's investments as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, 
excluding mutual funds, alternative investments, and the external investment pool are uninsured and 
registered with securities held by the Foundation's agent in the Foundation's name.  Mutual funds and 
alternative investments do not have specific securities, are uninsured and are held in the book entry form.  
The external investment pool consists of the Foundation’s pro-rata ownership in the pool itself, not in the 
underlying securities.  The pool is invested in a combination of short-term liquid instruments and 
intermediate term fixed income securities and is uninsured. 
 

  Concentration of Credit Risk: 
 
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of an entity’s investment in a 
single issuer.  The Foundation’s investment policy requires diversification of investments sufficient to 
reduce the potential of a single security, single sector of securities, or single investment manager having a 
disproportionate or significant impact on the portfolio.  Guidelines for individual sectors of the portfolio 
further indicate percentage limitations. 
 
Disclosure of any issuer of investments that in the aggregate is 5% or more of the portfolio is required to 
be disclosed as a concentration of credit risk (investments issued by or explicitly guaranteed by the US 
Government and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools and other pooled investments are 
exempt).  As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, there were no concentrations of credit risk.  
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Credit Risk: 

 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  
At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the credit quality ratings of the Foundation’s debt securities were as follows: 
 

Standard and Poor's Credit Rating

AAA $ 8,992,230     $ 6,070,372    
AA 1,145,374     788,417       

         A          3,140,800     3,082,487    
BBB 3,749,826     3,540,233    
BB 3,463,338     2,871,435    
B 518,918        610,550       

Below B 107,336        73,646         
Unrated 387,073        102,034       

$ 21,504,895   $ 17,139,174  

2021 2020

 
 
As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the external investment pool was rated at AA-f by Standard and Poor’s. 
 
Alternative investments consist of funds that may include underlying securities including equities, fixed 
income, real estate, and other types of investments.  The schedule above only reflects the credit risk 
related to debt securities that are directly held by the Foundation. 
 

  Interest Rate Risk: 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment.  The Foundation’s policy for managing its exposure to fair value loss occurring from interest 
rate risk is through maintaining diversification of its investments and investment maturities so as to 
minimize the impact of downturns in the market as stated above.  
 
As of June 30, 2021, the Foundation’s debt securities had the following weighted average maturities: 
 

$ 21,504,895  $ 9,372,172     $ 12,132,723  

Less than
Fair Value 1 year  1-5 years

Total
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Interest Rate Risk (Continued): 

 
As of June 30, 2020, the Foundation’s debt securities had the following weighted average maturities: 
 

$ 17,139,174  $ 5,393,022     $ 11,746,152  

Fair Value
Less than

1 year  1-5 years
Total

 
 
As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the external investment pool has an effective duration of 2.60 and 0.43 
years, respectively. 
 
Alternative investments consist of funds that may include underlying securities including equities, fixed 
income, real estate, and other types of investments.  The schedule above only reflects the interest rate risk 
related to debt and equity securities that are directly held by the Foundation. 
 

  Foreign Currency Risk: 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign 
currencies could adversely affect an investment's fair value. It is the Foundation’s policy to limit its 
exposure to foreign currency risk by limiting the asset allocation in international investments in 
accordance with the established targets in the approved investment policy.  As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, 
the Foundation did not have any direct investments subject to this risk.  As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the 
Foundation's assets were held in U.S. currency.  The currency risk on international and global assets is 
absorbed by the underlying investments managers. 
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements: 

 
The Foundation utilizes various methods to measure fair value of its assets and liabilities on a recurring 
basis.  U.S. GAAP establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to valuation methods.  The three levels of 
hierarchy are:  
 

Level 1:  Unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2:  Observable inputs other than quoted market prices and can include active markets and 
markets not considered to be active.   
 
Level 3:  Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity. 

 
The availability of observable inputs can vary from security to security and is affected by a wide variety of 
factors, including, for example, the type of security, whether the security is new and not yet established in 
the marketplace, the liquidity of markets, and other characteristics particular to the security.  To the extent 
the valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the 
determination of fair value requires more judgment.  Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised in 
determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized in Level 3. 
 
The inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy.  In such 
cases, for disclosure purposes, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value 
measurement falls in its entirety, is determined based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety.  The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not 
necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in those securities.  Changes in valuation 
techniques may result in transfers in or out of an investment’s assigned level as described above.  
 
The inputs used to measure the fair value of contributions receivable are categorized as Level 3.   
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
The fair value of the Foundation’s assets and liabilities at June 30, 2021 is as follows: 
 

Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets measured at fair value -   
Equity securities-Domestic & International $ 76,583,322   $ 75,505,518   $ 1,077,804     $ -                

Debt securities 21,504,895   15,264,600   6,240,295     -                

External investment pool       6,362,752     -                -                6,362,752     

Alternative investments:
Private equity investments 2,414,537     -                -                2,414,537     
Real estate investment trust 4,313,311     -                -                4,313,311     

Total alternative investments 6,727,848     -                -                6,727,848     

Funds held in trust by others 3,955,132     3,955,132     -                -                

Contributions receivable, net      3,967,282     -                -                3,967,282     

Total assets measured at fair value       119,101,231 94,725,250   7,318,099     17,057,882   

Assets measured at net asset value (NAV) -    
Fund of fund hedge funds  8,953,462     
Private equity investments 5,956,746     

Total assets measured at NAV       14,910,208   

Total assets 134,011,439 

Liabilities:
Funds held in trust 1,934,571     -                -                1,934,571     
Due to WFHT 1,280,023     -                1,280,023     -                

Total liabilities 3,214,594     -                1,280,023     1,934,571     

Total $ 130,796,845 $ 94,725,250   $ 6,038,076     $ 15,123,311   

Description
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
The fair value of the Foundation’s assets and liabilities at June 30, 2020 is as follows: 
 

Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets measured at fair value -   
Equity securities-Domestic & International $ 60,545,211   $ 60,545,211   $ -                $ -                

Debt securities 17,139,174   10,946,624   6,192,550     -                

External investment pool           7,677,940     -                -                7,677,940     

Alternative investments:
Private equity investments 2,175,468     -                -                2,175,468     
Real estate investment trust 2,679,222     -                -                2,679,222     

Total alternative investments 4,854,690     -                -                4,854,690     

Funds held in trust by others 3,559,423     3,559,423     -                -                

Contributions receivable, net      4,228,532     -                -                4,228,532     

Total assets measured at fair value       98,004,970   75,051,258   6,192,550     16,761,162   

Assets measured at net asset value (NAV) -    
Fund of fund hedge funds  7,947,135     
Private equity investments 3,352,623     

Total assets measured at NAV       11,299,758   

Total assets 109,304,728 

Liabilities:
Funds held in trust 2,033,988     -                -                2,033,988     
Due to WFHT 949,824        -                949,824        -                

Total liabilities 2,983,812     -                949,824        2,033,988     

Total $ 106,320,916 $ 75,051,258   $ 5,242,726     $ 14,727,174   

Description
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value for each class of asset and 
liability, measured at fair value: 
 

Equity securities - Investments in equity securities are measured at fair value using quoted market 
prices.  They are classified as Level 1 as they are traded in an active market for which closing stock 
prices are readily available.   
 
Debt securities - Investments in fixed income securities are classified as Level 1 as they trade with 
sufficient frequency and volume to enable the Foundation to obtain pricing information on an ongoing 
basis.  However, a small segment of debt security holdings is in a High Yield Commingled Fund 
where there are inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable, either directly 
or indirectly, and therefore included in Level 2.   
 
External investment pool - Investments in the Special Purpose Investment Account (“SPIA”) of the 
Florida Treasury Pool are classified as Level 3.  Participants contribute to this Treasury Pool on a 
dollar basis.  These funds are commingled, and a fair value of the pool is determined from the 
individual values of the securities.  The fair value of the securities is summed, and a total pool fair 
value is determined.  A fair value factor is calculated by dividing the pool’s total fair value by the pool 
participant’s total cash balances.  The fair value factor is the ratio used to determine the fair value of 
an individual participant’s pool balance.  At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the unaudited fair value factor 
was 0.9840 and 1.0291, respectively.  The factor is determined by an independent pricing service 
which uses quoted market prices as well as multifactor models for securities which have no quoted 
market prices.  Additional information may be found in Note 2 to the State of Florida Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”) and at the Treasury’s website, www.fltreasury.org. 
 
Alternative investments - Investments in private equity partnerships for which there is no readily 
determinable fair value is classified as Level 3 as the valuation is based on significant unobservable 
inputs. 
 

Private equity and real estate investment trust funds for which there are not readily 
determinable fair values are classified as Level 3 as the valuation is based on significant 
unobservable inputs.  Private equity real estate are partnerships formed for the purpose of 
acquiring, holding, managing and selling income producing real estate and real estate 
related assets including interest in joint venture development projects for current income, 
investment and capital appreciation over a three to five year holding period. 
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
Funds held in trust by others - Funds held in trust by others are measured at fair value using quoted 
market prices.  They are classified as Level 1 as they are traded in an active market for which closing 
stock prices are readily available.  The liabilities are classified as Level 3 as they are measured at the 
present value of the future distributions the Foundation expects to receive over the term of the 
agreements. 
 
Contributions receivable - Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected in future 
years are recorded at an estimated fair value determined using the discounted present value of 
expected cash flows.  They are classified as Level 3 as the discounts on those amounts are computed 
using a risk adjusted discount rate applicable at the time promises are received. 
 
Due to WFHT - The amount payable to WFHT is classified as Level 2 as the value correlates directly 
to the fair value of WFHT’s interest in the Foundation’s investment pool. 

 
While the Foundation believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market 
participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain 
financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. 
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
The following table presents a reconciliation of the statement of net position amounts for financial 
instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for 
the year ended June 30, 2021: 
 

Assets:

Beginning balance $ 2,175,468     $ 2,679,222     $ 7,677,940     $ 4,228,532     $ -                $ 16,761,162   

Total gains or losses:
Included in change 

in net assets 193,200        255,208        (103,458)       -                -                344,950        

Purchases, issuances, 

sales, and settlements:

Purchases 980,529        1,858,315     6,670,100     -                -                9,508,944     

Settlements (341,403)       (479,434)       (7,881,830)    -                -                (8,702,667)    

New pledges, payments, -                

write-offs, and change

in fair value:

New pledges -                -                -                366,750        -                366,750        

Payments -                -                -                (448,940)       -                (448,940)       

Write-offs -                -                -                (18,720)         -                (18,720)         

Change in fair value -                -                -                (160,340)       -                (160,340)       

Transfer out (593,257)       -                -                -                -                (593,257)       

Total assets 2,414,537     4,313,311     6,362,752     3,967,282     -                17,057,882   

Liabilities:

Beginning balance -                -                -                -                2,033,988     2,033,988     

Adjustments -                -                -                -                (520,127)       (520,127)       

Total gains or losses:

Included in change 

in net assets -                -                -                -                605,270        605,270        

Settlements -                -                -                -                (184,560)       (184,560)       

Total liabilities -                -                -                -                1,934,571     1,934,571     

Total $ 2,414,537     $ 4,313,311     $ 6,362,752     $ 3,967,282     $ (1,934,571)    $ 15,123,311   

Total

Private 

Trust by OthersEquity

Real 

Estate Receivable, netSPIA

Funds Held inContributions
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
The following table presents a reconciliation of the statement of net position amounts for financial 
instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for 
the year ended June 30, 2020: 
 

Assets:
Beginning balance $ 1,701,594     $ 3,097,625     $ 7,626,406     $ 4,050,720     $ -                $ 16,476,345   

Total gains or losses:
Included in change 

in net assets 74,944          242,897        (77,751)         -                -                240,090        
Purchases, issuances, 

sales, and 
settlements:

Purchases 540,256        217,824        7,240,341     -                -                7,998,421     
Settlements (141,326)       (879,124)       (7,111,056)    -                -                (8,131,506)    

New pledges, payments, 
Write-offs:

New pledges -                -                -                608,726        -                608,726        
Payments -                -                -                (430,914)       -                (430,914)       

Total assets 2,175,468     2,679,222     7,677,940     4,228,532     -                16,761,162   

Liabilities:
Beginning balance -                -                -                -                2,159,914     2,159,914     

Adjustments   -                -                -                -                (66,092)         (66,092)         
Total gains or losses:

Included in change 
in net assets -                -                -                -                78,119          78,119          

Purchases and
settlements:

Purchases     -                -                -                -                47,742          47,742          
Settlements -                -                -                -                (185,695)       (185,695)       

Total liabilities -               -               -               -                2,033,988     2,033,988     

Total $ 2,175,468     $ 2,679,222     $ 7,677,940     $ 4,228,532     $ (2,033,988)    $ 14,727,174   

Private Real Funds Held in
Equity Estate Trust by Others TotalSPIA

Contributions
Receivable, net
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
The following tables set forth a summary of valuation techniques and quantitative information utilized in 
determining the fair value of the Level 3 assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2021, excluding investments 
valued using the practical expedient or the NAV. 
 

Range
(weighted

Fair Value Valuation Technique(s) Unobservable Input average)

 $  369,040 Independent Appraisal Capitalization Rate 6.91%
 $  227,152 Direct Capitalization Capitalization Rate 6.26%

 $  380,044 Independent Appraisal Capitalization Rate 6.22%
 $1,118,476 Direct Capitalization Capitalization Rate 6.16%

 $  486,211 Market Transactions (a) N/A N/A

 $1,016,939 Market Transactions (a) N/A N/A
 $  527,263 Direct Capitalization Capitalization Rate 4.63%
 $  188,186 Independent Appraisal Capitalization Rate 5.25%

 $    85,279 Market Comparable 
Companies

EBITDA Multiple 
(11.4x)

7.7x - 
24.4x

 $    10,336 Cost (Recent Transaction) N/A N/A
 $    27,159 Market Comparable 

Companies
EBITDA Multiple 
(9.4x)

1.3x - 
24.26x

 $    46,409 Cost (Recent Transaction) N/A N/A
 $  393,429 Relative Value Analysis Yield to Maturity 

10.12%
7.71% - 
15.45%

Real Estate Partnership Interest

Common Securities

Common Securities

Private Equity Investments - Portfolio Advisor Credit Opportunities Fund II:

Preferred Securities   

(a) Market Transactions include related capital expenditures of a particular investment.

Debt Securities
Debt Securities

Asset or Liability Type

Real Estate Partnership Interest

Real Estate Investment Trust - Harbert VII:

Real Estate Investment Trust - Harbert V:

Real Estate Partnership Interest
Real Estate Partnership Interest

Real Estate Investment Trust - Harbert VI:
Real Estate Partnership Interest
Real Estate Partnership Interest
Real Estate Partnership Interest

Real Estate Partnership Interest
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
Range

(weighted
Fair Value Valuation Technique(s) Unobservable Input average)

 $    56,760 Cost (Recent Transaction) N/A N/A
 $    36,869 Cost (Recent Transaction) N/A N/A
 $    23,650 Cost (Recent Transaction) N/A N/A
 $  534,646 Cost (Recent Transaction) N/A N/A

 $1,200,000 Market rate approach Market interest rate  4.20%

 $6,362,752 Factor times cost 0.98%

 $3,967,282 Discounted present value Discounted present 
value of expected 
cash flows at a risk-
adjusted discount 
rate applicable at the 
time promises are 
received

N/A

 $1,934,571 Factor times Annuity Value of $1 paid 
every year 
discounted for both 
mortality and interest 
multiplied by the 
annual amount paid 
to annuitant(s)

N/A

Asset or Liability Type

Contributions receivable, net

Funds Held in Trust - Liabilities

Debt Securities
Private Equity Investments - Golub Capital Partners International:

External Investment Pool       
SPIA

Private Equity Investments - Portfolio Advisor Credit Opportunities Fund III:
Common Securities
Preferred Securities   
Limited Partnership Interest
Debt Securities

Value of $1 
contributed 

l i li d b
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
The following tables set forth a summary of valuation techniques and quantitative information utilized in 
determining the fair value of the Level 3 assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2020, excluding investments 
valued using the practical expedient or the net asset value (“NAV”). 
 

Range
(weighted

Fair Value Valuation Technique(s) Unobservable Input average)

 $      2,817 Independent Appraisal N/A N/A

 $  292,007 Independent Appraisal Capitalization Rate 7.56%
 $  179,736 Direct Capitalization Capitalization Rate 6.24%
 $    97,762 Market Transactions (a) N/A N/A

 $  403,437 Independent Appraisal Capitalization Rate 5.86%
 $1,187,323 Direct Capitalization Capitalization Rate 6.62%
 $  516,140 Market Transactions (a) N/A N/A

 $  355,346 Escrow Other (b) N/A
 $  237,911 Other N/A N/AMember or Partnership Interest

(a) Market Transactions include related capital expenditures of a particular investment.
(b) Investment is valued based on the estimated future distributions from the release of escrow.

Asset or Liability Type

Real Estate Partnership Interest

Preferred Partnership Interest
Private Equity Investments - Step Stone:

Real Estate Investment Trust - Harbert V:

Real Estate Partnership Interest
Real Estate Partnership Interest

Real Estate Partnership Interest

Real Estate Investment Trust - Harbert IV:

Real Estate Investment Trust - Harbert VI:
Real Estate Partnership Interest
Real Estate Partnership Interest
Real Estate Partnership Interest
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
Range

(weighted
Fair Value Valuation Technique(s) Unobservable Input average)

 $    95,220 Market Comparable 
p

(11.3x) 7.4x - 
 $      5,265 Cost (Recent Transaction) N/A N/A
 $    42,740 Market Comparable 

Companies
EBITDA Multiple 
(11.5x)

1.2x - 
15.6x

 $    51,862 Cost (Recent Transaction) N/A N/A
 $  527,300 Relative Value Analysis Yield to Maturity 9.1% - 

 $  859,824 Market rate approach Market interest rate  10.80%

 $4,228,532 Discounted present value Discounted present 
value of expected 
cash flows at a risk-
adjusted discount 
rate applicable at the 
time promises are 
received

N/A

 $2,033,988 Factor times Annuity Value of $1 paid 
every year 
discounted for both 
mortality and interest 
multiplied by the 
annual amount paid 
to annuitant(s)

N/A

Common Securities
Common Securities

Private Equity Investments - Portfolio Advisor Credit Opportunities Fund:

Preferred Securities   

Asset or Liability Type

Contributions receivable, net

Funds Held in Trust - Liabilities

Debt Securities
Debt Securities

Debt Securities
Private Equity Investments - Golub Capital Partners International:
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NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
  Fair Value Measurements (Continued): 

 
The following table lists investments in hedge funds and investment limited partnerships by strategy, 
excluding investments measured at fair value, as of June 30, 2021: 
 

Fund of Fund Hedge Funds:

Equity market neutral 8,953,462   -             
Quarterly to
 Semi-annual 95 Days

Private equity investments 5,956,746   6,809,639   N/A* N/A*

$ 14,910,208 $ 6,809,639   

*   These funds are in private equity structures, with no ability to be redeemed.

Redemption

Notice Period
Redemption

Value Commitments
Unfunded

Currently Eligible)
Frequency (IfNet Asset

 
 
 
The following table lists investments in hedge funds and investment limited partnerships by strategy, 
excluding investments measured at fair value, as of June 30, 2020: 
 

Fund of Fund Hedge Funds:
Equity market neutral 7,947,135   -             

Q y
 Semi-annual 95 Days

Private equity investments 3,352,623   4,824,925   N/A* N/A*

$ 11,299,758 $ 4,824,925   

*   These funds are in private equity structures, with no ability to be redeemed.

Value Commitments
Unfunded

Currently Eligible)
Frequency (IfNet Asset
Redemption

Notice Period
Redemption
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NOTE 3 - CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE 

 
As of  June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Foundation records unconditional promises to give using fair value 
adjusted for the current year-end at discount rates, ranging from 0% to 16% based on the prevailing five-
year Treasury constant maturities.  As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the fair value adjustment to 
contributions revenue was $160,340 and $-0-, respectively.  Multi-year contributions receivable are 
classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because determination of the present value of future 
cash flows is based on little or no market data and requires management to develop their own 
assumptions.  In 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers of contributions receivable into or out of Level 3. 
 
Unconditional promises to give at June 30 are due as follows: 
 

In one year or less $ 829,968       $ 454,886       
Between one and five years 2,474,849    1,967,338    
Greater than five years 851,789       1,828,163    

Total contributions receivable, gross 4,156,606    4,250,387    
Less discounts to net fair value 160,340       -               
Less allowance for doubtful accounts 28,984         21,855         

Net contributions receivable, fair value $ 3,967,282    $ 4,228,532    

Current contributions receivable, net $ 823,396       $ 454,886       
Noncurrent contributions receivable, net 3,143,886    3,773,646    

Total contributions receivable, net $ 3,967,282    $ 4,228,532    

2021 2020

 
 
Time-restricted and endowment contributions receivable (gross) not recognized in the statement of net 
position under the provisions of GASB No. 33 were $5,063,222 and $5,592,972 at June 30, 2021 and 
2020, respectively. 
 
Conditional promises to give for state matching funds from the State of Florida Major Gifts Trust Fund 
amounted to $2,438,052 at June 30, 2021 and 2020.  The funds will be forwarded to the Foundation in the 
event that future appropriations are made by the state legislature.  
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NOTE 4 - OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
Other receivables at June 30 consist of the following: 
 

Student loan fund $ 68,340 $ 68,340
Rent, less allowance of $235,154

 in 2021 and $270,367 in 2020 69,673         95,164
Insurance proceeds 909,908 -               
Other 15,695 14,442

Net other receivables $ 1,063,616    $ 177,946       

2021 2020

 
 
The Student Loan Fund, established through contributions, provides low-interest, short-term loans to 
students.  All transactions are conducted through the University’s cashiers’ office.  The Student Loan 
Program is made up of accounts receivable for loans to students, funds held at the University available for 
loans to students, and funds invested in a quasi-endowment at the Foundation.  As of June 30, 2021 and 
2020, the Foundation held $313,494 and $232,012, respectively, that was invested in a quasi-endowment.  
Earnings in the quasi-endowment are transferred to the University, as needed, to support the Student Loan 
Program. 
 
 
 
 



 

-43- 
 

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC. 
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020 

 
 
 
NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2021 was as follows: 
 

Capitals assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 3,059,483 $ -             $ -              $ -              $ 3,059,483     
Construction in progress 449,871 1,509,346  -              -              1,959,217     
Works of art and historical treasures 1,393,070 -             -              -              1,393,070     

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 4,902,424 1,509,346  -              -              6,411,770

Capitals assets being depreciated:
Property held under capital lease 77,694,666 -             (931,546)     -              76,763,120   
Timeless Tanglewood property 5,595,202 -             -              -              5,595,202     
Office equipment and software 515,872 -             -              -              515,872        
Idle property 1,191,002 -             -              -              1,191,002     

Total capital assets being    
depreciated  84,996,742  -             (931,546)     -              84,065,196   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Property held under capital lease 37,531,118  2,948,980  (441,445)     -              40,038,653   
Timeless Tanglewood property 420,572       168,230     -              -              588,802        
Office equipment and software 497,186       7,019         -              -              504,205        
Idle property 1,191,002    -             -              -              1,191,002     

Total accumulated depreciation     39,639,878  3,124,229  (441,445)     -              42,322,662   
Total capital assets being    
depreciated, net  $ 50,259,288 $ (1,614,883) $ (490,101) $ -              $ 48,154,304

Decreases Transfers
 Ending 
Balance

Beginning
Balance Increases
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NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2020 was as follows: 
 

Capitals assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 3,059,483 $ -             $ -              $ -              $ 3,059,483     
Construction in progress 449,820 51              -              -              449,871        
Works of art and historical treasures 1,393,070 -             -              -              1,393,070     

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 4,902,373 51 -              -              4,902,424

Capitals assets being depreciated:
Property held under capital lease 77,694,666 -             -              -              77,694,666   
Timeless Tanglewood property 5,595,202    -             -              -              5,595,202     
Office equipment and software 501,957 13,950       (35)              -              515,872        
Idle property 1,191,002 -             -              -              1,191,002     

Total capital assets being    
depreciated  84,982,827  13,950       (35)              -              84,996,742   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Property held under capital lease 34,534,402 2,996,716  -              -              37,531,118   
Timeless Tanglewood property 252,344       168,228     -              -              420,572        
Office equipment and software 487,948 9,238         -              -              497,186        
Idle property 1,191,002 -             -              -              1,191,002     

Total accumulated depreciation     36,465,696  3,174,182  -              -              39,639,878   
Total capital assets being    
depreciated, net  $ 53,419,504  $ (3,160,181) $ (35)              $ -              $ 50,259,288   

Beginning
Balance

 Ending 
Increases Decreases Transfers Balance

 
 
Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $3,124,229 and $3,174,182, 
respectively.   
 
Property held under capital lease represents the University’s Student Housing System, which consists of 
the following: the Villages Phase I (West) and II (East), completed in 1997 and 1999, respectively; the 
first (Martin Hall), the second (Pace Hall), and the third (Argo Hall) portions of Phase III completed in 
2000, 2001, and 2004, respectively; and the first (Heritage Hall) and the second (President’s Hall) portions 
of Phase IV completed in 2010 and 2012, respectively.  The buildings under capital lease are depreciated 
over the lease term, which is effectively 30 years, and the furniture, fixtures, and equipment are 
depreciated over their useful life of 5 - 10 years.  Amortization of property under capital lease is included 
in depreciation expense.  At June 30, 2021 and 2020, amortization of the property under capital lease 
totaled $2,955,999 and $3,005,954, respectively.  See Note 11 for further capital lease disclosure. 
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NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 

 
During fiscal year 2021, Hurricane Sally hit landfall in our area and damaged the roofs of five out of the 
six buildings held under capital lease. These roofs were written off and buildings held under capital lease 
decreased by $931,546. The accumulated depreciation related to these buildings held under capital lease 
also decreased by $441,445, resulting in a loss of $490,101. The State of Florida insurance proceeds, 
further explained in Note 6, will cover the roof replacement. As of June 30, 2021, the roofs were not 
complete and were included in construction in progress. 
 
Timeless Tanglewood property represents a portion of an estate that was gifted to the Foundation in 2018 
which consists of a building and furniture and fixtures. The remaining gift is included in land and works of 
art and historical treasures, stated above. This estate is recognized as the UWF President's Club at 
Timeless Tanglewood and will be used to host related events. 
 
The Foundation routinely evaluates the carrying value of its long-lived assets.  The Foundation records 
impairment losses on long-term assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of the assets may not be recoverable.  If such assets are considered to be impaired, the charge to 
operations is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of 
the assets.  Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less 
costs to sell.   
 
During the year ended June 30, 2016, management decided to take the Southside units, which are part of 
the University’s student housing system, offline.  This action was compliant with the covenants in Section 
5.14 of all the bond agreements, which allow housing facilities to be abandoned, sold, converted, razed or 
removed in the event that the facilities are found to be not capable of producing positive net revenues.  
Management had been considering this action as a portion of these units have been taken offline over the 
past few years.  The Southside units, originally constructed in the 1960’s, are the oldest units and 
maintenance costs have increased each year.  It was economically unfeasible to continue to operate these 
units in their current capacity.  In September 2018, the Foundation transferred six of the fifteen units to the 
University for non-housing use resulting in a loss on transfer of $300,277.  During fiscal year 2019, 
management determined the remaining nine South Side Housing units to be materially and permanently 
impaired for housing use with a fair market value of zero.  These remaining units are considered idle 
property, with a net carrying value of zero.  
 
 

NOTE 6 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Foundation and the University jointly determined an amount for the 
Foundation to deposit with the University to be used to manage and pay expenses for the Foundation’s 
operations.  Payroll, other University departments, and program expenses that are funded from the 
Foundation are paid through the University utilizing these funds.  At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the cash 
balances held by the University were $3,055,079 and $353,218, respectively, and were included in due 
from University. 
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NOTE 6 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
In March of 2013, the Foundation entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the University of 
West Florida Historic Trust (“WFHT”), another DSO of the University, where WFHT may transfer 
current cash assets to the Foundation to invest on their behalf.  These funds are invested as a Quasi-
Endowment with the Foundation and will be part of the overall investment pool subject to spending and 
investment policies of the Foundation as agreed to in the memorandum.  Funds invested by WFHT in the 
Foundation’s investment pool totaled $1,280,023 and $949,824 at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, 
and are included in due to WFHT. 
 
On July 1, 2016, the assets of Pensacola Museum of Art (“PMA”), an independent not-for-profit 
corporation, became part of the University.  On that date, the Foundation was gifted a historic building, 
land, a fine arts collection, furniture and equipment, cash and cash equivalents, a permanent endowment, 
and other current assets from the dissolving entity totaling approximately $4.2 million.  The historic 
building and land were transferred to the University and the fine arts collection, furniture and equipment, 
and all other assets were transferred to WFHT, with the exception of the permanent endowment and cash 
and cash equivalents.  On July 1, 2016, the Foundation entered into a cash and securities agreement with 
PMA for the furtherance of the PMA mission, as discussed in Note 2.  As such, the permanent endowment 
and cash and cash equivalents remained with the Foundation, which stewards the endowment on behalf of 
PMA.   
 
As a direct support organization, the Foundation received support from the University in performance of 
its mission.  Salaries and benefits of University employees providing such support total approximately 
$723,000 and $770,000 in 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are included in general and administrative 
expenses.  The University also provides centralized payroll processing and IT support that the Foundation 
estimates as immaterial to these financial statements. 
 
As of June 30, 2021, the Foundation’s housing system recognized insurance recoveries from the State of 
Florida in the amount of $1,641,517.  These funds were transferred from the University to replace roofs 
damaged during Hurricane Sally.  The Foundation’s housing system also recorded a related loss on 
disposal of $490,101 for these damaged roofs.  This resulted in $1,151,416 of insurance recoveries, net of 
loss on disposal. 
 
Due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic, as discussed in Note 12, the Foundation’s 
housing system received financial support of $1,876,379 and $1,491,625 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
In 2021, the Foundation’s housing system received support from the University for estimated lost 
revenues.  The funding source of these lost revenues was federal stimulus monies received by the 
University under the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act (“CRRSAA”). 
This support was recognized as an increase in nonoperating revenue. In 2020, the Foundation’s housing 
system received support from the University to disburse pro-rated housing fees to students as a result of 
Spring 2020 dormitory closures.  The funding source of these refunds were federal stimulus monies 
received by the University under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES 
Act”).  Housing fees refunded to students decreased operating revenue, and the portion of housing fees 
funded by CARES Act was recognized as nonoperating revenue. 
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NOTE 7 - BONDS PAYABLE 

 
The table below presents information about revenue bonds at June 30, 2021, including a schedule of 
changes for the year then ended: 
 

Publicly issued revenue bonds:  

$28,000,000 Dormitory Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 2016A, due in annual installments of
$720,000 to $1,780,000, from June 1, 2017
through June 1, 2040 with interest ranging
from 3.375% to 5.00% due semiannually,
June 1 and December 1 $ 23,450,000 $ -              $ (1,265,000) $ 22,185,000 $ 1,325,000

Unamortized premiums 843,444      -              (42,173)       801,271      -              

Publicly issued revenue bonds payable, 
net of unamortized premiums    24,293,444 -              (1,307,173)  22,986,271 1,325,000   

Direct placement revenue bonds:   

$8,635,000 Dormitory Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 2016B, due in annual installments of
$618,500 to $830,500, from June 1, 2017
through June 1, 2028 with an interest rate of
2.75% due semiannually,  June 1 and December 1 6,060,500 -              (688,000) 5,372,500   705,000

$13,683,344 Dormitory Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 2016C, due in annual installments of
$731,544 to $1,120,171, from June 1, 2017
through June 1, 2031 with an interest rate of
3.10% due semiannually, June 1
and December 1 10,623,736 -              (827,073)     9,796,663   848,587      

Direct placement revenue bonds payable     16,684,236 -              (1,515,073)  15,169,163 1,553,587   

Total bonds payable, net of unamortized
premiums   $ 40,977,680 $ -              $ (2,822,246)  $ 38,155,434 $ 2,878,587   

Amount
Due Within
One Year

Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions Balance

 Ending 
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NOTE 7 - BONDS PAYABLE (Continued) 

 
The table below presents information about revenue bonds at June 30, 2020, including a schedule of 
changes for the year then ended: 
 

Publicly issued revenue bonds:  

$28,000,000 Dormitory Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 2016A, due in annual installments of
$720,000 to $1,780,000, from June 1, 2017
through June 1, 2040 with interest ranging
from 3.375% to 5.00% due semiannually,
June 1 and December 1 $ 24,660,000 $ -              $ (1,210,000)  $ 23,450,000 $ 1,265,000

Unamortized premiums 885,616      -              (42,172)       843,444      -              

Publicly issued revenue bonds payable, 
net of unamortized premiums    25,545,616 -              (1,252,172)  24,293,444 1,265,000   

Direct placement revenue bonds:   

$8,635,000 Dormitory Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 2016B, due in annual installments of
$618,500 to $830,500, from June 1, 2017
through June 1, 2028 with an interest rate of
2.75% due semiannually,  June 1 and December 1 6,731,000 -              (670,500)     6,060,500   688,000

$13,683,344 Dormitory Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 2016C, due in annual installments of
$731,544 to $1,120,171, from June 1, 2017
through June 1, 2031 with an interest rate of
3.10% due semiannually, June 1
and December 1 11,423,607 -              (799,871)     10,623,736 827,073

Direct placement revenue bonds payable     18,154,607 -              (1,470,371)  16,684,236 1,515,073   

Total bonds payable, net of unamortized
premiums   $ 43,700,223 $ -              $ (2,722,543)  $ 40,977,680 $ 2,780,073   

Amount
Beginning  Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Deletions Balance One Year

 
 
Interest of $115,764 and $124,748 was accrued on the bonds as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
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NOTE 7 - BONDS PAYABLE (Continued) 

 
Maturities of the publicly issued revenue bonds are as follows: 
 

For the year ending
2022 $ 1,325,000   $ 937,731      2,262,731   
2023 1,390,000   871,481      2,261,481   
2024 1,450,000   801,981      2,251,981   
2025 1,525,000   729,481      2,254,481   
2026 1,595,000   653,231      2,248,231   

2027-2031 6,645,000   2,304,256   8,949,256   
2032-2036 4,220,000   1,351,819   5,571,819   
2037-2040 4,035,000   424,463      4,459,463   

$ 22,185,000 $ 8,074,444   $ 30,259,444 

Principal Interest Total

 
 
Maturities of the direct placement revenue bonds are as follows: 
 

For the year ending
2022 $ 1,553,587   $ 451,440      2,005,027   
2023 1,606,456   405,747      2,012,203   
2024 1,649,469   358,491      2,007,960   
2025 1,697,152   309,968      2,007,120   
2026 1,752,408   260,036      2,012,444   

2027-2031 6,910,091   568,093      7,478,184   

$ 15,169,163 $ 2,353,776   $ 17,522,939 

Principal Interest Total

 
 
These bonds are all secured by mortgages on the student housing facilities in addition to a pledge of 
revenues earned from their operation.  The bonds require the Foundation to maintain various covenants, 
including one that requires student housing room rates to be maintained at a level that provides net 
revenues at least equal to 120% of annual debt service.  The debt service ratio for the year ended June 30, 
2021  and  2020, respectively, was 164% and 121%, respectively.   
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NOTE 7 - BONDS PAYABLE (Continued) 

 
In addition, the Foundation must reserve 10% of prior year audited revenues in the Housing operating 
reserves account (separately stated in Note 2). The Foundation must also make an annual deposit of $200 
per available bed into the Housing replacement reserves account. Any remaining reserves are considered 
Housing contingency and improvement reserves, which totaled $3,305,675 and $5,464,922 at June 30, 
2021 and 2020, respectively. The Trust indenture clarifies how and in what order each reserve account can 
be utilized.  
 
The Foundation was not aware of any violations of the covenants at June 30, 2021 or 2020. 
 
The default provisions for the direct placement revenue bonds differ in the following financial attributes: 
 
Series 2016B - In the event the Series 2016B Bond is determined to be taxable by the Internal Revenue 
Service or the tax laws or regulations are amended, including, but not limited to, causing the Series 2016B 
Bond to be taxable, subject to minimum tax, alternative minimum tax, or a change in the corporate tax 
rate, the interest rate on the Series 2016B Bond can be adjusted by the holder to achieve the same after tax 
yield.  In addition, any amount due under the Series 2016B Bond not paid when due shall be subject to 
payment of a default rate equal to the interest rate on the 2016B Bond plus 2% per annum from and after 
ten (10) days after the date due. 
 
Series 2016C - In the event of a default that continues beyond any applicable cure period, the Series 
2016C Bond shall be subject to a default rate of interest equal to the then applicable rate of interest plus 
2.50% until such default has been cured, waived, or the 2016C Bond has been paid in full. 
 
 

NOTE 8 - NET POSITION 
 
Expendable net position at June 30 are available for the following purposes: 
 

Scholarships, student awards and loan funds $ 20,639,398  $ 9,600,275    
Faculty support, professorships and chairs 8,642,988    4,197,516    
Foundation reserve fund 4,062,314    10,657,886  
Programs and other 35,243,437  19,133,909  

Total expendable net position     $ 68,588,137  $ 43,589,586  

2021 2020
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NOTE 8 - NET POSITION (Continued) 

 
Nonexpendable net position consists of endowment fund assets to be held in perpetuity, with only the 
income to be expended.  The following is a summary of nonexpendable net position at June 30, 2021 and 
2020, categorized by the purpose for which the income is expendable: 
 

Scholarships, student awards and loan funds $ 34,281,843  $ 31,827,009  
Faculty support, professorships and chairs 11,763,613  11,763,613  
Programs and other 20,355,664  19,922,629  

Total nonexpendable net position      $ 66,401,120  $ 63,513,251  

2021 2020

 
 
 

NOTE 9 - ENDOWMENTS 
 
The Foundation’s endowments consisted of 316 and 307 individual funds at June 30, 2021 and 2020,  
respectively, and were established for a variety of purposes.  The endowments include both donor-
restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the governing board to function as endowments.  As 
required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, net position 
associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the governing board to function as 
endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 
 
As discussed in Note 6, the Foundation acts as a steward of PMA’s cultural endowment program.  As of 
June 30, 2021 and 2020, the endowment of $670,236 and $535,987, respectively, which excludes cash and 
cash equivalents of $179,706 and $295,064, respectively, does not follow the Foundation’s spending 
policy.  All income from the endowment will provide support to PMA’s mission.   
 
Interpretation of Relevant Law -  

 
The Foundation’s governing board with guidance from legal counsel has interpreted the Florida Uniform 
Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (“Florida UPMIFA”) as requiring the preservation of 
the fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent 
explicit donor stipulations to the contrary.   
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Funds with Deficiencies -  
 

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds 
may fall below the level that the donor or the Florida UPMIFA requires the Foundation to retain as a 
fund of perpetual duration.  In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, deficiencies of this nature are reported as a loan from unrestricted net assets.  For the 
period ending June 30, 2021 and 2020, the amount of the loan was $1,804 and $114,441, respectively.   
The loan considers donor-restricted endowments where the fair value of the investments was less than 
donor stipulations plus amounts available for spending.  These deficiencies resulted from unfavorable 
market fluctuations and continued appropriation for certain programs that was deemed prudent by the 
governing board. 

 
Return Objectives and Risk Parameters -  
 

The Foundation’s governing board has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets 
that attempt to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowments while 
seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets.  Endowment assets are invested in a 
manner that is intended to produce the desired minimum rate of return which is equal to the Consumer 
Price Index (“CPI”) plus 400 basis points (4%) for spending, plus an amount for the operating budget on 
an annualized basis. 
 
The Foundation’s investment committee recognizes that prudent investing requires taking reasonable 
risks in order to raise the likelihood of achieving the targeted investment returns.  Research has 
demonstrated that portfolio risk is best minimized through diversification of assets.  The portfolio of 
funds is structured to maintain prudent levels of diversification.  In terms of relative risk, the volatility of 
the portfolio is expected to be in line with general market conditions. 

 
Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives -  
 

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Foundation relies on a total return strategy in which 
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current 
yield (interest and dividends).  The Foundation targets a diversified asset allocation that places a greater 
emphasis on equity-based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk 
constraints. 
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NOTE 9 - ENDOWMENTS (Continued) 

 
Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy -  

 
The Foundation’s spending rate is calculated on a three-year average of the market value of the 
endowments as of June 30.  Spending is awarded for endowments greater than $25,000 after a one year 
waiting period.  The approved spending rate was 4.00% for fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.  
 
The Foundation strives to balance the donor’s desire to fund current program, faculty, and scholarship 
needs with the commitment to preserve over time the donor’s gifts to the endowment corpus. The 
Foundation takes seriously its responsibility to provide prudent fiduciary management.  Despite utilizing 
a well-diversified investment portfolio strategy and the best good faith efforts of its governing board, 
there will be times when the fair market value of an endowment may fall below the endowment corpus 
value creating underwater endowments.  In the event an endowment falls underwater, the Foundation 
will use a step-down spending allocation method to slow the spending from the endowment.  The intent 
of this policy is to attempt to continue to provide spending to support the scholarships, programs, and 
faculty as designated by the donor and within the limits of Florida laws, while also allowing the 
endowment to recover more quickly from economic downturns. 
 
The Foundation’s operating budget has generally been two percent (2%) of the three-year average of the 
market value of the investment portfolio.  To accommodate both the needs of the university and keeping 
with the goal of managing the endowment portfolio for the long term the governing board has fixed the 
amount at a rate of 1.75% effective fiscal year 2020.    
 

Changes in balances for donor and board restricted endowments by net position class as of June 30, 2021 
are as follows: 
 

Endowment Balance, July 1, 2020 $ 1,393,449   $ 9,728,362   $ 63,513,251   $ 74,635,062   
Restricted contributions       -              38,141        2,859,382     2,897,523     
Investment income 78,907        4,326,209   -                4,405,116     
Net appreciation 437,690      23,002,849 -                23,440,539   
Other changes (30,599)       (1,774,460)  28,487          (1,776,572)    
Amounts appropriated for expenditures -              (3,088,323)  -                (3,088,323)    

Endowment Balance, June 30, 2021 $ 1,879,447   $ 32,232,778 $ 66,401,120   $ 100,513,345 

TotalUnrestricted Expendable Nonexpendable
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NOTE 9 - ENDOWMENTS (Continued) 

 
Changes in balances for donor and board restricted endowments by net position class as of June 30, 2020 
are as follows: 
 

Endowment Balance, July 1, 2019 $ 1,626,333   $ 14,092,082 $ 60,680,892   $ 76,399,307   
Restricted contributions       -              35,325        2,872,359     2,907,684     
Investment income 95,457        4,953,737   -                5,049,194     
Net depreciation      (100,950)     (5,036,624)  -                (5,137,574)    
Other changes (27,391)       (1,364,529)  (40,000)         (1,431,920)    
Amounts appropriated for expenditures (200,000)     (2,951,629)  -                (3,151,629)    

Endowment Balance, June 30, 2020 $ 1,393,449   $ 9,728,362   $ 63,513,251   $ 74,635,062   

Unrestricted NonexpendableExpendable Total

 
 
The earnings from investments, and expenditures from those earnings, related to nonexpendable balances 
for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are classified as expendable balances. 
 
As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, $2,488,110 and $1,919,018, respectively, of net assets have been 
designated as quasi-endowment funds to support the missions of the University.  The quasi-endowments 
resulting from internal designations are classified as unrestricted net position.  The quasi-endowments 
resulting from donor designations are classified as expendable net position. 
 
 

NOTE 10 - RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
Certain Foundation employees working in regularly established positions of the University are covered by 
the Florida Retirement System (“FRS”), a State-administered cost-sharing, multiple-employer, public 
employee defined benefit retirement plan (“Plan”).  The Plan provisions are established by Chapters 121 
and 122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and FRS 
Rules, Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code, wherein Plan eligibility, contributions, and benefits are 
defined and described in detail.  The FRS is a single retirement system administered by the Department of 
Management Services, Division of Retirement, and consists of two cost-sharing, multiple-employer 
retirement plans and other non-integrated programs.  These include the Plan, a Deferred Retirement 
Option Program (“DROP”), and a defined-contribution plan, referred to as the Public Employee Optional 
Retirement Program (“PEORP”).  Participating employers include all State departments, counties, district 
school boards, universities and community colleges.  Many municipalities and special districts have 
elected to be participating employers.  Essentially all regular employees of participating employers are 
eligible. 
 
Employees in the Plan vest at six years of service.  All vested members are eligible for normal retirement 
benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 years of service, which may include up to four years of credit for 
military service.   
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The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, and annual cost-of-living adjustments.  The 
University, as an employer participating in the Plan, paid an amount between 10.82% to 29.01% and 
10.00% to 27.29% for 2021 and 2020, respectively, of each individual’s salary to the retirement fund.  
Prior to July of 2011, the Plan was a non-contributory program for the employee.  During 2021 and 2020, 
employees paid an amount of 3.00% into the Plan.  Retirement expense for employees participating in this 
plan was $102,042 and $78,098 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for normal 
retirement under the plan to defer receipt of monthly benefits payments while continuing employment 
with an FRS employer.  An employer may participate in DROP for a period not to exceed 60 months after 
electing to participate.  During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly benefits are held in the 
FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest.  Retirement expense for employees participating in this plan was 
$837 and $707 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate in the 
PEORP in lieu of the FRS defined-benefit plan.  Employees already participating in the State University 
System Optional Retirement Program or the DROP are not eligible to participate in this program.  
Employer contributions are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part on the performance of 
investment funds.  The PEORP is funded by employer contributions that are based on salary and 
membership class (Regular Class, Senior Management Service Class, etc.).  Contributions are directed to 
individual member accounts, and the individual members allocate contributions and account balances 
among various approved investment choices.  Employees in PEORP vest at one year of service.  
Retirement expenses for employees participating in this plan were $43,346 and $38,147 for the years 
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
Pursuant to Section 121.35, Florida Statutes, the Florida Legislature created an Optional Retirement 
Program (“Program”) for eligible State University System faculty and administrators.  The Program is a 
defined contribution plan, which provides full and immediate vesting of all contributions submitted to the 
participating companies on behalf of the participant.  Employees in eligible positions may make an 
irrevocable election to participate in the Program rather than the Plan, and purchase retirement and death 
benefits through contracts provided by certain insurance carriers.  The employing university contributes 
on behalf of the participant an amount equal to a percentage of the participant’s gross monthly 
compensation.  The participant may contribute by salary deduction an amount not to exceed the 
percentage contributed by the University to the participant’s annuity account.  Contributions made to the 
Program for fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled $96,234 and $85,612, respectively. 
 
The University has established a qualified defined contribution plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Code”), that is a governmental plan as defined under Code Section 
414(d), to provide retirement benefits to eligible employees.  Retirement expenses paid by the Foundation 
in 2021 and 2020 for the University President participating in the plan totaled $77,935 and $92,406, 
respectively. 
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The Foundation has a sublease agreement with the Florida Board of Education of the State of Florida on 
behalf of the University for use of land and certain existing student housing facilities.  The lease requires 
the Foundation to construct additional student housing facilities and to operate the facilities as a 
consolidated housing system on behalf of the University.  
 
The Student Housing System consists of seven projects, which are the following: the Villages Phase I 
(West) and II (East), completed in 1997 and 1999, respectively; the first (Martin Hall), the second (Pace 
Hall), and the third (Argo Hall) portions of Phase III completed in 2000, 2001, and 2004, respectively; and 
the first (Heritage Hall) and the second (President’s Hall) portions of Phase IV completed in 2010 and 
2012, respectively. 
 
The terms of the sublease require the Foundation to pay the University rents of $10 per year plus variable 
rent equal to 100% of the Surplus Earnings from the Student Housing System.  Surplus Earnings represent 
cash flows after payment of the operating costs, debt service and reserves.  No variable rent was due for 
either 2021 or 2020.  The sublease agreement was signed in 1998 and ends August 31, 2038.  The 
sublease was amended September 30, 2018, in order to transfer six South Side units back to the University 
for non-housing use.  See Note 5 for further explanation regarding the South Side units. 
 
The Foundation and the University have a management operating agreement outlining the responsibilities 
of both parties for the operations of the Student Housing System.  The current agreement was signed on 
December 1, 2016, and is effective until all bonds outstanding are paid in full. 
 
The University has contracted with Apogee Telecom, Inc. to provide high-speed internet and cable to 
residence halls along with 24-hr customer support.  Under the terms of the management operating 
agreement, the Foundation assumes financial responsibility for the terms of this contract.  Fees are 
payable monthly in advance and are subject to adjustment based on bed count.  The contract, executed on 
March 6, 2020, was signed for an initial term of 72 months.  The agreement will renew for a term of 12 
months, upon written mutual agreement.  
 
The anticipated annual expenses over the term of the contract are as follows: 
 

For the fiscal year ended:

2022 371,867$      
2023 388,237$      
2024 406,847$      
2025 436,142$      
2026 456,993$      
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NOTE 12 - IMPACT OF COVID-19  

 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 to be a global 
pandemic.  During this time, the University closed its campus and dormitories.  This closure resulted in a 
decision to refund a pro-rated amount of housing fees to students no longer living on campus.  In 2021, the 
University made the decision to continue classes online and gave students with signed housing contracts 
an option to opt-out due to COVID-19 concerns.  These decisions resulted in financial support, discussed 
in Note 6. 
 
From the time of the closure through June 30, 2021, initiatives were developed to assist the students and 
local communities in need.  The Foundation raised approximately $60,000 to help support students and 
expended approximately $30,000 of those funds during fiscal year 2020.  During fiscal year 2021, the 
remaining funds raised for student support were expended entirely.  During fiscal year 2020, the 
Foundation worked closely with the Small Business Development Center (“SBDC”) to raise and expend 
money to support local businesses.  Funds raised and expended during fiscal year 2020 was approximately 
$1.2 million and $690,000, respectively.  During fiscal year 2021, the SBDC expended an additional 
$307,000.  Due to the unexpected shift in concern from COVID-19 to Hurricane Sally relief, the 
remaining balance of $203,000 was not expended.  Per donor requests, these balances were returned.  
 
The Foundation no longer anticipates adverse effects of this pandemic to be within the student housing 
system.  The Foundation’s housing system is expected to exceed occupancy goals and replenish reserves 
in the upcoming fiscal year. 
 
The Foundation has also evaluated the impact of COVID-19 on its investments and no longer believes the 
pandemic will directly and negatively impact the fair value of the Foundation’s investments.    
 
The Foundation, along with the University, is continually monitoring the potential impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on the financial statements.  The extent to which the COVID-19 
pandemic impacts the Foundation going forward will depend on numerous evolving factors, which the 
Foundation cannot reliably predict. 
 
 
 



 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 



Operating Revenues:                  
Rent                 $ 7,943,805      $ 7,756,246      
Interest                106,237         253,390         
Net unrealized and realized gain (loss) on investments       (53,750) -                 
Other                184,787 263,217         

Total revenues                8,181,079      8,272,853      

Operating Expenses:              
Salaries and wages               1,723,627      1,887,587      
Administrative and general               263,513         384,692         
Maintenance and repairs              1,667,459      1,334,912      
Insurance             197,666         192,220         
Utilities               779,380         977,627         
Interest             1,445,825      1,549,899      
Depreciation and amortization              2,955,999 3,005,954

Total operating expenses            9,033,469      9,332,891

Operating Loss (852,390)        (1,060,038)     

Nonoperating Revenues:  
University support 1,876,379 1,491,625      
Insurance proceeds net of loss on disposal  1,151,416 -                 

Total nonoperating revenues 3,027,795 1,491,625

Excess of Revenues Over Expenses                 $ 2,175,405      $ 431,587         

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC.

SCHEDULES OF STUDENT HOUSING SYSTEM REVENUES AND EXPENSES
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020

2021 2020
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Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,942,058        $ 1,748,363
Contributions receivable, net                      823,396           454,886
Other receivables, net                 84,035 82,782
Due from University                92,781 353,218
Prepaid expenses                     106,201 241,665
Investments      9,372,172        5,393,022

Total current assets         14,420,643      8,273,936

Noncurrent Assets:

Restricted cash reserves               25,518 -                   
Contributions receivable, net                      3,143,886        3,773,646        
Investments      113,922,586 91,074,782
Capital assets, net        9,458,953 9,627,183
Assets held under split interest agreements                        3,955,132        3,559,423        
Other assets                   365,537 356,927

Total noncurrent assets         130,871,612    108,391,961

Total Assets                  $ 145,292,255    $ 116,665,897    

Current Liabilities:                     

Accounts payable and accrued expenses                    $ 640,015           $ 1,005,322        

Noncurrent Liabilities:                     

Liabilities under split-interest agreements        1,934,571        2,033,988        
Due to West Florida Historic Trust 1,280,023 949,824

Total noncurrent liabilities                    3,214,594        2,983,812        

Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Split-interest agreements      1,904,789        1,409,663        

Net Position:                      

Net investment in capital assets      9,458,953        9,627,183        
Unrestricted      (4,915,353)       (5,462,920)       
Restricted -                       

Expendable                           68,588,137      43,589,586      
Nonexpendable          66,401,120      63,513,251      
Total net position       139,532,857    111,267,100    

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Net Position                      $ 145,292,255    $ 116,665,897    

2021 2020

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS AND NET POSITION

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC.
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA

SCHEDULES OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020

ASSETS

(EXCLUDING THE STUDENT HOUSING SYSTEM)
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Bad debt expense $ -                 $ 18,719      $ (35,212)          $ -                 $ -                 $ (16,493)            $ 29,506           
Bond expense                -                 -           11,825           -                 -                 11,825             11,941           
Depreciation and amortization                      -                 168,230       2,955,999          -                 -                 3,124,229        3,174,182      
Equipment               -                 17,720         7,923                 -                 1,137             26,780             130,752
Housing administrative and general              -                 0 51,988                  -                 -                 51,988             50,383           
Insurance                 -                 29,330      197,666         -                 21,826           248,822           237,151         
Interest             -                 -               1,445,825          -                 -                 1,445,825        1,549,899      
Investment and consultant fees                   -                 5,136           -                    -                 249,400.00    254,536           228,914
Lobbying                 -                 30,000         -                        -                 90,000           120,000           120,000         
Maintenance and repairs                   -                 -               1,667,459          -                 -                 1,667,459        1,334,912      
Miscellaneous            -                 436,132          -                        281                18,413           454,826           235,887         
Office               -                 174,163    52,507           138,044         60,779           425,493           471,188         
Professional development             -                 116,511    1,905             30,893           5,299             154,608           177,419         
Professional services                -                 545,755          11,000           4,043             86,506           647,304           1,229,642      
Public radio program                -                 258,774          -                 -                 -                 258,774           236,837         
Public relations             -                 58,506      -                 25,604           33,126           117,236           116,851
Recruitment                -                 1,134        -                 253                389                1,776               6,768
Rental               -                 23,269            -                 450                2,159             25,878             57,226
Salaries and wages            -                 2,102,947       1,723,627      385,304         1,484,058      5,695,936        5,367,861
Scholarships            1,649,038      -           -                 -                 -                 1,649,038        1,508,017
Service charges and other fees                   -                 63,538      116,407         5,866             (80,467)          105,344           75,893
Travel and entertainment                  -                 11,931            45,170           2,408             2,256             61,765             511,301
University support                 -                 764,434          -                     -                 -                 764,434           787,925
Utilities                 -                 -           779,380         -                 -                 779,380           977,627

$ 1,649,038      $ 4,826,229       $ 9,033,469             $ 593,146         $ 1,974,881      $ 18,076,763      $ 18,628,082    

Student Housing 2021 2020General &Other Program
TotalAdministrative

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC.
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA

SCHEDULE OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

Scholarships Services System Fundraising Total
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Name of Gift

William Craig Nystul Chair                    $ 1,210,852       $ 1,487,032       $ -               $ 555,503          $ 5,814           $ 89,495         $ 1,947,226            $ 1,210,852       $ 1,947,226       

John C. Pace, Sr., Business Chair                  1,000,000       1,223,695       -               457,129          4,785           73,646         1,602,393            1,000,000       1,602,393       

John C. Pace, Sr., Memorial Eminent Scholar               2,644,500       3,308,594       -               1,235,975       12,937         199,123       4,332,509            2,644,500       4,332,509       

John C. Pace, Jr., Distinguished University Professorship                  3,966,750       4,962,894       -               1,853,963       19,405         298,684       6,498,768            3,966,750       6,498,768       

Mary Ball Washington Chair               1,320,155       1,521,980       -               568,558          5,951           91,597         1,992,990            1,320,155       1,992,990       

Total - Eminent Scholars Program              $ 10,142,257     $ 12,504,195     $ -               $ 4,671,128       $ 48,892         $ 752,545       $ 16,373,886          $ 10,142,257     $ 16,373,886     

Earnings

Expenditures

and

Transfers

Losses , Expense

& Transfers Balance

Total

Balance

EndingEnding

Corpus

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC.

SCHEDULE OF RECEIPTS, EXPENSES AND ENDOWMENT BALANCES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Corpus Other

CHAIRS UNDER EMINENT SCHOLARS PROGRAM
A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA

Fund Balance

Beginning

Corpus

Balance Expenditures

Net

Investment

Beginning

Net

Balance

Contributed

During the

Year

Net of 
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Name of Gift

02040 - Leola S & Lawrence A Alexander, Jr. Memorial Scholarship Endowment $ 282,852          $ 298,338          $ -                 $ 111,449          $ 6,673              12,448            $ 390,666               $ -                 $ -                 $ 282,852          $ 390,666          

04150 - Alfred I. duPont Foundation, Inc. Scholarship Endowment 485,000          496,876          50,000            193,095          11,987            18,778            709,206               -                 -                 535,000          709,206          

02006 - Bank of America Scholarship Endowment II 150,000          163,341          -                 61,018            3,654              6,815              213,890               -                 -                 150,000          213,890          

02018 - Baptist Health Care Endowment 170,539          217,673          -                 81,315            4,869              9,082              285,037               -                 -                 170,539          285,037          

02005 - Banker's Endowment 166,692          222,256          -                 83,027            4,971              9,273              291,039               -                 -                 166,692          291,039          

02043 - Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Florida Endowed Nursing Scholars 155,673          158,522          -                 59,218            3,546              6,614              207,580               -                 -                 155,673          207,580          

02041 - C. L. Fountain Family Scholarship Endowment 100,000          104,843          -                 39,166            2,345              4,375              137,289               -                 -                 100,000          137,289          

02030 - Cacilda Prado Pace Library Endowment 150,346          152,076          -                 56,810            3,402              6,345              199,139               -                 -                 150,346          199,139          

02001 - Chadbourne Foundation Major Gift Scholarship Endowment 206,434          244,838          10,000            92,645            5,645              9,867              331,971               -                 -                 216,434          331,971          

02034 - Chadbourne Foundation Business Ethics Scholarship Endowment 300,000          309,449          -                 115,599          6,922              12,912            405,214               -                 -                 300,000          405,214          

02037 - Switzer Family Partnership Endowment 198,774          205,990          -                 76,951            4,608              8,595              269,738               -                 -                 198,774          269,738          

02028 - CHARLOTTE Endowment 150,000          179,870          -                 67,193            4,023              7,505              235,535               -                 -                 150,000          235,535          

02025 - Dorothy C. Martin Endowment 150,005          180,221          -                 67,324            4,031              7,520              235,994               -                 -                 150,005          235,994          

02022 - E. W. Hopkins Professorship Endowment 175,343          226,821          -                 84,732            5,074              9,464              297,015               -                 -                 175,343          297,015          

02004 - Elizabeth R. Woolf Endowment 275,412          333,208          -                 124,475          7,453              13,903            436,327               -                 -                 275,412          436,327          

02045 - Gulf Power Engineering Scholarship Endowment 152,700          155,374          -                 58,042            3,475              6,483              203,458               -                 -                 152,700          203,458          

02010 - Pat & Hal Marcus Historical Archaeology Scholarship Endowment 150,000          172,098          -                 64,290            3,850              7,181              225,357               -                 -                 150,000          225,357          

04101 - Jane G. and Fred K. Seligman Endowed Scholarship 207,251          211,054          -                 78,842            4,721              8,806              276,369               -                 -                 207,251          276,369          

02027 - John C. Pace, Jr. Academic Development Endowment 8,592,090       10,614,268     -                 3,965,118       237,422          442,884          13,899,080          -                 -                 8,592,090       13,899,080     

02008 - John C. Pace, Jr. Memorial  Endowment 7,740,835       9,632,404       -                 3,598,329       215,460          401,915          12,613,358          -                 -                 7,740,835       12,613,358     

02036 - John L. Switzer Scholarship Endowment 195,688          202,527          -                 75,657            4,530              8,451              265,203               -                 -                 195,688          265,203          

02033 - Katharine C. Pace Memorial Endowment 1,700,000       1,678,190       -                 626,913          37,538            70,023            2,197,542            -                 -                 1,700,000       2,197,542       

02032 - Kerrigan Daughters' Young Women's Scholarship Endowment 340,204          345,950          -                 129,235          7,738              14,435            453,012               -                 -                 340,204          453,012          

04069 - Abe Levin Professorship Endowment 251,906          299,016          125                 111,721          6,695              12,477            391,690               -                 -                 252,032          391,690          

04070 - Lefferts L. and Margaret M. Mabie Endowment 325,239          378,279          -                 141,312          8,461              15,770            495,360               -                 -                 325,239          495,360          

02012 - Mattie May Kelly Musical Educational Endowment 163,443          210,604          -                 78,674            4,711              8,788              275,779               -                 -                 163,443          275,779          

02039 - Maygarden Family Scholarship Endowment 164,015          171,668          805                 64,264            3,860              7,155              225,722               -                 -                 164,820          225,722          

02019 - Medical Center Clinic Endowment 164,306          202,880          -                 75,789            4,538              8,465              265,666               -                 -                 164,306          265,666          
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Name of Gift

04104 - National Defense Inst. Assoc, Gulf Coast Chptr Schp Endowment 150,000          151,275          -                 56,511            3,384              6,312              198,090               150,000          198,090         

02013 - Orville Beckford Endowment for Excellence in Business 150,050          174,815          -                 65,305            3,910              7,294              228,916               -                 -                 150,050          228,916         

02002 - Pickens Foundation For Education Endowment 162,556          198,753          -                 74,247            4,446              8,293              260,261               -                 -                 162,555          260,261         

02014 - Pre Professional Endowment 165,338          227,669          -                 85,049            5,093              9,500              298,125               -                 -                 165,338          298,125         

02015 - Raymond C. Dyson Endowment I 177,422          222,854          -                 83,250            4,985              9,299              291,820               -                 -                 177,422          291,820         

02016 - Raymond C. Dyson Endowment II 162,282          200,295          -                 74,823            4,480              8,357              262,281               -                 -                 162,282          262,281         

02035 - Rotary Club of Pensacola Scholarship Endowment 105,000          108,048          -                 40,363            2,417              4,508              141,486               -                 -                 105,000          141,486         

02020 - Sacred Heart Allied Health Endowment 163,947          213,820          20                   79,876            4,784              8,922              280,010               -                 -                 163,967          280,010         

02011 - Seymour Gitenstein Endowment 200,000          166,485          -                 62,193            3,724              13,994            210,960               -                 -                 200,000          210,960         

02038 - Switzer Brothers' Professorship Endowment 581,859          600,272          -                 224,241          13,427            25,046            786,040               -                 -                 581,859          786,040         

02052 - T. T. Wentworth, Jr. Historical Foundation Museum Curator Endowment 151,240          144,478          -                 53,972            3,232              5,985              189,233               -                 -                 151,240          189,233         

02047 - Smart Chemistry Seminar Series Endowment 161,579          159,209          -                 59,475            3,561              6,643              208,480               -                 -                 161,579          208,480         

02007 - Women's Athletic Trust Scholarship Endowment 169,029          204,988          560                 76,683            4,611              8,540              269,080               -                 -                 169,590          269,080         

Total                   $ 25,765,049     $ 30,541,595     $ 61,510            $ 11,418,191     $ 684,256          $ 1,279,022       $ 40,058,018          $ -                 $ -                 $ 25,826,560     $ 40,058,018     

(Continued)
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COMPLIANCE SECTION 
 
 
 



State Grantor                  

Pass-through Grantor                 CSFA
State Program Title                Number

Florida Department of Education and Commissioner of Education:    

Major Gifts Program 48.074 $ 802,273           

Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles:     

University of West Florida License Plate Project 76.036 $ 29,430             

Total State Financial Assistance                  $ 831,703           

Note: This schedule is presented on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with generally accepted accounting              
 principles.  

A COMPONENT UNIT OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA

State

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC.

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Expenditures
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR  
EACH MAJOR STATE PROJECT AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY CHAPTER 10.650,  
RULES OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL 

 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
Pensacola, Florida 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major State Project 
 
We have audited the compliance of University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”) with the 
types of compliance requirements described in the Executive Office of the Governor’s State Projects 
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the Foundation’s major state project for 
the year ended June 30, 2021.  The Foundation’s major state project is identified in the summary of auditor’s 
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.   
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants 
applicable to its state project. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the Foundation’s major state project based on our 
audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable 
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States; and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General.  Those standards and Chapter 10.650, Rules 
of the Auditor General, require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and 
material effect on a major state project occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about 
the Foundation’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major state project.  
However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Foundation’s compliance. 
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Board of Directors 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
Pensacola, Florida 
 
 
Opinion on Each Major State Project 
 
In our opinion, the Foundation complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on its major state project for the year ended June 30, 2021. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
Management of the Foundation is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit of 
compliance, we considered the Foundation’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements 
that could have a direct and material effect on the major state project to determine the auditing procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for the major state 
project and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with Chapter 10.650, Rules of 
the Auditor General, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation’s internal 
control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state 
project on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that 
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state project will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a state project that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, 
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of Chapter 10.650, 
Rules of the Auditor General.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Pensacola, Florida 
October 7, 2021 
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UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
 
 
 
A.  SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS 
 

1. The independent auditor’s report expresses an unmodified opinion on the financial statements of the 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc.   
 

2. No significant deficiencies in internal control relating to the audit of the financial statements are 
reported in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards. 
 

3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of the University of West Florida 
Foundation, Inc., which would be required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards, were disclosed during the audit. 
 

4. No significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the major state project are reported in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major State Project and on Internal Control Over Compliance 
Required by Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General. 
 

5. The auditor’s report on compliance for the major state project for the University of West Florida 
Foundation, Inc. expresses an unmodified opinion. 
 

6. There are no audit findings relative to the major state project for the University of West Florida 
Foundation, Inc. which are required to be reported in accordance with Chapter 10.650, Rules of the 
Auditor General. 
 

7. The project tested as major was: 
 
University Major Gifts Program (CSFA No. 48.074) 
  

8. The threshold for distinguishing Type A and B programs was $300,000 for the major state projects. 
 
 

B.  FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 
 
There were no findings related to the financial statements which are reported in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards.    
 
 

C.  FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR STATE PROJECT 
 
None   
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UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC. 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
(Continued) 

 
 
 
D.  OTHER ISSUES 
 

No Summary Schedule of Prior Year Findings is required since the Foundation did not meet the threshold 
for a Florida Single Audit in 2020. 
 
No Corrective Action Plan is required because there were no findings required to be reported under the 
Florida Single Audit Act.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 

MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
Pensacola, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”), as 
of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and have issued our report thereon dated October 7, 2021. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States, and Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General.   
 
Other Reporting Requirements 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards, and Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major State 
Project and on Internal Control over Compliance Required by Chapter 10.650, Rules of the Auditor General. 
 
Additional Matters 
 
Section 10.654(1)(e), Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance with provisions 
of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect 
on the financial statements or State project amounts that is less than material but which warrants the attention of 
those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, we did not note any such findings. 
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Board of Directors 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
Pensacola, Florida 
 
 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing Committee, 
members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor General, Federal 
and other granting agencies, the Board of Directors, and applicable management, and is not intended to be and 
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.  
 
 
 
 
Pensacola, Florida 
October 7, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 
Board Engagement Assessment Document 

2020 - 2021 
 

1. Have you been on the UWF Foundation Board of Directors for more than one year? 
 

             YES ______     NO ______ 
 

2. Are you on a committee that suits your talents and which interest you? If not, on 
which committee would you like to serve? 

             YES ______     NO ______ 
 
Comments: _____________________________________________________________ 
 

3. Will you have more, less, or about the same amount of time to commit to Foundation 
meetings and UWF events and activities in the upcoming fiscal year, July 1, 2021 – 
June 30, 2022? 

     MORE _______     LESS _______     ABOUT THE SAME _______ 
 
Comments: ______________________________________________________________ 
 

4. Please share the names of individuals or companies you have a relationship with that 
may wish to initiate or increase their support of UWF.  
 

 

 

 
5. What is one big idea you wish to share that would have a potential positive impact on 

the Foundation? (Please use back if more space is needed) 
 
 
 

 

 
Your Name (Optional):   ___________________________________________________ 
 

(Please complete & return to Geri @ gbattist@uwf.edu by Friday, June 18th) 

mailto:gbattist@uwf.edu


Nominating Committee Charge 2021-2022 
Board member appointments and reappointments 

 
 
Each year the Nominating Committee is charged with nominating “Directors as well as the officers of 
the Foundation. All such nominations are to be advanced to the President of the Foundation thirty (30) 
days prior to the Board’s June meeting.” Pursuant to the Bylaws, “The number of Elected Directors must 
be no fewer than five (5) or more than twenty-two.” Ten are elected upon nomination of the University 
President, ten are elected by the other members of the Board of Directors, and the remaining two are 
elected upon nomination by the Alumni Association.  
 
 
Process: In accordance with the Bylaws, “the Nominating Committee shall consist of no fewer than six 
(6) Directors with the Foundation’s Immediate Past Chair acting as the Chair.  The Nominating 
Committee shall meet and nominate Directors as well as the officers of the Foundation.  All such 
nominations are to be advanced to the President of the Foundation thirty (30) days prior to the Board’s 
June meeting.”  
 
Committee members review the Board Member Position Description and consider potential names 
they would be willing to recommend for service. Staff may also provide potential names for Committee 
consideration.  Once a list of potential members is agreed upon, Nominating Committee members or 
the Foundation President will follow-up with the nominees to gage their interest in serving.  In this 
process, the potential Board members should be provided with a copy of the Board Member Position 
Description, and their interest in serving on the Board would be assessed.     
 
At the May meeting, the Nominating Committee will consider and vote on nomination(s) as to which 
names to put forward for membership at the June meeting of the full Board of Directors.  
 
 
Officer and Committee Assignments: Upon consideration of the experience, qualifications, and 
preferences of Board members, the Chair of the Foundation Board, in consultation with the President 
of the Foundation and the Foundation CFO, will make committee assignments for each year.  Officers 
are recommended by the Nominating Committee each year at the June meeting for approval by vote 
of the full Board.  
 
 
Summary of Board Composition: 
10 positions appointed by the Board 
10 positions appointed by the President 
2 positions appointed by the Alumni Association 
 
 
 
 



Officers: 
 

• Chair – Jason Crawford currently holds this position and is in his third year of his second four-
year term.  He will serve as IPC for two years and roll off the board 6/30/2024. 

• Vice Chair – James Hosman currently holds this position and was appointed by Chair Jason 
Crawford. He is in his fourth year of his second four-year term ending 6/30/22. He will move 
into the board chair position for two years, then followed by two years as IPC, rolling off 
6/30/2026. 

• Secretary – Megan Fry currently holds this position. She is in her fourth year of her first four-
year term. Megan is up eligible for reappointment to another four-year term ending 6/20/2026. 

• Treasurer – Rodney Sutton currently holds this position. He completed a two-year partial term 
6/30/21, and is now starting the first year of his first four-year term.  

• Immediate Past Chair –Gail Dorsey currently holds this position. She completed her second full 
term (four-years each term) on 6/30/21, and will complete her last year of the two-year term 
position as IPC, rolling off the Board on 06/30/22. 
 
 

Terms of office: 
 

Chair and Vice Chair – shall be two years or until a successor is chosen and qualifies.  
 
Secretary and Treasurer – shall be within the limits of the term of their appointment and is two years 
or until a successor is chosen and qualifies. 

 
 

FY 2021-2022 Appointment and Reappointments 
 

 
President Saunders has one Board position to fill.  Four Board members will be up for reappointment. 
 
Rolling off as of June 30, 2022:    Immediate Past Chair Gail Dorsey  Presidential Appointment  
 
 
Eligible for Reappointments: 
 
Connie Bookman Eligible for reappointment - Presidential   Full 4-year term (7/1/22 - 6/30/2026) 
Megan Fry  Eligible for reappointment - BOD          Full 4-year term (7/1/22 - 6/30/2026) 
John Peacock Jr. Eligible for reappointment - BOD                 Full 4-year term (7/1/22 - 6/30/2026) 
Bill Rone  Eligible for reappointment - Presidential    Full 4-year term (7/1/22 - 6/30/2026) 
 
 
   
 



UWF Foundation, Inc. Board Calendar FY21-22     
Approved by FBOD at Full Board Meeting June 9, 2021 (gsb) updated 10.29.21gsb 

Date: 2021-2022 Meeting Time Location Attendees 
     
August 31, 2021 Tuesday Investment Committee 9:30 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. 

Conducted via Zoom 
Committee Members & Requested 

August 31, 2021 Tuesday Audit / Budget Committee 2:00 p.m. – 3:15 p.m. Committee Members & Requested 
August 31, 2021 Tuesday Executive Committee 3:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. Committee Members 
     
September 15, 2021 Wed.  Board of Directors Meeting 3:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. Bowden Bldg. Classroom 1 All Board Members & Requested 
     
November 16, 2021 Tuesday Investment Committee 9:30 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. 

Bowden Bldg. Classroom 1 
120 Church St Hybrid Mtg 

– Zoom link provided 

Committee Members & Requested 
November 16, 2021 Tuesday Nominating Committee 1:00 p.m. – 1:45 p.m. Committee Members 
November 16, 2021 Tuesday Audit / Budget Committee 2:00 p.m. – 3:15 p.m. Committee Members & Requested 
November 16, 2021 Tuesday Executive Committee 3:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. Committee Members 
     
December 8, 2021 Wed. Board of Directors Meeting 3:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. Bowden Bldg. Classroom 1 All Board Members & Requested 
December 9, 2021 Thursday UWF President’s Holiday Fest 5:30 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. Downtown Historic Trust All 
December 16, 2021 Thursday Grant Committee Meeting 2:30 p.m. to 3:45 p.m. Campus, Bldg. 12/150 Committee Members & Requested 
     
February 15, 2022 Tuesday Investment Committee 9:30 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. 

Bowden Bldg. Classroom 1 
120 Church St., Pensacola 

Committee Members & Requested 
February 15, 2022 Tuesday Nominating Committee 1:00 p.m. – 1:45 p.m. Committee Members 
February 15, 2022 Tuesday Audit / Budget Committee 2:00 p.m. – 3:15 p.m. Committee Members & Requested 
February 15, 2022 Tuesday Executive Committee 3:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. Committee Members 
     

March 3, 2022 Thursday UWF Foundation Donor Dinner 
5:30 p.m. cocktails 
6:00 – 9:00 p.m. 

Sander Beach-Corinne Jones 
Resource Center 

All invited  

March 8, 2022 Tuesday Board of Directors Meeting 3:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. Bowden Bldg. Classroom 1 Committee Members & Requested 
     

March 15, 2022 Tuesday Grant Committee Meeting 10:00 a.m. – noon 
(subject to change) Campus, Bldg. 12/150 Committee Members & Requested 

     
May 17, 2022 Tuesday Investment Committee 9:30 a.m. – 12:00 p.m.  Committee Members & Requested 
May 17, 2022 Tuesday Nominating Committee 1:00 p.m. – 1:45 p.m. Bowden Bldg. Classroom 1 

120 Church St., Pensacola 
Committee Members 

May 17, 2022 Tuesday Audit / Budget Committee 2:00 p.m. – 3:15 p.m. Committee Members & Requested 
May 17, 2022 Tuesday Executive Committee 3:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. Committee Members 
     
June 15, 2022 Wednesday Board of Directors Meeting 3:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. Bowden Bldg. Classroom 1 All Board Members & Requested 

 



 

UNIVERSITY OF WEST FLORIDA FOUNDATION, INC. 

CONFLICT-OF-INTEREST POLICY 

 

1.  Scope.  The following statement of policy applies to each member of the Board of Directors 

and to all officers of the University of West Florida Foundation, Inc.  It is intended to serve as 

guidance for all persons engaged by the University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. in positions 

of significant responsibility for the activities of the Foundation. 
 

2.  Fiduciary Responsibilities.  Members of the Board of Directors and officers of the Founda-

tion serve the public trust and have a clear obligation to fulfill their responsibilities in a manner 

consistent with this ideal.  High standards, ethical behavior, personal integrity, and impartiality 

are inherent to the reputation and ultimate success of the University of West Florida Foundation, 

Inc.  All decisions of the Board and officers are to be made solely on the basis of a desire to 

promote the best interest of the Foundation, University of West Florida and the public good.  

Officers, Directors, and staff must refrain from engaging in any behavior that might be construed 

as self-dealing or in conflict with the mission, goals, and fundamental purpose of the Foundation.  

The integrity of the Foundation and University of West Florida must be protected and advanced 

at all times. 

 

Men and women of substance inevitably are involved in the affairs of other institutions and 

organizations.  An effective board cannot consist of individuals entirely free from at least per-

ceived conflicts of interest.  Although most such potential conflicts are and will be deemed to be 

inconsequential, it is everyone's responsibility to ensure that the Board is made aware of situa-

tions that involve personal, familial or business relationships that may be troublesome for the 

Foundation or University of West Florida.  Thus, the Board requires each Board member and 

officer annually (1) to review this policy; (2) to disclose any possible personal, familial or 

business relationships that reasonably could give rise to a conflict of interest involving the 

Foundation or University of West Florida; and (3) to acknowledge by his or her signature that 

he or she is in accordance with the letter and spirit of this policy. 

 
3.  Disclosure.  All Board members and officers are requested to disclose only those substantive 

relationships that they maintain (or members of their families maintain) with organizations that 

do business with the Foundation, University of West Florida or any related or affiliated 

organization, or which otherwise could be construed to potentially affect their independent, 

unbiased judgment in light of their decision-making authorities or responsibilities.  Any 

uncertainties as to the appropriateness of listing a particular relationship may be resolved by 

consultation with the President of the UWF Foundation who in turn may consult with legal 

counsel, the Executive Committee, or the Board of Directors in a special-called meeting.  

Information disclosed or provided by any person pursuant to this policy shall be held in 

confidence except when, after consultation with that person, the best interests of the Foundation 

or University of West Florida would be served by disclosure. 

 

The following definitions are provided to assist Board members and officers in determining 

whether to disclose a particular relationship: 

 



 

 

Substantive Relationship.  One in which a Board member, officer or family member, or an 

organization with which the Board member, officer or family member has a business relationship 

(1) does substantial business with the Foundation or University of West Florida or any related or 

affiliated organization or (2) has other direct or indirect dealings with the Foundation, University 

of West Florida or any related or affiliated organization from which the Board members, officer 

or family member benefits directly, indirectly or potentially from cash or property receipts 

totaling $10,000 or more annually. 

 
Business Relationship.  One in which a Board member, officer, family member is an officer, 

director, employee, partner, trustee, controlling stockholder or the actual or beneficial owner of 

more than 5 percent of the voting interest of an organization. 

 

Family Member.  A spouse, parents, siblings, children or any other relative of a Board member 

or officer if the latter resides in the same household as the Board member or officer. 

 

4.  Restraint on Participation.  Board members or officers who have declared or have been 

found to have a conflict of interest shall refrain from consideration of proposed transactions, 

unless for special reasons the Board or administration requests information or interpretation.  

Persons with conflicts shall not vote, participate in discussion or be present at the time of the 

vote.  Any proposed transaction in which a conflict of interest has been declared or found to exist 

must be approved by a majority of the disinterested members of the Board or the appropriate 

committee of the Board after disclosure of the conflict of interest. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
January 2018 (minor editorial change for clarity) 



 

University of West Florida Foundation, Inc. 

Disclosure Form 
 

Please complete this annual form & return to Geri at gbattist@uwf.edu, or mail to: 
Geri Battist, UWF Foundation, Inc., 11000 University Parkway, Building 12, Pensacola, FL 32514 
 

 
1. Have you read the University of West Florida Foundation, Inc., Conflict-Of-Interest Policy? 

 
Yes No 
 

2. Are you aware of any relationships between the Foundation, University of West Florida or 
any related or affiliated organization and you or a member of your family as defined by the 
letter or spirit of this policy that may constitute a conflict of interest? 
 

Yes No 
 

If yes, please list or elaborate such relationships and the details of annual or potential 
financial benefit as you can best estimate them. (Use back of page if necessary) 

 
 
 
 

3. Did you or a member of your family receive, during the past 12 months, any gifts or loans 
from any source from which the Foundation, University of West Florida or any related or 
affiliated organization, buys goods or services or otherwise has significant business 
dealings? 

Yes No 
  

 
If yes, please list such loans or gifts, their sources and their approximate values. 
(Use back of page if necessary) 

 
I certify that the foregoing information is true and complete to the best of my knowledge: 

 

Date:  
 

Signature 
   
Please Print Name:  ___________________________________________ 

mailto:gbattist@uwf.edu
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